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Washington, D.C. 20549
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subject to such filing requirements for the pastia@s. Yes[x] No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant liasmstted electronically and posted on its corpokateb site, if any, every Interactive
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$3.21 of the registrant’s Class A Common Stockeg®rted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, wasraxpimately $2.379 billion, which
excludes 149.2 million shares of the registrant'smmon stock held on June 30, 2014 by current exexafficers, directors, and stockholders
that the registrant has concluded are affiliatethefregistrant.

As of February 15, 2015, there were 776,566,648eshaf the registrant’s Class A common stock ontlitey, 114,567,530 shares of the
registrant’s Class B common stock outstanding an81>,472 shares of the registrant’s Class C constamok outstanding.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardldimg statements. In some cases you can idengfsetistatements by forward-

looking words such as “believe,
outlook,

“plan,

” o« ” i, ” o ” o« ” o« ”ou [INTH

may,” “will,” “ngiht,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intenti“could,” “should,” “would,” “project,”
expect,” or similar gpressions, or the negative or plural of these wardexpressions. These forward-looking

LT " ou

target,

statements include, but are not limited to, statgmeoncerning the following:

our future spend, including spend on R&D and mankeand our future margin
our future operational plans, use of cash, strateghd prospect

the breadth and depth of our games slate for 28d5he success of this slate, including as it esléd the investment in this slate in
2014 and the first half of 201

our ability to grow mobile bookings in 201
the closure of our China studi
our ability to execute against our strategy andsdelong term value to our shareholders, employeesplayers

our ability to accurately forecast our upcoming gdaunches and bookings and revenue related tanipgaggame launches and the
performance of our existing gami

our relationship and/or agreements with key liceggiartners, additional platform providers or attyeo key partners

our ability to launch and monetize successful namegs and features for web and mobile in a timelgmeaand the success of th
games and feature

the process of integrating NaturalMotion Limite@'slaturalMotion’s”) operations into our operatioris¢luding but not limited to
our expected ability to expand our creative pipgliaccelerate our growth on mobile and deliveNaituralMotion games in 201

our ability to sustain and expand key games toasusind grow audiences, bookings and engagemehiding our top franchises:
Casino, Words With Friends, FarmVille, RacandPeople Simulatioy;

the effectiveness of our marketing program andkities and our ability to obtain game featuringnfrpartners

our entry into, or expanded game offerings in ngargreen content categories, the evergreen and eotrahpotential of these
categories, the timely launch of our games in tlrasegories and the success of these ge

our relationship with Facebook, changes in the Bagk platform and/or changes in our agreement Rétbebook

our relationship with Apple, Google and other Andrplatform providers, changes to the Android oBifflatforms and /or changes
in our agreements with Apple, Google and/or othedrbid platform providers

our ability to renew our existing brand, technol@md content licenses as they expire and securdicevges for top brand

our ability to attract and retain key employeesght of business challenges, including employessto franchise games and
planned launches and senior managen

the impact of our new hires on our organization atigr changes in personnel and ro

our ability to efficiently deploy employees andéeage our teams and talent, including shifting wueses when necessary to
prioritize more important project
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» our ability to manage new IP cos
e competition in our industry

* maintaining technology infrastructure and employtbas can efficiently and reliably handle increapéa/er usage, changes in
mobile devices and game platforms, fast load tiavesthe rapid deployment of new features and prsg

* our ability to anticipate and address technicallehges that may aris
« our ability to protect our playe information and adequately address privacy cong:

» our ability to maintain reliable security servi@® infrastructure to protect against security tinea, computer malware and
hacking attacks

» market opportunity in the social gaming market/uding the mobile market and advertising marl

e our ability to effectively implement the new ganevdlopment, testing and marketing processes we dexaloped to effectively
launch a diversified game slate from Zynga and Nditdotion, and take advantage of our scale to agively compete and take
advantage of the market opportunity in our industr015, including the mobile market and advemtisinarket:

e our ability to successfully monitor and adapt tamges in gaming platform and consumer demand aadhstry continues to
evolve;

» our ability to develop, identify, market and laurtdhgames and new features and content for ogtiagigames in a timely mann

« the ability of our games to generate revenue awndtihgs for significant period of time after launahd the timing for market
acceptance of new gam

« our ability to utilize, protect, defend and enfome intellectual property
e our exposure to intellectual property disputes ather litigation;

e our exposure to illegitimate credit card activitydeother security risks, including sales or purelsasf virtual goods used in our
games through unauthorized or illegitimate t-party websites

« our ability to manage risks, costs and other chglts associate with international expans

« the impact of laws and regulations on our busin

e our evaluation of new business opportunities ampliaitions by us, including integration of newlygaired businesse

» our ability to understand industry trends, sucBessonality, and position our business to takerddga of these trends; a

» the effectiveness of our cost cutting activitied anr ability to control and reduce expenses, idiclg our estimated savings and
charges associated with our restructuring effi

These forward-looking statements are subject torabrer of risks, uncertainties and assumptionsydinb those described in “Part II.
Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Foi0-K. Moreover, we operate in a very competiinel rapidly changing environment and
industry. New risks may also emerge from time nheeti It is not possible for our management to pteall®f the risks related to our business
and operations, nor can we assess the impact fafcadirs on our business or the extent to whichfanotor, or combination of factors, may
cause actual results to differ materially from #hosntained in any forward-looking statements wg make. The achievement or success of
the matters covered by such forward-looking statémmvolves significant risks, uncertainties asduanptions. In light of these risks,
uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-lookwents and circumstances discussed in this AnnegadR on Form 10-K may not occur and
actual results could differ materially and adveydedm those anticipated, predicted or impliedhe forward-looking statements.
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You should not rely upon forward-looking statemeaggpredictions of future events. Although we haithat the expectations reflected
in the forward-looking statements are reasonabéecannot guarantee that the future results, lefastivity, performance or events and
circumstances reflected in the forward-lookingesta¢nts will be achieved or occur, and reportedit®should not be considered as an
indication of future performance. Factors that dozduse or contribute to such differences inclbdéare not limited to, those described in the
section titled “Risk Factors.” We undertake no géation to update any forward-looking statementsafoy reason to conform these statements
to actual results or to changes in our expectations
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Zynga Inc. (“Zynga” or “we” or “the Company”) islaading provider of social game services. We dgyalvarket and operate social
games as live services played on mobile platformes as iOS and Android and social networking stesh as Facebook. Generally, all of our
games are free to play, and we generate revenoieghithe in-game sale of virtual goods and advegiservices.

We are a pioneer and innovator of social gamesadadder in making “play” a core activity on mohilevices and social networking
sites. We believe our leadership position in sagéhes is the result of our significant investnierdur people, content, brand, technology anc
infrastructure. Our leadership position in sociaings is defined by the following:

* Engaged and Global Community of PlayelAccording to our analytics, during the fourth qeamf 2014, we had 108 million
monthly active users or MAUs, and 25 million daalgtive users or DAUs on all our games combinediriguthe month of
December 2014, we were a top 20 publisher worldwitéS and Google Play based on monthly revenuepasted by AppAnnis
Our players are also highly engaged, with our ganeésg played by 27 million DAUs worldwide for tifidl year ended 2014.
According to comScore, in December 2014, Zyngamked number 2 in terms of total time spent on teaaming per user and
ranked number 7 in terms of total time spent onitao

» Leading Portfolio of Social GameWe have developed a humber of popular social gameksling FarmVille, Words With
Friends, Zynga Poker, Hit It Rich! SlcandCSR Racin.

» Scalable Technology and DatWe leverage our technology to increase player exrgagt, cross-promote our portfolio of games,
continually enhance existing games, launch new gaand build the Zynga brand. We believe our sealts in network effects
that deliver compelling value to our players, arelave committed to making significant investmeatgrow our community of
players, their engagement and monetization oves.tie believe that combining data analytics witmative game design enables
us to create a superior player experiel

In 2014, we launched several new games on moliladingFarmVille 2: Country Escape, Hit It Rich! Slots, NSEhowdown, New
Zynga Poker, New Words With Friends, Wizard of Bis&ndLooney Tunes Dash!. FarmVille 2: Country Escépeched globally on
April 17, 2014 and received Apple App Store “Ed#dChoice” featuring and Google Play top tier featg at launchFarmVille2: Country
Escapealso received Apple App Store Best of 2014 and GoBtay Best Games of 2014 featurihgoney Tunes Dastdunched on
December 19, 2014 and was featured on Apple AppeStbest new games on iOS. These launches deratmestir commitment to developing
high quality mobile social games.

Consistent with our free-to-play business modsinall portion of our players have historically bgayers. During the three months
ended December 31, 2014, we had approximately llibmmonthly unique payers or MUPs (excluding pesywho use certain payment
methods for which unique payer data is not avadlanld excluding NaturalMotion). Because the opmitfitfor social interactions increases as
the number of players increases, we believe thattaiaing and growing our overall number of playensluding the number of players who
may not purchase virtual goods, is important tostecess of our business. As a result, we belleatetihe number of players who choose to
purchase virtual goods will continue to constitatemall portion of our overall players.

Our top three games historically have contribubedrhajority of our revenue. Our top three gamesuaated for 60%, 54% and 55% of
our online game revenue in 2014, 2013 and 201pectively.
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On February 11, 2014, we completed the acquisafatD0% of the equity interests in NaturalMotiorrguant to the share purchase
agreement, dated January 30, 2014, by and amoynga Game International Limited, NaturalMotiorgtralMotion’s shareholders and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC, as selepresentative. NaturalMotion’s shareholders @easted option holders received an
aggregate of $391 million in cash and 39.8 milléhvares of our Class A common stock. Zynga's adipisof NaturalMotion expanded our
creative pipeline into two new consumer categoriBeeple Simulation and Racing—and provided Zyngh wiititing-edge technology and
tools, including Euphoria, that we believe will pelccelerate Zynga's ability to deliver hit games.

Our operations are headquartered in San Frand@adidornia, and we have several operating locatiartee U.S. as well as various
international office locations in Asia and Eurolée were originally organized in April 2007 and cdetpd our initial public offering in
December 2011. Our Class A common stock is listethe NASDAQ Global Select Market under the synf@dGA.”

Our Strategy and Core Commitments

Our mission is to connect the world through gartrepursuit of our mission, we encourage entreprestep and intelligent risk-taking to
produce great games and breakthrough innovatiamsg@al from a content perspective is to createhitgpthat engage mainstream global
audiences.

We encourage innovation, the creation of compelljame experiences and moving with a sense of uygenzapitalize on our
opportunities for our success and the benefit ofptayers. These factors are critical to extendingleadership position as we seek to continu
building successful franchises. We remain steadfiastir commitment to the following:

e Grow and sustain proven h
e Create new hit
» Drive efficiencies

Our Social Games

We design our social games to provide players gligred experiences that surprise and delight temsocial games leverage the
global connectivity and distribution on mobile ftaitns such as iOS and Android and social networkites such as Facebook. Our games ar
free to play, span a number of categories andcatiraommunity of players that is demographicalig geographically diverse. We operate oul
games as live services and update them with frestent and new features to make them more socihfrece player engagement and improve
monetization. We analyze the data generated bylayers’ game play and social interactions to gtindecreation of new content and features
We use this ongoing feedback loop to keep our garoepelling and enhance the player experience.

Our Content

 Make Games Free, Accessible and FiWe operate our games as live services that aréabl@aanytime and anywhere. We desigr
our social games to provide players with easy act@eshared experiences that delight, amuse aed&nt and we will continue to
update our games on an ongoing basis with frestenband new features to make them more sociaftantbr our players

» Sustain and Grow Existing Franchise. We will continue to enhance the games that makeuwpnarket-leading franchises
including FarmVille, Words with Friends, Casino,0pke Simulation and Racing. We regularly updategames after launch to
encourage social interactions, add new contenfeatdres and seek to improve monetizat

5
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» Create New HitsWe will continue to invest in building new gameslaxpand the number of categories of games thalffee as
well as offer our games on multiple platforms saypls can access our games on various devicesx&ople, in addition to
multiple in-game features and events, this yearelasedit It Rich! Slots, New Zynga PokandWizard of Oz Slotfor our
Casino franchiserarmVille 2: Country Escapfor our FarmVille franchise andew Words With Friender our Words With
Friends franchise and we have announced that wadrb launch a match 3 game for our FarmVilledhase in 2015. We also
entered the Sports category, with the launcNEif Showdow and the announcement of our upcoming launch gérmivoods
Golf, and the Runner category, with the launclLooney Tunes Dasl

« Growth on Mobile.We believe there is a large opportunity to extemndlwand and games to mobile platforms includinglapOS
and Google Android. We brought our popular Farmé/itnchise to mobile in 2014 witlarmVille 2: Country EscapeWe also
believe our acquisition of NaturalMotion accelesat@ir mobile growth and adds mobile titles in vasigtrategic game categories,
such as Racing and People Simulation. We have aweduthat in 2015 we will enter into the Actiongd&gy category, with mobile
releases from both NaturalMotion and Zyn

Our Franchises

We have created evergreen franchises such as Fidgnt¥asino and Words With Friends. Zynga’'s NatMi@ion is the creator of hit
mobile games in popular entertainment categomediding CSR Racing CSR Classicsand Clumsy Ninja In 2015, we expect to move into
new game categories that align with the timelessreginment categories that consumers care abaltiding the Action Strategy category.

We currently invest in several game categoriesyding the following:

* Farm. Represented by our market-leading games suélamsVille, FarmVille 2andFarmVille 2: Country Escapgthese games
allow our players to express their personalitieglistomizing the appearances of their charac

» Casino. IncludesZzynga Poker a 7 year old game, which recently received a mgjdate that overhauled the experience for news
devicesZynga Poker Classiwas recently launched after listening to custoreedback. Additionally, expanded our category
footprint with the launch cHit It Rich! Slotson mobile devices in 201

e Words. Includes one of our most popular new mobile-gattestinNew Words With Friendswhich launched in early October
2014. Games in this category provide chances for frieediypetition and allow our players to quickly coaneith friends and
family when they start a game and to build and eobaelationships throughout the game experie

» Racing. Entered into this category with our February 20&duésition of NaturalMotion, developer CSR Racint.

» People SimulationEntered into this category with NaturalMotioi€sumsy Ninja, a popular mobile game that was downloaded
10 million times in the first week of its Novemi#013 launch according to App!

» Sports.Entered the Sports category with the launch ofsparts brand, Zynga Sports 365. LauncN&d. Showdowiin September
across iPhone, iPad, iPod Touch and Google |

We also intend to invest in other strategic catiegan the future.

6
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Our Network

Players progress faster in their games by conrgeutith friends and other players in our networknstantly get what they need to
complete quests, obtain virtual items and enhameie éxperience. We aspire to leverage our exigtimtjnew games to bring the best social
playing experiences to our audience. Our netwodbks users to discover new games, find and comvitthew friends, challenge, cooperate
and compete with friends; all of which drives highser engagement for games on our network.

Our Revenues
We generate revenue from the following online smsi

Virtual Goods and Paid Downloads

Our primary revenue source is the sale of virtuatency that players use to buy in-game virtualdgo&irtual currency can also be
earned for free through game play or by acceptiogiptional offers from our advertising partners. W&o generate revenue when players
purchase mobile game downloads.

Advertising and Licensing

Our advertising services offer creative ways forketers and advertisers to reach and engage withlayers. The goal of our
engagement-based advertising is to enhance thergaperience while delivering real value to adsers. Our advertising offerings include:

e Branded Virtual Goods and Sponsorskthat integrate relevant advertising and messagittjmgame play

* Engagement Ads and Offdn which players can answer certain questions, hviadeearn engagements or sign up for third party
services to receive virtual currency an-game bonuse:

* Mobile Adsthrough a-supported free versions of our mobile games, saWords With Friend:;
» Display Adsin our online web games that include banner acseartents; an
» Licensingour brands

Marketing and Distribution

We acquire most of our players through unpaid chbnioy cross-promoting new games to our existirdjeance. We have been able to
build a large community of players through the lhinad sharing features provided by social netwdtkes social innovations in our games and
the network effects of our games.

We are committed to connecting with our players. haee fan pages, generally on Facebook, for eaorojames to connect with our
players; and we leverage various other forms ofaboredia, including Twitter, to communicate witiet. We periodically host live and onli
player events. We also advertise our games witthiaranobile applications and on social networks$hsas Facebook via various in-app
advertising partners. In 2014 and 2013, we spedt F1million and $60.6 million, respectively, orefie player acquisition costs.

Agreements with Facebook, Apple and Google

Our revenue depends on our continued ability tdiglhilour games on Facebook and on mobile platfopmsarily the iOS and Android
platforms. We operate under the standard termsrefce for Facebook, Apple and Google and any e$¢hoperators could unilaterally alter
their terms of service in a manner that could haumbusiness. For example, Apple has recently inéat developers that beginning on
February 1, 2015 all applications that are subhittethe Apple App Store must include 64-bit suppor
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In 2014 we derived 43% of our bookings and 51%uwfrevenue from Facebook and 51% of our bookingls4a% of our revenue from
mobile platforms, such as Apple’s App Store for i@&vices and the Google Play App Store for Anddadices. In 2014 an increasing numbe
of our players were generated from mobile platforms

Our use of the Facebook platform and data derik@t Facebook is governed by Facebsdadtandard terms of service. Our use of mc
platforms and data derived from mobile platformal® governed by the standard terms of servi¢keomobile platforms, primarily Apple ai
Google.

Research and Development

We believe continued investment in enhancing exgsiames and developing new games, and in softiearglopment tools and code
modification, is important to attaining our strategbjectives. Our research and development exgemneee $396.6 million, $413.0 million and
$645.6 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectivelfich included stock-based expense of $83.7 anill$61.9 million and $200.6 million,
respectively.

Technology and ToolsWe have invested extensively in developing ooppetary technology stack, which has the abilithandle
sudden bursts of activity for millions of playengeo a short period of time with high levels of permhance and reliability. Our proprietary
technology stack includes datacenter and cloud atimpmanagement, a shared code base, networkrasstgromotional features and
proprietary data analytics. Our technology stask alupports the growth of our 2D and 3D game esgueeoss the mobile business in additior
to supporting high-level security and anti-frauftastructure. We are also investing in machinerieay. We believe that investing in
technology and tools, including the simulation taalogies we recently acquired with our purchasBaturalMotion, can create competitive
advantages as well as extend our technology Ielaigei&/e will continue to innovate and optimize aas@ur technology and tools to deliver
cost-effective, high performance and highly avddatocial games.

Intellectual Property

Our business is significantly based on the creatoquisition, use and protection of intellectualgerty. Some of this intellectual
property is in the form of software code, patertahnology and trade secrets that we use to dewelogames and to enable them to run
properly on multiple platforms. Other intellectymbperty we create includes product and featureesaand audio-visual elements, including
graphics, music, story lines and interface design.

While most of the intellectual property we usernsated by us, we have also acquired rights to @tay intellectual property. We have
also obtained rights to use intellectual propentptigh licenses and service agreements with thartlgs. These licenses typically limit our use
of intellectual property to specific uses and foedific time periods.

We protect our intellectual property rights by ety on federal, state and common law protectiossyell as contractual restrictions. We
actively seek patent protection covering inventioriginating from the company and acquire paterdselieve may be useful or relevant to
business. We control access to our proprietaryni@olgy by entering into confidentiality and invamtiassignment agreements with our
employees and contractors, and confidentiality exgents with third parties. We also actively engagaonitoring and enforcement activities
with respect to infringing uses of our trademadapyrights and domain names by third parties.

In addition to these contractual arrangements, la@raly on a combination of trade secret, copyrilademark, trade dress, domain
name and patents to protect our games and otledletttial property. We typically own the copyrigbtthe software code to our content, as
well as the trademark for the brand or title
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under which our games are marketed. We pursuesthistration of our domain names, copyrights, traaids patents, and service marks in the
United States and, for some, in locations outdi@elinited States. Our registered trademarks itUthieed States include “Zynga” and the
names of our games, among others.

Circumstances outside our control could pose athoeour intellectual property rights. For examiective intellectual property
protection may not be available in the United Stateother countries in which our games are disteitd. Also, the efforts we have taken to
protect our proprietary rights may not be suffitieneffective. Any significant impairment of ourtéllectual property rights could harm our
business or our ability to compete. Also, protegtinr intellectual property rights is costly angéiconsuming. Any unauthorized disclosure
use of our intellectual property could make it mexpensive to do business, thereby harming ouratipgrresults.

Companies in the Internet, games, social mediantdogy and other industries may own large numbépatents, copyrights and
trademarks and may frequently request license agrets, threaten litigation or file suit againstased on allegations of infringement or othe
violations of intellectual property rights. Frorme to time, we have faced, and we expect to fatieeiriuture, allegations by third parties,
including our competitors and non-practicing easifithat we have infringed their copyrights, tradeks, patents and other intellectual propert
rights. As we face increasing competition and asbasiness grows, including into new areas, we hkidlly face more claims of infringement.

Competition

We face significant competition in all aspects of business. Specifically, we compete for the Ieidime, attention and discretionary
spending of our players with other social game tigears on the basis of a number of factors, inclgdjuality of player experience, brand
awareness and reputation and access to distribchiannels.

We believe we compete favorably on these factoosvéver, our industry is evolving rapidly and is bexing increasingly competitive.
Other developers of social games could develop rmomgpelling content that competes with our socéahgs and adversely affects our ability
to attract and retain players and their entertairirtime. These competitors, including companiewloith we may not be currently aware, may
take advantage of social networks, access to a lasgr base and their network effects to grow hajidd virally.

Our competitors include:

» Developers for Web and Mobile GamWe face competition from a number of competitor®wlevelop web and mobile games.
These competitors, some of which have significaratrfcial, technical and other resources, greatererr@cognition and longer
operating histories, may create games that appealrtplayers. The mobile game sector specifidgalharacterized by frequent
product introductions, rapidly emerging mobile flains, new technologies and new mobile applicasimmefronts. Some of these
competitors include DeNA Co. Ltd. (Japan), Elecicorts Inc., Gameloft SA, GREE International, InGlu Mobile Inc.,
King.com Inc., Rovio Mobile Ltd., Supercell Inc.u@gHo Online Entertainment, Inc., Kabam and Thet\W&ney Company.
Because our games are free to play, we competapiynon the basis of player experience rather fwdce. We also expect new
competitors to enter the market and existing coigustto allocate more resources to develop andket@ompeting games and
applications

» Other Game DeveloperQur players may also play other games on persamapaters and consoles, some of which include sociz
features that compete with our social games and hammunity functions where game developers caagmwith their players.
Some of these competitors include Activision Blizzdnc., Electronic Arts, Riot Games, Valve, Takeeo Interactive, SEGA of
America, Inc. and The Walt Disney Compa
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» Other Forms of Media and Entertainme¥ife compete more broadly for the leisure time atehtéibn of our players with providers
of other forms of Internet and mobile entertainméntiuding social networking, online casual eragnnent and music. To the
extent existing or potential players choose to reaxch or listen to online content or streaminded or radio, play interactive vid
games at home or on their computer or mobile deviather than play social games, these contenicesrpose a competitive thre

Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of foreign and domésiis and regulations that affect companies condgdiusiness on the Internet, many
of which are still evolving and could be interpitte ways that could harm our business. In the é¢h@itates and internationally, laws relating
to the liability of providers of online services factivities of their users and other third parties currently being tested by a number of claims
including actions based on invasion of privacy atiter torts, unfair competition, copyright and gadhrk infringement, and other theories
based on the nature and content of the materiatstsed, the ads posted, or the content providagsbss. Any court ruling or other
governmental action that imposes liability on pd®rs of online services for the activities of thesers and other third parties could harm our
business. We are potentially subject to a numbésreign and domestic laws and regulations thatcafthe offering of certain types of content,
such as that which depicts violence, many of whiehill defined, still evolving and could be integfed in ways that could harm our business
or expose us to liability.

In addition, rising concern about the use of sac&#lvorking technologies for illegal conduct, sashthe unauthorized dissemination of
national security information, money launderingsopporting terrorist activities may in the futumeguce legislation or other governmental
action that could require changes to our gameessirict or impose additional costs upon the condticur business.

Some of our games or features are based uponidraalitasino games, such as poker. We have stagcand operate these games and
features, includingNew Zynga PokeandZynga Poker Classicwith the gambling laws in mind and believe thretde games or features do not
constitute gambling. There are ongoing academidjqa and regulatory discussions in the Unitedt8¢ and other jurisdictions regarding
whether social casino applications should be stilbjeg higher level or different type of regulatitran other social game applications and, if
so, what this regulation should include.

We also offer our players various types of swed@stagiveaways and promotion opportunities. Wesatgect to laws in a number of
jurisdictions concerning the operation and offerifiguch activities, many of which are still evalgiand could be interpreted in ways t
could harm our business. Any court ruling or oth@vernmental action that imposes liability on pd®ars of online services could result in
criminal or civil liability and could harm our burgss.

In the area of information security and data priddec many states have passed laws requiring oatifin to users when there is a sect
breach for personal data, such as the 2002 amendm€alifornia’s Information Practices Act, or régng the adoption of minimum
information security standards that are often vigdefined and difficult to implement. The costsamimpliance with these laws may increase
in the future as a result of changes in interpi@tafurthermore, any failure on our part to complth these laws may subject us to significant
liabilities.

We are also subject to federal, state and foreigs regarding privacy and protection of player dateluding the collection of data from
minors. We post our Privacy Policy and Terms ofvigeronline, in which we describe our practicesamrning the use, transmission and
disclosure of player data. Any failure by us to edyrwith our posted privacy policy or privacy reddtlaws and regulations could result in
proceedings against us by governmental authootieshers, which could harm our business. In addjtthe interpretation of many data
protection laws, and their application to the Intgris unclear and in a state of flux. There iskthat these
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laws may be interpreted and applied in conflictiveyys from state to state, country to country, giae to region, and in a manner that is not
consistent with our current data protection prasticComplying with these varying international riegments could cause us to incur additiona
costs and change our business practices. Furthefadure by us to adequately protect our player®rmation and data could result in a loss
of player confidence in our services and ultimatelg loss of players, which could adversely affaat business.

With the move of our services to mobile devices,anealso subject to additional regulations reggrdommunication via this channel,
such as the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (ACH he interpretation of many of these laws, umihg the TCPA, and their application
to current means of communication through mobildadss is unclear and in a state of flux. These lmay be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is not consistent with current induptactices. The costs of compliance with these lanag increase in the future as a result of
changes in interpretation and may greatly reducebility to contact our players through this chalnifFurthermore, failure on our part to
comply with these laws may subject us to signiftidebilities.

In addition, some concern has been expressed ipEwnd in certain countries that social gamingikhbe regulated to protect
consumers, in particular minors and persons sustepd addiction to social games. European regusadre also considering the efficacy of
existing consumer protection laws as they relaggdtection of consumers for the purchase of viiteans in applications including game
applications. These concerns could lead to thetamopf legislation or regulations that may impe@sklitional burdens upon us, prohibit the
offering of our games to certain users or terr@syincrease our costs or require changes to onegal hese concerns have already led to
certain changes in Apple and Google policy andaéedd to additional changes.

Also, because our services are accessible worldwattain foreign jurisdictions have claimed anldens may claim that we are required
to comply with their laws, including in jurisdictie where we have no local entity, employees oastftcture.

Separately, we have a partnership agreement wiih.party to develop, test and operate certainmeaiey online poker and casino
games in the United Kingdom. The real money gamepawered by the established operating platforchsaritware of bwin.party and operate
under bwin.party’s gambling licenses in the apjtiiegurisdictions.

Seasonality

During fiscal year 2014, approximately 22% of cewanue was derived from advertising and other. Atieg budgets are generally
highest during the fourth quarter and decline $igantly in the first quarter of the following yeawhich affects the revenues we derive from
advertisements and offers in our games. Additignalke generally experience increases in game damisland resulting online games
revenues in the fourth quarter and first quarteragponding to increases in smartphone and tablehpses during the holiday shopping
season.

Employees

Our future success depends upon the continueccssstiour key technical and management personmelipon our ability to continue to
attract and retain qualified employees, particylatir senior management team and highly skilledegeesigners, product managers and
engineers. We currently have favorable employestiogls, but the competition for technical personséhtense, and the loss of key employee:
or the inability to hire such employees when needrdd have a material adverse impact on our basiaad financial condition. As of
December 31, 2014, we had 1,974 full-time employees
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Available Information

Our website is located at www.zynga.com, and ovestor relations website is located at http://in@egynga.com. The following filings
are available through our investor relations webafter we file them with the SEC: Annual Reporg@rm 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and our Proxyestants for our annual meetings of stockholdergseétilings are also available for
download free of charge on our investor relatioedsite. Further, a copy of this Annual Report om@0-K is located at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, B0649. Information on the operation of the PuRl&ference Room can be obtained by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain evenigant&ipate in or host with members of the investircommunity on our investor
relations website. Additionally, we provide notdttons of news or announcements regarding our ¢iahperformance, including SEC filings,
investor events, press and earnings releasestasf parr investor relations website. Investors atiters can receive notifications of new
information posted on our investor relations webaitreal time by signing up for email alerts ari3¥eeds. Further corporate governance
information, including our certificate of incorpdian, bylaws, governance guidelines, board committearters, and code of conduct, is also
available on our investor relations website untleriteading “Corporate Governance.” The contentainfvebsites are not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-Kroany other report or document we file with the SBGJ any references to our websites ar:
intended to be inactive textual references only.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We have identified the following risks and uncaettiais that may have a material adverse effect arbasiness, financial condition or
results of operations. The risks described belogvraot the only ones we face. Additional risks mesently known to us or that we currently
believe are not material may also significantly ampur business operations. Our business coultidrened by any of these risks. The trading
price of our Class A common stock could declinetduany of these risks, and you may lose all ot payour investment. In assessing th
risks, you should also refer to the other inforrmatcontained in this Annual Report on Form 10-KJuling our consolidated financial
statements and related notes.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our business will suffer if we are unable to contie to develop successful games for mobile platfarmscessfully monetize mobile games,
or successfully forecast mobile launches and/or netization.

Our business depends on developing and publishotgjlengames that consumers will download and spiemel and money playing. We
have devoted and we expect to continue to devdistantial resources to the research, developmealytacs and marketing of our mobile
games, however we cannot guarantee that we witirnomto develop games that appeal to players wersiders. We expect to launch several
games in 2015, includingarmVille: Harvest Swap, Empires and AlligBawn of TitansandTiger Woods Golf New games that we introduce
need to generate sufficient bookings and revermeffset the associated development and marketiatscWe may encounter difficulty in
integrating features on games developed for matéforms that a sufficient number of players ity for or otherwise sufficiently
monetizing mobile games. The success of our gamesmdis, in part, on unpredictable and volatileoi@cbeyond our control including
consumer preferences, competing games, new mdhtfeqns and the availability of other entertainmexperiences. If our games are not
launched on time or do not meet consumer expeowtmr they are not brought to market in a timelg aeffective manner, our ability to grow
revenue and our financial performance will be niegt affected. For example, we recently experienaalelay in the introduction aboney
Tunes Dashivhich had a negative impact on our financial ressfdt the fourth quarter of 2014.
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In addition to the market factors noted above,ahility to successfully develop games for mobilaetfuirms and their ability to achieve
commercial success will depend on our ability to:

effectively market mobile games to our existing -based players, mobile players and new players witbrcess cos
achieve viral organic growtl
adapt to changing player preferenc

adapt games quickly to make sure they are compatilth, and take advantage of feature sets for neéeases of mobile phones ¢
other devices

expand and enhance games after their initial rejs

anticipate and effectively respond to the growingnber of players switching from wdiased to mobile games, the changing m
landscape and the interests of players on molsliéopms;

attract, retain and motivate talented game dessgpeoduct managers and engineers who have experitaveloping games for
mobile platforms

partner with mobile platforms and obtain featuropportunities

adapt game feature sets for limited bandwidth, ggeing power and screen size of typical mobileabsy;
minimize launch delays and cost overruns on theldgwment of new game

effectively monetize the game

maintain quality social game experien

provide a compelling and optimal user experienceuph existing and developing third party techn@sgincluding third party
software and middleware utilized by our playt

release games compatible with an increasingly deseet of mobile device

compete successfully against a large and growimgbeu of existing market participan
minimize and quickly resolve bugs or outages;

acquire and successfully integrate high quality leajpame assets, personnel or compal

These and other uncertainties make it difficukkmow whether we will succeed in continuing to depesuccessful mobile games and
launch these games in accordance with our finaptaal. If we do not succeed in doing so, our bussnaill suffer.

Moreover, our mobile games generally monetizelatvar rate than our web-based games and we mayensticcessful in our efforts to
increase our monetization from mobile games. lfaneeunable to offset the decline in our web-basadeas with bookings from our mobile
games, our revenue and our financial performanteuffer.

We are also a relatively new entrant in the mogileme market and, as a result have a relativelyt biigiory in developing and launching
mobile games. As a result of this we may havedliffy predicting the development schedule of a game and forecasting bookings for a
game. If launches are delayed and we are unabf®imetize mobile games in the manner that we fotexasability to grow revenue and our
financial performance will be negatively impacted.
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We must continue to launch, innovate and enhancengss that players like and attract and retain a sificant number of players in order to
grow our revenue and sustain our competitive pamiti

We recently announced that we will launch six totew mobile games, including games in new categan 2015, however there is a
risk that we may not launch these games or the gémmes we plan to launch in 2015 according toduliee that these games do not attract an
retain a significant number of players or that hgames will not monetize well. If we do not laurgaimes on schedules or our games do not
monetize well, our business, revenue and bookintjba/negatively impacted.

If our top games do not maintain their popularitpur results of operations could be harme

In addition to creating new games that are attradth a significant number of players, we must eatthe life of our existing games, in
particular our most successful games. Historically,have depended on a small number of gamesrf@jarity of our revenue and we expect
that this dependency will continue for the foresdedéuture. Our existing games compete with our néferings and the offerings of our
competitors. Traditionally, bookings from existiggmes decline over time. For a game to remain popwk must constantly enhance, expanc
or upgrade the game with new features that playmisattractive. Increased competition can resulhcreasing player acquisition and reten
costs. Constant game enhancement requires tharmetsof significant resources, particularly wither games, and such costs on average
have increased. We may not be able to successfulignce, expand or upgrade our current games.&dugction in the number of players of
our most popular games, any decrease in the pdyuddiour games or social games in general, aegad of game-related security or
prolonged server interruption, any loss of riglatay intellectual property underlying such ganoesny other adverse developments relating
to our most popular games, could harm our res@ilbperations.

Our business is intensely competitive and “hit” &gn. If we do not deliver “hit” products and senés, or if consumers prefer our
competitors’ products or services over our own, ayrerating results could suffer.

Competition in our industry is intense. Many newnga are introduced in each major industry segnmabile, web, and PC free-to-
download), but only a relatively small number oit*litles account for a significant portion of &trevenue in each segment. Our competitors
range from large established companies to emesjargups, and we expect new competitors to continuerterge throughout the world. If
competitors develop and market more successfulyster services, offer competitive products ovisess at lower price points or based on
payment models perceived as offering a better vataposition, or if we do not continue to develagmsistently high-quality and well-received
products and services, our revenue, margins, asfiglility will decline.

Our quarterly operating results are volatile andfficult to predict, and our stock price may declinewe fail to meet the expectations of
securities analysts or investor

Our bookings, revenue, adjusted EBITDA, playerfitend operating results have fluctuated in thet pad could vary significantly from
quarter-to-quarter and yearyear and may fail to match our past performandh@expectations of securities analysts or invedtecause of
variety of factors, some of which are outside of cantrol. Any of these events could cause the etgkice of our Class A common stock to
fluctuate. Factors that may contribute to the \alitt of our operating results include the risktars listed in these “Risk Factors” and the
factors discussed in the section titled “Managersddiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiorda&Results of Operations—Factors
Affecting Our Performance.”

In particular, it is difficult to predict when bomigs from one of our games will begin to declire tecay rate for any particular game,
which is the speed at which the popularity and g@laysage for a game declines and the commercieéss®f our new games. Our business
depends on our ability to consistently and timalyrich new games or versions of games that achignifcant popularity and have the
potential to become franchise
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games as bookings from our older games decling difficult for us to predict with certainty wheme will launch a new game as games may
require longer development schedules or soft layreclods than we expect to meet our quality stadsldfor example, our experience in 2014
launches has caused us to extend soft launch gedodur games during 2015 which results in ayd&iasignificant bookings for the games. If
decay rates are higher than expected in a pantiqukarterly period and/or we experience delaysélaunch of new games that we expect to
offset these declines and/or new games do not nzengtll, we may not meet our expectations or ttpeetations of securities analysts or
investors for a given quarter.

In addition, we recognize revenue from the saleurfvirtual goods in accordance with U.S. GAAP, ethis complex and based on our
assumptions and historical data with respect tes#he and use of various types of virtual goodshénevent that such assumptions are revisec
based on new data or there are changes in theib@tmix of virtual goods sold due to new gameandtctions, reduced virtual good sales in
existing games or other factors or there are chairgeur estimates of average playing periods dawgep life, the amount of revenue that we
recognize in any particular period may fluctuagmgicantly. In addition, changes in the policidsFacebook, Apple, Google or other third
party platforms or accounting policies promulgabydhe SEC and national accounting standards badiiesting software and virtual goods
revenue recognition could further significantlyeadf the way we report revenue related to our prisd&ich changes could have an adverse
effect on our reported revenue, net income andmgsrper share under U.S. GAAP. For further infdioraregarding our revenue recognition
policy, see the section titled “Management’s Disoms and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resoft Operations—Critical Accounting
Policies—Revenue Recognition” in this Annual ReportForm 10-K.

Given the rapidly evolving social game industryihich we operate, our historical operating resus not be useful in predicting our
future operating results. In addition, metrics vagdrdeveloped or those available from third pargggsrding our industry and the performance
of our games, including DAUs, MAUs, MUUs, MUPs aBPU may not be indicative of our future finangurformance. This could cause
the market price of our Class A common stock totflate.

A small number of games have generated a majoritypor revenue, and we must continue to launch, inrede and enhance games tr
players like and attract and retain a significanumber of players in order to grow our revenue angs$ain our competitive positior

Historically, we have depended on a small numbeyanfies for a majority of our revenue and we expetdtthis dependency will
continue for the foreseeable future. Bookings awnue from many of our games tend to decline twer after reaching a peak of popularity
and player usage. As a result of this natural dedh the life cycle of our games, our businesseddp on our ability to consistently and timely
launch new games across multiple platforms andcdevhat achieve significant popularity and haeepbitential to become franchise games.
For example, in 2014 we saw a decline in bookingZynga Pokeas compared to 2013. We recently announced thatilviaunch six to ten
new mobile games, including games in new categ@mi@®15, however there is a risk that we may aohth these games or the other games
we plan to launch in 2015 according to scheduk, tthese games do not attract and retain a signifisumber of players or that these games
will not monetize well.

Each of our games requires significant engineerimgrketing and other resources to develop, laundrsastain via regular upgrades anc
expansions, and such costs on average have indreasethe last several years. Our ability to sesfidly launch, sustain and expand games
and attract and retain players largely will dependur ability to:

» anticipate and effectively respond to changing gatager interests and preferenc

» anticipate or respond to changes in the competingtechnological landscape (including, but mottid to changes in mobile
devices and gaming platform:

15



Table of Contents

» attract, retain and motivate talented game dessgpeoduct managers and engine

» develop, sustain and expand games that our pligeréun, interesting and compelling to ple

» develop games that can build upon or become fraaamames

» effectively market and advertise new games andrez@maents to our existing players and new play
e acquire players in a cc-effective manner

e minimize the launch delays and cost overruns ongewes and game expansic

* minimize downtime and other technical difficultiesid

e acquire and integrate high quality assets, perdamcompanies

It is difficult to consistently anticipate playeemiand on a large scale, particularly as we devgdmpes in new categories or new markets
including international markets and mobile platfstrrif we do not successfully launch games thaaéttnd retain a significant number of
players and extend the life of our existing ganoes,market share, brand and financial resultstvdlharmed. For example, in September 2014
we launched a new version 8§ynga Pokewhich replaced our existing mobile poker offeriiigpe launch resulted in a sharp decline in DAUs
and revenue, and feedback that some existing fdayeferred the prior version of the game. As altese now have two mobile poker
offerings,Zynga Pokeand the original game offering, which was subsetiyeeintroduced aZynga Poker Classic

We rely on a small portion of our total players faearly all of our revenue and if we fail to growuo player base, or if player engagement
continues to decline, bookings, revenue and opergtiesults will be harmed.

Compared to all players who play our games in arjogd, only a small portion are paying players.iBgthe three months ended
December 31, 2014, we had approximately 1.1 milidsPs (excluding payers who use certain paymenhatst for which unique payer data
is not available and excluding NaturalMotion), wiepresent approximately one percent of our to&ygis compared to one percent of our
players during the three months ended Decembe2@R. In order to sustain and grow our revenuel$evee must attract, retain and increase
the number of paying players or more effectivelynetize our players. To retain players, we must tesmgnificant resources so that the ga
they play retain their interest and attract theraupother games. We might not succeed in our isfforincrease the monetization rates of our
users, particularly if we are unable to retain paying players. If we fail to grow or sustain thember of our paying players, if the rates at
which we attract and retain players declines tneéfaverage amount our players pay declines, ainéss may not grow and our financial
results will suffer.

Our business depends on our players and our ptalgel of engagement is critical to our success.lde players in the ordinary course
of business. Average MAU declined 31% percent fiath million in 2013 to 118 million in 2014. Our &incial performance will continue to
be significantly impacted if we continue to loseuss If we fail to sustain the number of our payitayers, if the rates at which we attract and
retain players declines or if the average amounptayers pay declines, our business will contitudecline and our financial results will
suffer.

A large portion of our business is dependent upand our bookings and revenues are derived from facebook platform, and Facebook
many cases has the unilateral ability to interpiiet policies and terms and conditions for applicatis and developers.

Facebook is currently the largest single distridmutimarketing, promotion and payment platform for games. To date, we have derived
a significant portion of our bookings (43% in 2054)d revenue (51% in 2014) and acquired a sigmifisamber of our players through
Facebook. Except for certain limited addenda, veesabject to Facebook’s standard terms and condifir application developers, which
govern the promotion, distribution between us aadebook and operation of games and other appliatio the Facebook platform.
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Our business may be harmed if:
» Facebook discontinues or limits our access tol#dqym;
» Facebook terminates or seeks to terminate ourachtl relationship altogethe

» Facebook prohibits us from offering our games @nRhcebook platform because it determines thatrevea aompetitor or for other
reasons

» Facebook modifies its terms of service or otheigms, including fees charged to, or other restitt on, us or other application
developers

» Facebook makes operational changes to its platfioatrwe are not able to adapt to our game offeyi

» Facebook changes how the personal informatiorsafsgers is made available to application developeithe Facebook platform or
is able to be shared by use

» Facebook modifies or interprets its terms of seracother policies in a manner that impacts oilitylo advertise, either for our
games or for third party products or servic

» Facebook establishes more favorable relationshifhsome or more of our competitol
e Facebook platform or purchasing functionality beesrmanavailable for a period of time;
» Facebook develops or acquires its own competitifariags.

In addition, we have benefited from Facebook’srggrbrand recognition and large user base. If Fadelmses its market position or
otherwise falls out of favor with Internet usersotiner factors cause its user base to stop growing shrink, we would need to identify
alternative channels for marketing, promoting aistridbuting our games, which would consume subshrgsources and may not be effective,
or available at all.

Facebook has broad discretion to change and imteitprterms of service and other policies wittpes to us and other developers, and
those changes may be unfavorable to us. Faceboglalis@mchange its fee structure, add fees assdaidth access to and use of the Facebool
platform, alter how we are able to advertise onRheebook platform, change how the personal infiomaf its users is made available to
application developers on the Facebook platformestrict how Facebook users can share informatitinfwends on their platform or across
platforms other than Facebook. If changes were rtteatenvere detrimental to us, our business woullldened and our operating results wc
be adversely affected.

Facebook recently introduced a new version ofétgetbper platform and we must migrate our gamekabplatform by a certain date.
We have made the decision not to migrate ten gaoie new platform, which will impact our web bdd®mokings and revenue in 2015. If we
are unable to timely and effectively migrate theaéder of our games to the new Facebook platforrdevelop new games that work with
this platform our players may lose access to gamésatures or otherwise encounter a negative gaewperience, resulting in reduced
bookings and revenue. In addition, when we do néggames to the new platform, the new platform of@nge the way developers can
interact with users or how Facebook users can shmenation with friends. Any such changes in thture could significantly alter how
players experience or interact within our gamesclwvimay harm our business.

If we violate, or if Facebook believes we have aietl its terms of service, it could limit or distione our access to the platform, which
would harm our business.

We also rely on the continued functionality of frecebook platform. If our players or potential gesyare not able to access our games
through this platform or encounter difficultiesdning so, we may lose players, resulting in de@@dmokings and revenue. The level of
service provided by Facebook may also impact thiehase, usage and satisfaction with the virtuatlgaw currency purchased by our players
adversely affecting our business and profitabilityzacebook experiences interruptions in servicssues with its in-app
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purchasing functionality regularly or for a prol@ugbasis, or other similar issues arise that impacability to generate revenues on the
Facebook platform, it could have a negative imjpacour revenues and operating results.

To be successful, we must increasingly leveragedtabal connectivity and distribution of mobile gfarms, making the success of our
business dependent on this technology and our rielaships with mobile platform providers, which inamy cases have the unilateral ability
to interpret their policies and terms and conditisrior applications and developers.

Our social games increasingly leverage the globahectivity and distribution of mobile platformsclading Apple’s App Store for iOS
devices and the Google Play App Store for Andradicks. Our games are distributed on these plagfama the virtual items we sell in our
games are purchased using the payment processtensy/of these platform providers. In the fourthrtgr of 2014, 60% of our bookings wi
generated through mobile platforms. We are sultjettie standard policies and terms of service efefthird party platforms, which govern
promotion, distribution and operation of gamestwmn pglatform and can be changed by the platformigens, in their sole discretion, at any
time. Such changes may decrease the visibilitwailability of our games, limit our distribution pabilities, prevent access to our existing
games, reduce the amount of bookings and revenusayaecognize from in-game purchases, increaseasis to operate on these platforms
or result in the exclusion or limitation of our gasnon such third party platforms. Any such chamgesd significantly harm our business in
both the short-term and long-term.

If we violate, or a platform provider believes wavk violated its terms of service, it could limitdiscontinue our access to the platform,
which would harm our business.

We also rely on the continued functionality of #yeple App Store and the Google Play App Storeulf glayers or potential players are
not able to access our games through these platformancounter difficulties in doing so, we mayel@ayers, resulting in decreased bookings
and revenue. The level of service provided by tis¢seefronts may also impact the purchase, usagjsatisfaction with the virtual goods or
currency purchased by our players, adversely afifgctur business and profitability. Further, in ffest these digital storefronts have
experienced interruptions in service or issues thitir in-app purchasing functionality. If thes@ég of interruptions were to occur regularly or
for a prolonged basis, or other similar issueseahst impact our ability to generate revenues filoese storefronts, it could have a negative
impact on our revenues and operating results.

Apple’'s new requirement that all new applications subieitl to the Apple App Store must include 64-bit sagpwhich is scheduled to
become effective in 2015, could harm our business.

Apple recently informed developers that beginning-ebruary 1, 2015, all new applications that atestted to the Apple App Store
must include 64-bit support and be built with tB&i8 software development kit, with certain exaapi Games that are currently live must
include 64-bit support and be updated by an upldlaitewith the iOS 8 software development kit byn@ul, 2015. Depending on date of
submissions, games built on the Unity game endldrify”) may be given until June to comply with tlpdate requirements. We currently
have efforts underway to adapt our current gamddnre games to support 64-bit and be built Wi iOS 8 software development kit. If
Apple does not modify or delay this requirement,waaild be required to implement 64-bit supportdbrof our games currently under
development that we intend to launch after FebraaB015 as well as any of our currently releassdes that we intend to launch or update
after February 1, 2015. This will involve signifidadevelopment and expense and may cause thepatidirelease date for some or all of our
games currently under development to be pushedwubitth would negatively impact our revenues in 2ah8 potentially beyond. In addition,
due to the significant expense involved in suppgré4-bit development, we might decide not to cargiupdating certain of our existing
games after February 1, 2015 that we otherwise avibave continued to update, which would causedhenues that we generate from these
games to decline more quickly than they otherwisald have. Furthermore, building our games to
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support 64-bit development will increase the filleof our games, which could reduce the numbeloafnloads of these games, particularly if
we are unable to keep the size of the games bed@wiegabytes, which is the maximum file size tlaat currently be downloaded over any
carrier's wireless network.

If we fail to maintain and enhance our capabilitiefor porting games to a broad array of mobile dess; particularly those running th:
Android operating system, our revenues and finarlaiesults could suffer

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesifrthe sale of virtual goods within our games foagphones and tablets that run
Apple’s iOS or Google’s Android operating systenmlike the Apple ecosystem in which Apple contrabétbthe device (iPhone, iPod Touch
and iPad) and the storefront (Apple’s App Stored, Android ecosystem is highly fragmented sincargd number of OEMs manufacture and
sell Android-based devices that run a variety afioms of the Android operating system, and theeenaany Android-based storefronts in
addition to the Google Play Store. For us to seflgames to the widest possible audience of Andrs@ts, we must port our games to a
significant portion of the more than 1,000 Andrbigised devices that are commercially available, nefmyhich have different technical
requirements. Since the number of Android-basedtpimanes and tablets shipped worldwide is growiggiicantly, it is important that we
maintain and enhance our porting capabilities, Wigiould require us to invest considerable resourctss area. These additional costs could
harm our business, operating results and finacoiadlition. In addition, we must continue to increeétse efficiency of our porting processes or
it may take us longer to port games to an equitaleamber of devices, which would negatively impagt margins. If we fail to maintain or
enhance our porting capabilities, our revenuesfimadicial results could suffer.

We operate in a new and rapidly changing industry.

The social game industry, through which we derivessantially all of our revenue, is a new and rhpévolving industry. The growth of
the social game industry and the level of demanbnaarket acceptance of our games are subjectigghadkegree of uncertainty. Our future
operating results will depend on numerous factéfecting the social game industry, many of which beyond our control, including:

* our ability to extend our brand and games to matld¢forms and the timing and success of such re@zme launche
» continued worldwide growth in the adoption and asEBacebook and other social networks on whichpbatform relies;
» our ability to maintain the popularity of our gam@sFacebook; iOS, Android and other platfor

» the transition of our players from the web to melikvices, and our ability to effectively monetigemes on mobile devices and
across multiple platforms and devic

» our ability to maintain technological solutions amdployee expertise to rapidly respond to contisuthanges in mobile platforms
and mobile device:

* our ability to maintain technological solutions amiployee expertise to rapidly respond to changesmsumer demand for games
on new gaming platform:

» changes in consumer demographics and public tasteépreference:

» the availability and popularity of other forms aftertainment

» the worldwide growth of mobile devices, broadbantginet and personal computer users, and the fareyasuch growth; an
* general economic conditions, particularly econoaainditions adversely affecting discretionary consuspending
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Our ability to plan for game development, distribatand promotional activities will be significaythffected by our ability to anticipate
and adapt to relatively rapid changes in the temtelspreferences of our current and potential ptaged relatively rapid changes in technolc
New and different types of entertainment may insecia popularity at the expense of social gamegedine in the popularity of social gan
in general, or our games in particular, would hatmbusiness and prospects.

Security breaches, computer viruses and computeckiag attacks could harm our business, reputatidivand and results of operation:

Security breaches, computer malware and computdirtaattacks have become more prevalent in ourstrg, have occurred on our
systems in the past and may occur on our systeihe ifuture. Any security breach caused by hackitgch involves efforts to gain
unauthorized access to information or systemsy oatise intentional malfunctions or loss or coiinrpof data, software, hardware or other
computer equipment, and the inadvertent transnmissicomputer viruses could harm our businessnfiie condition and operating results.
We have experienced and will continue to experidraazking attacks of varying degrees from timeruetiincluding denial-of-service attacks.
Because of our prominence in the social game inguse believe we are a particularly attractivey&drfor hackers.

In addition, our games involve the storage andstrassion of players’ personal information in ouwifiies and on our equipment,
networks and corporate systems run by us or manag#urd-parties including Facebook, Apple, Miasfisand Google. Security breaches of
our systems or third-parties on whom we rely caxgose us to litigation, remediation costs, inaedasosts for security measures, loss of
revenue, damage to our reputation and potentiailitia. Our player data, corporate systems, thiadty systems and security measures may be
breached due to the actions of outside parties|ame error, malfeasance, a combination of theseth@rwise, and, as a result, an
unauthorized party may obtain access to our dataplayers’ data or our advertiser’'s data. Addisilhy) outside parties may attempt to
fraudulently induce employees or players to dislesnsitive information in order to gain accessuoplayers’ data or our advertiser’s data.
We must continuously examine and modify our segwaintrols and business policies to address thefusew devices and technologies
enabling players to share data and communicatevinways, and the increasing focus by our playedsragulators on controlling and
protecting user data.

Because the techniques used to obtain unauthaaizesss, disable or degrade service, or sabotamrsyshange frequently or may be
designed to remain dormant until a predeterminexhieand often are not recognized until launchedéhaga target, we may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequeteptative measures. Though it is difficult toeatine what harm may directly result from
any specific interruption or breach, any failureperceived failure to maintain performance, relighisecurity and availability of our network
infrastructure to the satisfaction of our playei@yrharm our reputation and our ability to retairsgmg players and attract new players.

If an actual or perceived breach of our securityuos, the market perception of the effectivenessuofsecurity measures could be
harmed, we could lose players and advertisersyancbuld suffer significant legal and financial espre due to such events or in connection
with remediation efforts, investigation costs onakies, changed security and system protectiorsurea. Any of these actions could have a
material and adverse effect on our business, répatand operating results.

Any failure or significant interruption in our infrastructure could impact our operations and harm obusiness

Our technology infrastructure is critical to theafpemance of our games and to player satisfactiur.games run on a complex
distributed system, or what is commonly known asidlcomputing. We own, operate and maintain thaamy elements of this system, but
some elements of this system are operated by phirties that we do not control and which would meggignificant time and potential expense
to replace. We have
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experienced, and may in the future experiencejeedisruptions, outages and other performancelgmmbdue to a variety of factors, includ
infrastructure changes, human or software erratlscapacity constraints. For example, the operatfd@ityVille was interrupted for several
hours in April 2011 and the operation of most of games was interrupted for several hours in Jgn2@1t3, in each case due to network
outages. If a particular game is unavailable wHayggrs attempt to access it or navigation throughrae is slower than they expect, players
may stop playing the game and may be less liketgtiarn to the game as often, if at all. A failaresignificant interruption in our game service
would harm our reputation and operations. We haifei®ed interruptions in service when releasing seftware versions or bug fixes for
specific games in the past and if any such intéimnpvere significant it could harm our businessaputation. We expect to continue to make
significant investments to our technology infrastane to maintain and improve all aspects of playgrerience and game performance. To the
extent we do not effectively address capacity cairgs, upgrade our systems as needed and coryimieaielop our technology and network
architecture to accommodate increasing traffic,luginess and operating results may suffer. Weotlonaintain insurance policies covering
losses relating to our systems and we do not hasiaéss interruption insurance. Furthermore, osaisder recovery systems and those of thirc
parties with which we do business may not functienntended or may fail to adequately protect oitical business information in the event

a significant business interruption, which may eaunserruption in service of our games, securigagohes or the loss of data or functionality,
leading to a negative effect on our business.

We must continue to spend significant resource®ftectively manage our business and operations.

To effectively manage our business and operatiwasyill need to continue to focus on spending digant resources to improve our
technology infrastructure, our operational, fin@h@nd management controls, and our reporting systnd procedures by, among other thi

* monitoring and updating our technology infrastruetto maintain high performance and minimize doimet

» enhancing information and communication systermenture that our employees and offices around thikewace well-coordinated
and can effectively communicate with each othed

* monitoring our internal controls to ensure timehdaccurate reporting of all of our operatic

These enhancements and improvements will requpitat&xpenditures and allocation of valuable mamagnt and employee resources.

Our acquisition of NaturalMotion is significant, ad the anticipated benefits of the acquisition coldé impacted by a number of risks
specific to NaturalMotior's business, as well as by risks related to thegration process.

On February 11, 2014, we completed our acquisitfddaturalMotion. The process of integrating NalMiation’s operations into our
operations could result in unforeseen operatinficdities, absorb significant management attentaond require significant resources that w
otherwise have been available for the ongoing dgrmént of our existing operations. If we are unssstul in addressing these risks and
challenges, our business and prospects would ImedaarParticular significant risks and challengeide, but are not limited to:

» the potential lack of employee retention stemmiognfthe acquisitior
» that NaturalMotio’s games may not succeed or perform as we antidiy

» that NaturalMotion’s pipeline of future productsden development may take longer than predictect@ldp and launch or may
fail to launch at all

» the difficulty of integrating NaturalMotic's tools and technology into our current and futagbile products; an
» the risk that the implementation of our existingdals and mechanics fails to enhance NaturalM’s products
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Our business will suffer if we are unable to sucegslly acquire or integrate acquired companies intair business or otherwise manage the
growth associated with multiple acquisition

We have acquired businesses, personnel and tede®lo the past and we intend to continue to etaland pursue acquisitions and
strategic investments. These acquisitions andegfi@tnvestments could be material to our financa@idition or results of operations.

Challenges and risks from such investments andisitiqas include:

negative effects on products and product pipeliamfthe changes and potential disruption that mgw the acquisition
diversion of our managem¢'s attention away from our busine

declining employee morale and retention issuedtiegufrom changes in compensation, or changesanagement, reporting
relationships, or future prospec

significant competition from other game companieshe social game industry consolida

the need to integrate the operations, systemsnyoémfies, products and personnel of each acquoatpany, the inefficiencies and
lack of control that may result if such integratisrdelayed or not implemented, and unforeseercdiffes and expenditures that
may arise in connection with integratic

the difficulty in determining the appropriate puaske price of acquired companies may lead to thgpayenent from certain
acquisitions and the potential impairment of infateyassets and goodwill acquired in the acquisdj

the difficulty in successfully evaluating and witig the acquired products, technology or persar

the potential incurrence of debt, contingent lisiles, amortization expenses or restructuring cbsuig connection with any
acquisition;

the need to implement controls, procedures andipslappropriate for a larger public company at ganfes that prior to
acquisition had lacked such controls, procedurespaticies;

the difficulty in accurately forecasting and acctiog for the financial impact of an acquisitionrigaction, including accounting
charges and integrating and reporting resultsdéquied companies that do not historically followBUGAAP;

under purchase accounting, we may be requiredite wff deferred revenue which may impair our apito recognize revenue that
would have otherwise been recognizable which maathour financial performance or that of the ampicompany

risks associated with our expansion into new irggomal markets and doing business internationadtuding those described
under the risk factor captiorekpansion into international markets is importamtdur strategy, and as we expand internationai¢
will face additional business, political, regulatooperational, financial and economic risks, ahwhbich could increase our costs
and hinder our effor” elsewhere in this Annual Report on Forn-K;

in the case of foreign acquisitions, the need tegrate operations across different cultures anguages and to address the
particular economic, currency, political and regoig risks associated with specific countri

in some cases, the need to transition operatiothplayers onto our existing or new platforms arelgbtential loss of, or harm to,
our relationships with employees, players and otepliers as a result of integration of new busses

in certain instances, the ability to exert contbhcquired businesses that include earnout pavisin the agreements relating to
such acquisitions or the potential obligation todwan earnout for a product that has not met eafieos;
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» our dependence on the accuracy and completenssstefents and disclosures made or actions takérelyompanies we acquire
or their representatives, when conducting duedilagg and evaluating the results of such due ditigeanc

» liability for activities of the acquired companyfbee the acquisition, including intellectual progyeand other litigation claims or
disputes, information security vulnerabilities, eitions of laws, rules and regulations, commergigputes, tax liabilities and other
known and unknown liabilities

The benefits of an acquisition or investment mayp ahke considerable time to develop, and we camnaertain that any particular
acquisition or investment will produce the intendkeshefits, which could adversely affect our bussresd operating results. Our ability to gr
through future acquisitions will depend on the kalglity of suitable acquisition and investment datates at an acceptable cost, our ability to
compete effectively to attract these candidatestia@dvailability of financing to complete largeaisitions. Acquisitions could result in
potential dilutive issuances of equity securitigse of significant cash balances or incurrenceebt ¢and increased interest expense), contil
liabilities or amortization expenses related tangible assets or write-offs of goodwill and/omingible assets, which could adversely affect
our results of operations and dilute the economét\ating rights of our stockholders. For exampighe third quarter of 2012, we made the
decision to discontinue the development of ceri@imes associated with technology and other intégisets previously acquired from
OMGPOP and we recorded an asset impairment cha®@5db million. For more information, see Note 3Fafr Value Measurements” in the
notes to the consolidated financial statementsided elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Some of our players may make sales or purchasegrtfial goods used in our games through unauthorizer fraudulent third-party
websites, which may reduce our revenue.

Virtual goods in our games have no monetary valuside of our games. Nonetheless, some of our ayay make sales and/or
purchases of our virtual goods, suctZgaga Poker ClassiandZynga Pokewirtual poker chips, through unauthorized thirdtpaellers in
exchange for real currency. These unauthorizedaoidiilent transactions are usually arranged od-ftarty websites and the virtual goods
offered may have been obtained through unauthorizeshs such as exploiting vulnerabilities in ounga, from scamming our players with
fake offers or virtual goods or other game bengefitfrom credit card fraud. We do not generate rwenue from these transactions. These
unauthorized purchases and sales from third-patlgrs could impede our revenue and profit growthamong other things:

» decreasing revenue from authorized transact

» creating downward pressure on the prices we chaeayers for our virtual currency and virtual goo

« increasing chargebacks from unauthorized credi transactions

e causing us to lose revenue from paying playersuapartners increase their credit card fraud preoerefforts;

e causing us to lose revenue from paying players stbp playing a particular gam

» increasing costs we incur to develop technologivehsures to curtail unauthorized transacti

e generating legal claims relating to the diminutadrvalue of our virtual good:

» resulting in negative publicity or harm our repigatwith players and partners; a

* increasing customer support costs to respond satiédied players

To discourage unauthorized purchases and salag efrtual goods, we state in our terms of serviwd the buying or selling of virtual

currency and virtual goods from unauthorized thiedty sellers may result in bans from our gamdegail action. We have banned players as

result of such activities. We have also filed laitssagainst third parties attempting to “sell” visd goods from our games, particularly poker
chips from
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Zynga Poker outside of our games. We have also employed t#obital measures to help detect unauthorized aictions and continue to
develop additional methods and processes by whe&ham identify unauthorized transactions and bkah transactions. However, there can
be no assurance that our efforts to prevent ormikg these unauthorized or fraudulent transactidhde successful.

The value of our virtual goods is highly dependeatt how we manage the economies in our games. Iffaieto manage our game economi
properly, our business may suffe

Paying players purchase virtual goods in our gameesause of the perceived value of these goods vidhibpendent on the relative ease
of securing an equivalent good via non-paid meattimthe game. The perceived value of these Vigoads can be impacted if one of our
platform providers offers discounted local currecyther incentives to our players, or by variaagons that we take in the games including
offering discounts for virtual goods, giving awaytwal goods in promotions or providing easier rpaid means to secure these goods. If we
fail to manage our virtual economies properly, pldymay be less likely to purchase virtual goods@m business may suffer.

If we are able to develop negames that achieve success, it is possible thatatgames could divert players of our other gamethouit
growing our overall user base, which could harm gpéng results.

Although it is important to our future success twatdevelop new games that become popular withepdayt is possible that these games
could cause players to reduce their playing tine @urchase of virtual items in our existing ganWwe. plan to crosgromote our new games
our other games, which could encourage playersisfieg games to divert some of their playing tiem® spend on existing games. If new
games do not grow our player base or generatecmrffinew bookings to offset any declines from atiner games, our bookings and revenue
could be adversely affected.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues froadvertisements and offers that are incorporatetbi our free-to-play games through
relationships with third parties. If we lose the #ity to provide these advertisements and offers émy reason, or if any events occur that
negatively impact the revenues we receive from ¢hesurces, it would negatively impact our operatirggults.

We derive revenues from our free-to-play gamesghan-app purchases, advertisements and offeranééeporate advertisements and
offers into our games by implementing third paftsstware development kits and we have directti@teships with third parties regarding
advertising. We rely on these third parties to tw# our advertising relationships and/or to previd with a sufficient inventory of
advertisements and offers to meet the demand afigerrbase. If direct advertising relationshipsngfeaor we exhaust the available inventor
these third parties, it will negatively impact aawvenues. If our relationship with any of thesedlgarties terminates for any reason, or if the
commercial terms of our relationships do not cargito be renewed on favorable terms, we would teé&mtate and implement other third-
party solutions, which could negatively impact cewenues, at least in the short term. Furthermbeetevenues that we derive from
advertisements and offers is subject to seasonaktgompanies’ advertising budgets are generahelst during the fourth quarter and decline
significantly in the first quarter of the followingear, which negatively impacts our revenues irfitis¢ quarter (and conversely significantly
increases our marketing expenses in the fourthigar

Any restructuring actions and cost reduction initi@es that we undertake may not deliver te xpected results and these actions may
adversely affect our business.

In 2013 and 2014, we implemented certain restringuactions and cost reduction initiatives to breéléggn our operating expenses with
our revenue, including reducing our headcountoratiizing our product pipeline, reducing marketargl technology expenditures and
consolidating and closing certain facilities, anel ptan to continue to manage costs to better arrd efticiently manage our business. We alsc
recently announced we are closing our studio ifilggiChina. Our restructuring plans and other seffbrts could result in disruptions to our
operations and adversely affect our business.
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We expect to continue to actively monitor our cpktsvever, if we do not fully realize or maintalretanticipated benefits of any
restructuring actions and cost reduction initiagiveur business could be adversely affected. litiaddwe cannot be sure that the cost
reduction initiatives will be as successful in reithg our overall expenses as expected or thatiaddltcosts will not offset any such reductic
If our operating costs are higher than we expedtwe do not maintain adequate control of our s@std expenses, our operating results will
suffer.

In addition, our cost-cutting measures could neghtiimpact our business including delaying theddtiction of new games, impairing
our control environment, delaying introduction @wntechnology, impacting employee retention andateor

We have a history of net losses and our revenuakiogs and operating margins may decline. We alsaynincur substantial net losses in
the future and may not achieve profitability.

The industry in which we operate is highly competitand rapidly changing, and relies heavily oncegsful new product launches and
compelling content, products and services. As sifiete fail to deliver such content, products aedvices, do not execute our strategy
successfully or if our new content launches areyks, our revenue, bookings and audience numbersiewine, and our operating results \
suffer. We have incurred significant losses simogption, including a net loss of $209 million @12, a net loss of $37 thousand in 2013 and
net loss of $226 million for 2014. As of Decembér 3014, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.2duill

In addition, we believe that our operating margil @ontinue to experience downward pressure asalt of increasing competition. We
expect to continue to expend substantial finaramal other resources on game development, includutgjle games, our technology stack,
game engines, game technology and tools, the exgaofour network and international expansion. Operating costs will increase and our
operating margins may decline if we do not effegdirumanage costs, launch new products on schelgatertonetize successfully and enhance
our franchise games so that these games continuertetize successfully. In addition, weak econotoiaditions or other factors could cause
our business to further contract, requiring usriplement significant additional cost cutting measuyincluding a decrease in research and
development, which could harm our long-term prospec

If our revenues do not increase to offset theséiaddl expenses, if we experience unexpected &sag in operating expenses or if we
are required to take additional charges relatéchpairments or restructurings, we will continudriour losses and will not become profitable
on a sustained basis. If we are unable to sigmifigancrease our revenues or reduce our expeiises, continue to negatively affect our
operating results and our ability to achieve arstain profitability.

Our revenue, bookings and operating margins may e

The industry in which we operate is highly competitand rapidly changing, and relies heavily oncegsful new product launches and
compelling content, products and services. As sifiete fail to deliver such content, products aedvices, do not execute our strategy
successfully or if our new content launches areyks, our revenue, bookings and audience numbersiewine, and our operating results \
suffer. In addition, we believe that our operatmgrgin will continue to experience downward pressas a result of increasing competition.
We expect to continue to expend substantial firedrazid other resources on game development, imgudbbile games, our technology stack,
game engines, game technology and tools and intenahexpansion. Our operating costs will increasd our operating margins may decline
if we do not effectively manage costs, launch nemdpcts on schedule that monetize successfullyeahdnce our franchise games so that
these games continue to monetize successfullydditian, weak economic conditions or other facwoald cause our business to contract,
requiring us to implement significant additionabtoutting measures, including a decrease in relseard development, which could harm our
long-term prospects.
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We rely on assumptions and estimates to calculagain of our key metrics, and real or perceivedaitcuracies in such metrics may harm
our reputation and negatively affect our business.

The numbers of our daily active users (“DAUS"), rttdn active users (“MAUS") monthly unique payerdqUPs”), monthly unique usel
(“MUUSs") and average bookings per daily users (“ABIPare calculated using metrics tracked by oueiinal analytics systems based on
tracking activity of user accounts. The analytigstems and the resulting data have not been indepdy verified. While these numbers are
based on what we believe to be reasonable calonsafor the applicable period of measurement, thezénherent challenges in measuring
usage and user engagement across our user bafsetamd relating to user activity and systems mnmagact these numbers. The calculation of
these metrics and examples of how user activityamdystems may impact the calculation of the icets described in detail under the
heading titled “Management’s Discussion and AnalygdiFinancial Condition and Results of Operatiom@y-Metrics.”

As we transition our business to focus on mobitedpcts, there is more likelihood of having diffigutalculating these metrics.

We are unable to distinguish whether a player ofecu NaturalMotion games is also a player of agéygame. As a result of this we
exclude NaturalMotion players from our calculatmfrMUU to avoid potential double counting. Thisusshas been resolved for future
NaturalMotion releases, so players of new gamesaseld by NaturalMotion in 2015 and beyond willl@uded in our MUU calculation

Our advertisers and investors rely on our key rogtas a representation of our performance. We adgukview and may adjust our
processes for calculating our internal metricsripriove their accuracy. If we determine that we matonger calculate any of our key metrics
with a sufficient degree of accuracy, and we cafindtan adequate replacement for the metric, osirness or revenue may be harmed. In
addition, if advertisers, platform partners or istees do not perceive our user metrics to be ateuepresentations of our user base or user
engagement, or if we discover material inaccuraiciesir user metrics, our reputation may be hararetladvertisers and platform partners
be less willing to allocate their budgets or researto our products and services, which could neggtaffect our business and operating
results.

If we fail to effectively manage our human resouigeour business may suffe

Our ability to compete and grow depends in large ga the efforts and talents of our employeesearetutives. Our success depends
large part upon the continued service of our semi@nagement team. In particular, our Chief Exeeuficer, Don Mattrick, is critical to our
vision, strategic direction, culture, products &achnology. We do not have employment agreemettisr than offer letters, with our senior
management team and we do not maintainrkey-insurance for Mr. Mattrick or any other membieour senior management team. The los
our Chief Executive Officer or other members ofisemanagement could harm our business.

In addition, our ability to execute our strategpeeds on our continued ability to identify, hireyélop motivate and retain highly skilled
employees, particularly game designers, productagens and engineers. These employees are in higande and we devote significant
resources to identifying, recruiting, hiring, trimg, successfully integrating and retaining thene kéve experienced significant turnover in ou
headcount over the last year, which has placedwlhdontinue to place significant demands on oan@agement and our operational, financial
and technological infrastructure. As of December2fiil4, approximately 42% of our employees had batnus for less than one year and
approximately 55% for less than two years.

We believe that two critical components of our sscand our ability to retain our best people arecalture and our competitive
compensation practices. As we continue to devdleprtfrastructure of a public company, we may firdifficult to maintain our
entrepreneurial, execution-focused culture. Intoldi our recent operating results, the declineuinrevenue and the current trading price of
our Class A common stock
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may cause our employee base to be more vulnemble tiargeted for recruitment by competitors. Sofmeur employees may have been
motivated to work for us by an expectation that Glass A common stock would be trading at a higfadwe and may be less motivated by the
equity compensation they receive as a result. Cttopemay leverage any resulting disappointmerd &0l to recruit talented employees.
Competition for highly skilled employees is intepparticularly in the San Francisco Bay Area, whareheadquarters is located. If we are
unable to retain our senior management team ankleyuemployees, are unable to continue to hirelhigkilled employees our business could
be harmed. Moreover, if our team fails to work tihge effectively to execute our plans and strategiea timely basis, our business could be
harmed.

We have historically hired a number of key persétim®ugh acquisitions, and as competition witheothame companies for attractive
target companies with a skilled employee base @s&®, we may incur significant expenses in comtinthis practice. In addition, our recent
operating results, the decline in our revenue hecttirrent trading price of our Class A commonlistoay negatively impact our perceived
reputation and make it more difficult and more exgree to recruit new employees. The loss of talketaployees or the inability to hire skill
employees as replacements could result in signifidesruptions to our business, and the integratioreplacement personnel could be time-
consuming and expensive and cause additional disngxto our business. If we do not succeed inuigng, retaining, and motivating our key
employees to achieve a high level of successweiflo not attract new key personnel, we may belertalzontinue to launch new games and
enhance existing games, including in each caseailen expand our network, or execute our busisésgegy, and as a result, our business
may suffer.

Our core values of focusing on our players first dracting for the long term may conflict with the sht-term interests of our business.

One of our core values is to focus on surprising) @lighting our players, which we believe is etis¢to our success and serves the |
long-term interests of Zynga and our stockhold€ngrefore, we have made in the past and we may make future, significant investments
or changes in strategy that we think will beneéitiu the long term, even if our decision negativedpacts our operating results in the short
term. For example, in early 2013, we decided toahtinue development of certain games that weggraily expected to be released in, and
then meaningfully contribute to bookings for, tleeend quarter of 2013, in order to focus on gam#stive potential of becoming franchise
games that drive long-term enterprise value. Algiothese discontinued games may have offered srontbookings, we determined that they
did not contribute meaningfully to the brand and stwategy in the long-term. In the future, we cbirake decisions to balance the number of
advertisements we show in games based on conseawion to advertising. This type of decision magréase consumer satisfaction and
decrease bookings in the short-term. Our decigiwmg not result in the long-term benefits that wpest, in which case the success of our
games, business and operating results could becldarm

An increasing number of individuals are utilizingeVices other than personal computers to accesdtiternet, and versions of our game
developed for these devices might not gain wideagradoption, or may not function as intended.

The number of individuals who access the Intermegtugh devices other than a personal computer, asisimart phones, handheld
computers such as net books and tablets, telegisutieo game consoles and set-top box devicesnbi@ased dramatically, and we believe
this trend is likely to continue. Certain of oumges or versions of our games may not be compdhtindayers on such devices. In addition,
each device manufacturer or platform provider netgaldish unique or restrictive terms and Mobilerssdso frequently change or upgrade
their mobile devices. Our business and operatiaglt®may be harmed if our players do not instatlgames when they change or upgrader
their device.

To expand our business, we will need to suppottraber of alternative devices and technologies. Q@ieseloped, we may choose to
or convert a game into separate versions for atamm devices with different
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technological requirements. As new devices and melile platforms or updates to platforms are carglly being released, we may encounte
problems in developing versions of our games ferarsthese alternative devices and we may neeevimtel significant resources to the
creation, support and maintenance of such devitgplkatforms. If we are unable to successfully expthe platforms and devices on which
our games are available, or if the versions ofgames that we create for alternative platformsdewices are not compelling to our players,
our business will suffer. For example, in Septen#r4, we released a new version of our poker ioffehat was intended to reimagine the
game with an entirely new experience for mobile eepdace the original game for mobile applicatidbse to playability issues, some players
playing on older devices reported that they wettehawing a smooth and seamless experience anththapreferred the classic design and |
style of the original game. This resulted in ushbmaving to address the issues impacHygga Pokeso that it would offer a more optimal
player experience and re-laungéyinga Poker Classieyhich offers familiar gameplay that stays true tw waditional poker experience. To hi
more successful game launches in the future, wenedld to hire and retain engineers with the eigeetb develop games and game updates c
mobile platforms, better anticipate technical apdrational issues in connection with a launch sbtiey can be addressed prior to launch an
stay true to our consumer-centric approach to aetimaking to offer optimal player experiencesw# are unsuccessful in any of these
endeavors, or are otherwise unable to keep uprayidly changing technology, to offer new games gawhe updates that appeal to our playel
base or to monetize our mobile games, our businiissuffer.

If the use of mobile devices as game platforms ahnel proliferation of mobile devices generally dotrincrease, our business could |
adversely affected.

We have shifted our business to focus on mobist fjfames over the last year. The number of peitgy umobile Internet-enabled
devices has increased dramatically in the past/fsars and we expect that this trend will contirtdewever, the mobile market, particularly
market for mobile games is still emerging and itymat grow as we anticipate. Our future successilxstantially dependent upon the contir
growth of the market for mobile games. The mobibrkat may not continue to grow at historic rated eonsumers may not continue to use
mobile-Internet enabled devices as a platform fangs. In addition, we do not currently offer oumga on all mobile devices. If the mobile
devices on which our games are available declipmpularity we could experience a decline in bogkiand revenue. Any decline in the
growth of the mobile market or in the use of mobliéices for games could harm our business.

We have a new business model and a short operahistpry, which make it difficult to evaluate our pspects and future financial results
and may increase the risk that we will not be susskil.

We began operations in April 2007, and became piyllisted in December 2011, and we have a shataimg history and a new
business model, which make it difficult to effeefiy assess our future prospects. Our business nhdased on offering games that are free
play. To date, only a small portion of our playpay for our products. We cannot assure that amupgfforts will be successful or result in the
development or timely launch of additional productsultimately produce any material revenue.

We may choose to exit the real money gaming madanhpletely to focus on our core business and, if@lect to participate in this market,
our efforts may not be successful.

In October 2012, we entered into an agreementBuithn. Party Digital Entertainment plc (“bwin.partytd develop, test and operate
certain real money online poker and casino gaméseitunited Kingdom. In the second quarter of 2048 Jaunched our first real money
gaming (RMG) offeringsZzyngaPlusPokeandZyngaPlusCasingin the United Kingdom in connection with this agment. We are evaluating
our RMG products in the United Kingdom to determivieether or not they are on strategy and aligned aur near term market opportunities
and priorities. We may decide these products anticgEation in regulated markets globally is cotsig with near term market opportunities
and priorities or we may decide to exit the markée cannot provide assurance that our RMG prodociany products or partnerships we r
launch in the future will be successful, or ultiglgtproduce any material revenue.

28



Table of Contents

In 2013, we decided to withdraw our applicatiomirthe Nevada Gaming Control Board and made thestxtehoice not to pursue a
license for real money gaming in other U.S. jugsidins at this time in order to focus our resoured priorities on what we believe is our
biggest opportunity, free to play social games. @raision may not result in the long-term bendfits we expect, in which case the success ¢
our business and operating results could be harmexbnnection with our decision to refocus on oaire free to play business, we are
evaluating our participation in global RMG markéfsve elect to participate in global regulated k&s, gaming laws may require us, each of
our subsidiaries engaged in gaming operationsaiceof our directors, officers and employees, ansodme cases, our stockholders, to obtain
licenses or findings of suitability from gaming hatities. Gaming authorities have very broad disonein determining whether an applicant
qualifies for a license or should be deemed swétdblwe are required to obtain a license to pgudie in a global RMG market, we cannot
provide assurance that we will be able to obtdinemse in a timely fashion or that we will be atweobtain a license at all.

In addition, regulatory and legislative developnsgiricluding excessive taxation, may prevent onificantly limit our ability, or the
ability of any entity with which we may partnertime future, to enter into or succeed in RMG. Becmgriamiliar with and complying with
these requirements will increase our costs andestubpr business to greater scrutiny by regulatonsany different jurisdictions. If our brand
becomes associated with RMG we may lose curregemaadvertisers or partners or have difficultyagting new players, advertisers or
partners, which could adversely impact our business

In addition, if we or our partners operate our RgBnes in a negative manner, if players are legiedtthan expected with the games
provided or if we or our partners fail to complytvregulatory requirements, our reputation coulddtheersely affected and we may not realize
the anticipated benefits of this line of businesa/e may lose players and we may curtail our effortthe RMG market.

Our international operations are subject to incread challenges and risks.

Continuing to expand our business to attract pirecountries other than the United States istealrelement of our business strategy.
An important part of targeting international maskest developing offerings that are localized anst@mized for the players in those markets.
We have a limited operating history as a comparigide of the United States. We expect to contiouexpand our international operations in
the future by expanding our offerings in new larggs Our ability to expand our business and tacttalented employees and players in an
increasing number of international markets willuieg considerable management attention and resparais subject to the particular
challenges of supporting a rapidly growing busiriasm environment of multiple languages, cultupesstoms, legal systems, alternative
dispute systems, regulatory systems and comménéiaktructures. We have experienced difficultie$hie past and have not been successt
all the countries we have entered. For exampleeaently announced that we are closing our officBeijing, China because its recent game
launches and product localization initiatives amemeeting expectations. We may not be able ta offie games in certain countries. Expan
our international focus may subject us to risk$ th@have not faced before or increase risks tieatwvrently face, including risks associated
with:

e recruiting and retaining talented and capable mamagt and employees in foreign countr
» challenges caused by distance, language and duitfeaences
» developing and customizing games and other offerihgt appeal to the tastes and preferences ddrglaty international market

» competition from local game makers with intelle¢toperty rights and significant market sharehioge markets and with a better
understanding of player preferenc

» utilizing, protecting, defending and enforcing antellectual property rights

* negotiating agreements with local distribution foans that are sufficiently economically benefidialus and protective of our
rights;
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» the inability to extend proprietary rights in ouahd, content or technology into new jurisdictic

* implementing alternative payment methods for virg@ods in a manner that complies with local lawd practices and protects us
from fraud;

» compliance with applicable foreign laws and regated, including privacy laws and laws relating tmtent and consumer
protection (For example, the United Kingdom’s Odfiaf Fair Trading issued new principles in Jan2d¥4 relating to in-app
purchases in freto-play games that are directed toward children 16uantter, which principles became effective in AROI14);

» compliance with an-bribery laws including without limitation, compliae with the Foreign Corrupt Practices A
» credit risk and higher levels of payment fra

» currency exchange rate fluctuatio

» protectionist laws and business practices thatrflogal businesses in some countr

» double taxation of our international earnings aatkptially adverse tax consequences due to changles tax laws of the United
States or the foreign jurisdictions in which we Kate;

e political, economic and social instabilit

» higher costs associated with doing business intiemelly;
e export or import regulations; ai

» trade and tariff restriction:

If we are unable to manage the complexity of oobgl operations successfully, our business, firsdmandition and operating results
could be adversely affected. Additionally, our #pito successfully gain market acceptance in anyiqular market is uncertain, and the
distraction of our senior management team coulchhaur business.

Our existing and potential players may be attractedcompeting forms of entertainment such as offfimnd traditional online games,
television, movies and sports, as well as otheeeainment options on the Internet.

Our players face a vast array of entertainmentogtsiOther forms of entertainment, such as offliraglitional online, personal computer
and console games, television, movies, sports, RidGthe Internet, are much larger and more wedlstished markets and may be perceived
by our players to offer greater variety, affordapjlinteractivity and enjoyment. These other forofi€ntertainment compete for the
discretionary time and income of our players. Ifave unable to sustain sufficient interest in aumngs in comparison to other forms of
entertainment, including new forms of entertainment business model may no longer be viable.

Competition in our industry is intense and therealow barriers to entry.

Our industry is highly competitive and we expectrencompanies to enter the sector and a wider rahgecial games to be introduced.
Our competitors that develop games for networkdyath web and mobile, vary in size and include canigs such as DeNA Co. Ltd. (Japan),
Electronic Arts Inc., Gameloft SA, GREE Internaéginc., Glu Mobile Inc., King.com Inc., Rovio M Ltd., Supercell Inc., GungHo
Online Entertainment, Inc., Kabam and The Walt Bis@ompany. In addition, online game developersdisttibutors who are primarily
focused on specific international markets, suchiexxcent Holdings Limited in Asia, and high-profilempanies with significant online
presences that to date have not developed socisgyasuch as Facebook, Apple Inc., Google IncMintbsoft Corporation, may decide to
develop social games. Some of these current amhii@it competitors have significant resources fraloping or acquiring additional games,
may be able to incorporate their own strong bramdbassets into their games, have a more divatséeof
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revenue sources than we do and may be less sewadfetyed by changes in consumer preferences,atguos or other developments that may
impact our industry. In addition, we have limitegperience in developing games for mobile and optesiforms and our ability to succeed on
those platforms is uncertain. We expect new gamgpetitors to enter the market and existing competito allocate more resources to dev
and market competing games and applications.

As there are relatively low barriers to entry twelep a mobile or online casual game, we expectgeswe competitors to enter the
market and existing competitors to allocate moseueces to develop and market competing gamesppiitations. We also compete or will
compete with a vast number of small companies adididuals who are able to create and launch gandsther content for devices and
platforms using relatively limited resources anthwelatively limited start-up time or expertisenélproliferation of titles in these open
developer channels makes it difficult for us tdefiéntiate ourselves from other developers anatopete for players without substantially
increasing our marketing expenses and developnosts.dncreasing competition could result in lokplayers, loss of talent or loss of our
ability to acquire new players in a cost-effectimanner, all of which could harm our business.

Our revenue may be harmed by the proliferation afieating” programs and scam offers that seek to kexipour games and players affects
the game-playing experience and may lead playersttp playing our games.

Unrelated third parties have developed, and matirnosmto develop, “cheating” programs that enaltdggrs to exploit vulnerabilities in
our games, play them in an automated way or olotaiiair advantages over other players who do pladyfahese programs harm the
experience of players who play fairly, may disrti virtual economies of our games and may recheeelémand for virtual items. In addition,
unrelated third parties attempt to scam our plawatts fake offers for virtual goods or other gamanbfits. We devote significant resources to
discover and disable these programs and activiies jif we are unable to do so quickly our operetimay be disrupted, our reputation
damaged and players may stop playing our games.rii&y lead to lost revenue from paying playergeiased cost of developing technolog
measures to combat these programs and activitigal tlaims relating to the diminution in valueoofr virtual currency and goods, and
increased customer service costs needed to respatissatisfied players.

We may be required to record impairment relatedbiar goodwill, intangible assets or other long-livegsets if our market capitalization
declines below our net asset value or if our finaakcperformance and/or condition deteriorates.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $1.03 billion addywill, intangible assets and other loligd assets. Our February 2014 acquisitic
NaturalMotion increased our reported goodwill amingible assets. If our market capitalization ibesl below our net asset value or if
financial performance and/or condition deteriorates may have to impair our goodwill, intangibleets or other long-lived assets, which
could adversely impact our results of operatiorgfarancial position. For example, in the third geaof 2012, we made the decision to
discontinue the development of certain games assativith technology and other intangible assetsipusly acquired from OMGPOP, Inc.
and we recorded an asset impairment charge of $8#lin. In addition, in the third quarter of 2018 recorded an intangible asset
impairment charge of $10.2 million related to vasggrior acquisitions. For more information, seg¢eN&—"Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” in the notes to the consolidated finarstialements included elsewhere in this Annual Regoform 10-K.

Failure to protect or enforce our intellectual pragty rights or the costs involved in such enforcembeould harm our business and
operating results.

We regard the protection of our trade secrets, iigips, trademarks, service marks, trade dressadomames, patents, and other produc
rights as critical to our success. We strive tdgubour intellectual property rights by relying faderal, state and common law rights, as we
contractual restrictions. We enter into

31



Table of Contents

confidentiality and invention assignment agreemauitis our employees and contractors and confidétytiagreements with parties with whom
we conduct business in order to limit access td,disclosure and use of, our proprietary informatidowever, these contractual arrangement
and the other steps we have taken to protect telténtual property may not prevent the misappmtdjrn of our proprietary information or
deter independent development of similar technekogly others.

We pursue the registration of our copyrights, tradeks, service marks, domain names, and patethg idnited States and in certain
locations outside the United States. This procaashe expensive and time-consuming, may not alvaysiccessful depending on local laws
or other circumstances, and we also may choospurstie registrations in every location dependinghemature of the project to which the
intellectual property rights pertain. We may, otiare, increase our investments in protecting oaative works through increased copyright
filings and our brands through increased traderaackother filings. Likewise, we may, over time,rie&se our investment in protecting our
innovations through increased patent filings thatexpensive and time-consuming and may not resigsued patents that can be effectively
enforced. The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act (theahy-Smith Act”) was adopted in September 201ie Teahy-Smith Act includes a
number of significant changes to United Statesmd#av, including provisions that affect the waygra applications will be prosecuted, which
could be detrimental to investors, and may alsecafbatent litigation. The Leahy-Smith Act anditgplementation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecofiour patent applications and the enforcemeidedense of our issued patents, all of which
could harm our business.

Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intéllatproperty rights, protect our trade secretdetermine the validity and scope of
proprietary rights claimed by others. For example historically have brought several actions tagebour “Zynga Poker,” “Ville,” and “With
Friends” franchises against third-party uses os¢hiotellectual property assets and brands. Aigation of this nature, regardless of outcome
or merit, could result in substantial costs, adwgrsblicity, or diversion of management and techlniesources, any of which could adversely
affect our business and operating results. If vilddanaintain, protect and enhance our intellekpraperty rights, our business and operating
results may be harmed.

Our ability to acquire and maintain licenses to mltectual property, affects our revenue and profitiity. Competition for these licenses may
make them more expensive and increase our costs.

While most of the intellectual property we usersated by us, we have also acquired rights to ptay intellectual property. We have
also obtained rights to use intellectual propantptigh licenses and service agreements with tlartigs. We use licensed intellectual property
as a creative asset in certain games sutloasey Tunes Dash!, NFL ShowdoandHit It Rich! Slotsand have built many of our games on
proprietary source code, such as Unity. Propridieenses typically limit our use of intellectuabperty to specific uses and for specific time
periods. Competition for licenses for creative tsgeintense. If we are unable to maintain thesmbes or obtain additional licenses on
reasonable economic terms or with significant conesiaévalue, our revenue and profitability may lolwersely impacted. Competition for
these licenses may also increase the advancesngeies and royalties that we must pay to the laremghich could significantly increase our
costs and adversely affect our profitability.

Many of our games are built on propriety sourceegcaich as Unity. If we are unable to renew licerisgroprietary source code
underlying our games, or the terms and conditidribese licenses change at the time of renewabosiness, operations and revenue could b
negatively impacted. We rely on third parties, urlthg Unity, to maintain versions of their propast engines that allow us to ship our games
on multiple platforms. If a third party from whonmeviicense source code discontinues support fooongore of these platforms, our business
could be negatively impacted.
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We are, and may in the future be, subject to inéellual property disputes, which are costly to defeand could require us to pay significant
damages and could limit our ability to use certaiechnologies in the future.

From time to time, we have faced, and we expefade in the future, allegations that we have imfeid the trademarks, copyrights,
patents and other intellectual property rightshaftt parties, including from our competitors, npracticing entities and former employers of
personnel. Patent and other intellectual propéigation may be protracted and expensive, andehealts are difficult to predict. As the result
of any court judgment or settlement, we may begalddid to cancel the launch of a new game, stopindgf@ game or certain features of a gams
in a particular geographic region or worldwide, payalties or significant settlement costs, purehiaenses or modify our games and feature:
or develop substitutes.

In addition, we use open source software in ouregaand expect to continue to use open source geffwahe future. From time to time,
we may face claims from companies that incorposgen source software into their products, clainangership of, or demanding release of,
the source code, the open source software andiieatiee works that were developed using such saféyor otherwise seeking to enforce the
terms of the applicable open source license. Thleéms could also result in litigation, requiretogpurchase a costly license or require us to
devote additional research and development resetwoehange our games, any of which would havegathe effect on our business and
operating results.

We are involved in legal proceedings that may resnladverse outcomes.

We may be involved in claims, suits, governmengestigations, and proceedings arising in the orglicaurse of our business, including
actions with respect to intellectual property clgjrprivacy, data protection or law enforcement erafttax matters, labor and employment
claims, commercial claims, as well as stockhold®ivéitive actions, class action lawsuits, and othatters. Such claims, suits, government
investigations, and proceedings are inherently tiaiteand their results cannot be predicted wittadety. Regardless of their outcomes, such
legal proceedings can have an adverse impact beasise of legal costs, diversion of managemenbtre personnel, and other factors. In
addition, it is possible that a resolution of omemmre such proceedings could result in liabilggnalties, or sanctions, as well as judgments,
consent decrees, or orders preventing us frominfferertain features, functionalities, productsservices, or requiring a change in our
business practices, products or technologies, wdacitd in the future materially and adversely aff@er business, operating results, and
financial condition. See the section titled “Leddtters” included in Note 12—*Commitments and Cog#ncies” in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements included elsewfrethis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Programming errors or flaws in our games could haraur reputation or decrease market acceptance of games, which would harm ou
operating results.

Our games may contain errors, bugs, flaws or ctedugdata, and these defects may only become apdtentheir launch, particularly
as we launch new games and rapidly release newrésatio existing games under tight time constraivis believe that if our players have a
negative experience with our games, they may Iseifetined to continue or resume playing our ganragcommend our games to other
potential players. Undetected programming errcame vulnerabilities that may be exploited by chrepfirograms and other forms of
misappropriation, game defects and data corrugi@ondisrupt our operations, adversely affect thieegaxperience of our players by allowing
players to gain unfair advantage, misappropriat®e&i goods, harm our reputation, cause our playessop playing our games, divert our
resources and delay market acceptance of our gamgsf which could result in legal liability to @s harm our operating results.
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Evolving regulations, industry standards and pramtis by platform providers concerning data privacuéd prevent us from providing ou
games to our players, or require us to modify owarges, thereby harming our busines

The regulatory framework for privacy issues worldevis currently in flux and is likely to remain f& the foreseeable future. Practices
regarding the collection, use, storage, transmisaial security of personal information by companiesrating over the Internet and mobile
platforms are under increased public scrutiny, ewidl claims alleging liability for the breach ofth privacy have been asserted against us. Tl
U.S. government, including the Federal Trade Corsimis the Department of Commerce, U.S. Congresbkyarious State Attorneys General
are continuing to review the need for greater raguh for the collection of information concerniognsumer behavior on the Internet, inclut
regulation aimed at restricting certain targetedeaiising practices. There is also increased atterteing given to the collection of data from
minors. For instance, the Children’s Online Privcgtection Act requires companies to obtain palertnsent before collecting personal
information from children under the age of 13. tldion, the European Union has proposed reforniis texisting data protection legal
framework, which may result in a greater compliabaaden for companies with users in Europe. Vargmgernment and consumer agencies
have also called for new regulation and changésdinstry practices. For example, in February 284€ California Attorney General
announced a deal with Amazon, Apple, Google, Haviatkard, Microsoft and Research in Motion torgjthen privacy protection for users
that download third-party apps to smartphones ahlbt devices. Additionally, in January 2014, tleel€ral Trade Commission announced a
settlement with Apple related to in in-app purclsasede by minors.

We began operations in 2007. While our administeasind technical systems have developed rapidingour earlier history our
practices relating to intellectual property, dat&gcy and security, and legal compliance may rvehbeen as robust as they are now, and
may be unasserted claims arising from this petiatlwe are not able to anticipate. In addition, lmusiness, including our ability to operate
expand internationally, could be adversely affedtéalvs or regulations are adopted, interpretediplemented in a manner that is
inconsistent with our current business practicebkthat require changes to these practices, thgmesiour website, games, features or our
privacy policies. In particular, the success of business has been, and we expect will continbe talriven by our ability to responsibly use
the data that our players share with us. Therefarebusiness could be harmed by any significaahgk to applicable laws, regulations or
industry practices or the requirements of platf@noviders regarding the use or disclosure of datgptayers choose to share with us, age
verification, underage players or the manner inclwhihe express or implied consent of consumersufon use and disclosure is obtained. Sucl
changes may require us to modify our game featumdsadvertising practices, possibly in a materiahner, and may limit our ability to use
data that our players share with us.

We process, store and use personal information atlder data, which subjects us to governmental regfidn and other legal obligations
related to privacy, information security, data pesttion, consumer protection and protection of mirsoand our actual or perceived failure to
comply with such obligations could harm our busirges

We receive, store and process personal informatiohother player data, and we enable our playesidre their personal information
with each other and with third parties, includingtbe Internet and mobile platforms. There are mooeefederal, state and local laws around
the world regarding privacy and the storing, sh@rirse, processing, disclosure and protection kdfgomal information and other player data on
the Internet and mobile platforms, the scope ofcilaire changing, subject to differing interpretagicand may be inconsistent between
countries or conflict with other rules. We gengralbmply with industry standards and are subjethéoterms of our own privacy policies and
privacy-related obligations to third parties (indilog voluntary third-party certification bodies suas TRUSTe). We strive to comply with all
applicable laws, policies, legal obligations andaia industry codes of conduct relating to privaty data protection, to the extent reasonabl
attainable. However, it is possible that thesegattions may be interpreted and applied in a mathagris inconsistent from
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one jurisdiction to another and may conflict wither rules or our practices. It is also possibé trew laws, policies, legal obligations or
industry codes of conduct may be passed, or egitdiws, policies, legal obligations or industry esaf conduct may be interpreted in such a
way that could prevent us from being able to o$fenvices to citizens of a certain jurisdiction aayimake it more costly or difficult for us to
so. For example, if a country enacted legislati@t tequired data of their citizens gathered bynendervices to be held within the country, we
may not be able to comply with such legislatiot@mpliance could be so difficult or costly that erese not to stop offering services to
citizens of that country. Any failure or perceiviailure by us to comply with our privacy policiesjr privacy-related obligations to players or
other third parties, or our privacy-related legaligations, or any compromise of security that hssim the unauthorized release or transfer of
personally identifiable information or other playkata, may result in governmental enforcement astibitigation or public statements against
us by consumer advocacy groups or others and cawiske our players to lose trust in us, which cbale an adverse effect on our business.
Additionally, if third parties we work with, sucts glayers, vendors or developers, violate appleckws or our policies, such violations may
also put our players’ information at risk and coudurn have an adverse effect on our business.

In this area many states have passed laws requidtification to players when there is a securityazh for personal data, such as the
2002 amendment to California’s Information Praciéet, or requiring the adoption of minimum infortioa security standards that are often
vaguely defined and difficult to practically implemt. The costs of compliance with these laws maseimse in the future as a result of change
in interpretation. Moreover, in the areas of privaoformation security, data protection, consumetection and protection of minors, foreign
laws and regulations are often more restrictive ti@se in the United States. In particular, theopaan Union and its member states
traditionally have taken broader views as to tygfedata that are subject to data protection, anve lraposed legal obligations on companies ir
this regard. Any failure on our part to comply wighivs in these areas hacker may subject us tofisigmni liabilities.

Our business is subject to a variety of other Ua®d foreign laws, many of which are unsettled artillsleveloping and which could subject
us to claims or otherwise harm our business.

We are subject to a variety of laws in the Unit¢at&s and abroad, including state and Federalregarding consumer protection,
electronic marketing, protection of minors, datatection, competition, taxation, intellectual prageexport and national security, that are
continuously evolving and developing. The scopeiatetpretation of the laws that are or may be igpple to us are often uncertain and may
be conflicting, particularly laws outside the UnitStates. There is a risk that these laws maytkepireted in a manner that is not consistent
with our current practices, and could have an abreffect on our business. For example, laws ngjdt the liability of providers of online
services for activities of their users and oth@dtparties are currently being tested by a nunatbetaims, including actions based on invasion
of privacy and other torts, unfair competition, goght and trademark infringement, and other theobased on the nature and content of the
materials searched, the ads posted or the contevitlpd by users. It is also likely that as ouribass grows and evolves and our games are
played in a greater number of countries, we witldmae subject to laws and regulations in additiqurddictions. We are potentially subject to
a number of foreign and domestic laws and regulatibat affect the offering of certain types of teoit, such as that which depicts violence,
many of which are ambiguous, still evolving andlddee interpreted in ways that could harm our bessnor expose us to liability. In addition,
there are ongoing academic, political and regwatiiscussions in the United States and other jintisths regarding whether social casino
applications should be subject to a higher levalifferent type of regulation than other social gaapplications and, if so, what this regulation
should include. If new casino-themed regulatiorsiarposed certain of our casino-themed games,dimgZynga Poker, Zynga Poker Classic
andHit It Rich! Slots, may become subject to the rules and regulatindsapose us to civil and criminal penalties if deenot comply.
Heightened regulation could increase the costfiing our casino games, make our games more diffw@access, decrease our user base or
otherwise harm our business, bookings or revenuebOsiness includes real money online poker asthoaggames offerings in the United
Kingdom through an agreement with bwin.party. RMGiibject to stringent, complicated and rapidlyngirag licensing and regulatory
requirements, both federally and in each stateyedisas internationally. Although we
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are not planning to seek any direct licenses inadawor other jurisdictions in the U.S., our parshgr with bwin.party in the United Kingdom
continues as we evaluate its results.

It is difficult to predict how existing laws willdapplied to our business and the new laws to wiiiglmay become subject. If we are not
able to comply with these laws or regulations avéf become liable under these laws or regulatiwes;ould be directly harmed, and we may
be forced to implement new measures to reducexqaseire to this liability. This may require us tg@end substantial resources or to modify
our games, which would harm our business, finarmatition and results of operations. In addititwe increased attention focused upon
liability issues as a result of lawsuits and legfisk proposals could harm our reputation or otlerwmpact the growth of our business. Any
costs incurred as a result of this potential ligbdould harm our business and operating results.

It is possible that a number of laws and regulatioray be adopted or construed to apply to us itJtlieed States and elsewhere that
could restrict the online and mobile industrieguidling player privacy, advertising, taxation, eamtsuitability, copyright, distribution and
antitrust. Furthermore, the growth and developro¢etectronic commerce and virtual goods may procafls for more stringent consumer
protection laws that may impose additional burdamsompanies such as ours conducting businessgthitbie Internet and mobile devices. '
anticipate that scrutiny and regulation of our isiy will increase and we will be required to devtigal and other resources to addressing
regulation. For example, existing laws or new laegarding the marketing of in-app purchases, lagedf free-to-play games, regulation of
currency and banking institutions unclaimed propartd money transmission may be interpreted torcovegames and the virtual currency,
goods or payments that we receive. If that weigctiur we may be required to seek licenses, autitairs or approvals from relevant
regulators, the granting of which may be dependanis meeting certain capital and other requiresnandl we may be subject to additional
regulation and oversight, all of which could sigeaitly increase our operating costs. Changestireotilaws or regulations or the imposition
of new laws and regulations in the United Stateslsewhere regarding these activities may lessegntwth of social game services and
impair our business. In addition, some concernbegsn expressed in Europe and in certain countrassbcial gaming should be regulated to
protect consumers, in particular minors and persosseptible to addiction to social games. Thiceamcould lead to the adoption of
legislation or regulations that may impose adddidrurdens upon us, prohibit the offering of oumga to certain users or territories, increase
our costs or require changes to our games.

Our prospects may suffer if our network is unsuceéd.

We aspire to expand our network to leverage owtiexgj and new games to bring the best social ptpgkperiences to our audience and
further broaden to other games to ultimately créagebest experience for play that includes madrilé web players. If our network fails to
engage players or attract advertisers, we maydajenerate sufficient revenue or bookings to fystur investment in the development and
operation of our network. We may also encountenniaal and operational challenges operating a niétwo

We are subject to the terms of service of thirdypsocial networks and platforms such as Facebapgle and Google, where our games
are distributed, which may limit our ability to apée or promote our network. For example, underctiveent terms of service with Facebook,
we are limited in our ability to use a Facebookrsi$gends list and Facebook’s communication chémtepromote our network. This may
limit our ability to reach Facebook users from aatwork and may limit the number of players that aar network.

Companies and governmental agencies may restrictess to Facebook, our website, mobile applicationshe Internet generally, which
could lead to the loss or slower growth of our péaybase.

Our players generally need to access the Intemtkeiraparticular Facebook and our website to plalygames. Companies and
governmental agencies could block access to Fakebaowebsite, mobile applications or the Intemgenerally for a number of reasons such
as security or confidentiality concerns or reguiato
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reasons, or they may adopt policies that prohibipleyees from accessing Facebook, our websitehar sbcial platforms. For example, the
government of the People’s Republic of China hask#d access to Facebook in China. If companige®wernmental entities block or limit
such or otherwise adopt policies restricting playfeom playing our games, our business could bathegy impacted and could lead to the |
or slower growth of our player base.

Failure in pursuing or executing new business irgtives could have a material adverse impact on business and future strategy.

Our strategy includes evaluating, considering dfettvely executing new business initiatives, whizan be difficult. Management may
not properly ascertain or assess the risks of né@iatives, and subsequent events may alter the tigat were evaluated at the time we decide
to execute any new initiative. Entering into anyvriritiatives can also divert our management’srdaita from other business issues and
opportunities. Failure to effectively identify, pue and execute new business initiatives, inclugiltgs, may adversely affect our reputation,
business, financial condition and results of openst We believe RMG could have risks that areedéft than those associated with other nev
initiatives. In particular, RMG is subject to sgent, complicated and rapidly changing licensind segulatory requirements. Regulatory and
legislative developments, including excessive faxatmay prevent or significantly limit our abilitgr the ability of any entity with which we
may partner in the future, to enter into or sucdaee®MG. Becoming familiar with and complying withese requirements will increase our
costs and subject our business to greater scrioyimggulators in many different jurisdictions. lrdorand becomes associated with RMG we
may lose current players, advertisers or partnehaee difficulty attracting new players, adventsser partners, which could adversely impact
our business.

In addition, if we or our partners operate our RgBnes in a negative manner, if players are legiedtthan expected with the games
provided or if we or our partners fail to complytiregulatory requirements, our reputation couldtheersely affected and we may not realize
the anticipated benefits of this line of business/e may lose players and we may curtail our egfartthe RMG market.

If we fail to anticipate or successfully developweames for new technologies, platforms and devjdks quality, timeliness an
competitiveness of our games could suffer.

The games industry is characterized by rapid teldgimal changes that can be difficult to anticip&lew technologies, including
distribution platforms and gaming devices, suchassoles, connected TVs, or a combination of exgséind new devices, may force us to
adapt our current game development processes pt ade processes. If consumers shift their timglatforms other than the mobile and
social platforms where our games are currentlyitligied, the size of our audience could decline andperformance could be impacted. It
may take significant time and resources to shiftfoaus to such technologies, platforms and deyigaing us at a competitive disadvantage.
Alternatively, we may increase the resources engaag research and development to adapt to theseewhinologies, distribution platforms
and devices, either to preserve our games or a meh schedule or to keep up with our competitieinich would increase our development
expenses. We could also devote significant resesurcdeveloping games to work with such technokgiatforms or devices, and these new
technologies, platforms or devices may not expedesustained, widespread consumer acceptance cEhaence of any of these events coulc
adversely affect the quality, timelines and contpethess of our games, or cause us to incur saamifly increased costs, which could harm
operation results.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates Waffect our financial results, which we report ib).S. dollars.

As we continue to expand our international operegjguch as our recent acquisition of NaturalMgtaonompany domiciled in the U.K.,
we become more exposed to the effects of fluctoatio currency exchange rates. We incur expensesiiployee compensation and other
operating expenses at our non-U.S. locations in
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the local currency, and an increasing percentageiointernational revenue is from players who payn currencies other than the U.S. dollar.
Fluctuations in the exchange rates between theddlfar and those other currencies could resuthéndollar equivalent of such expenses bein
higher and/or the dollar equivalent of such foreitpmominated revenue being lower than would be#ise if exchange rates were stable. This
could have a negative impact on our reported opgragsults.

The enactment of legislation implementing changestihe U.S. taxation of international business adties, the adoption of other tax reform
policies, or policies in jurisdictions outside thénited States could materially impact our financigbsition and results of operation

Changes in tax laws or tax rulings could materiaffgct our financial position and results of opieras. For example, the current U.S.
administration and key members of Congress havesrpadlic statements indicating that tax reform giarity. Certain changes to U.S. tax
laws, including limitations on the ability to defétS. taxation on earnings outside of the UniteteSt until those earnings are repatriated to th
United States, could affect the tax treatment afforeign earnings. In addition, many countrieshia European Union, as well as a number of
other countries and organizations such as the @majgon for Economic Cooperation and Developmerd,actively considering changes to
existing tax laws. Any changes in the taxation wf iaternational business activities may impactwarldwide effective tax rate, our financial
position and results of operations.

The intended tax efficiency of our corporate struce and intercompany arrangements depend on thelagagion of the tax laws of various
jurisdictions and on how we operate our busine

Our corporate structure and intercompany arrang&neriuding the manner in which we develop anel mgr intellectual property and
the transfer pricing of our intercompany transaddicare intended to optimize business efficiencwelsas reduce our worldwide effective tax
rate. The application of the tax laws of varioussidictions, including the United States and ofbesdictions in which we operate, to our
international business activities is subject terptetation and depends on our ability to operatebasiness in a manner consistent with our
corporate structure and intercompany arrangemehtstaxing authorities of the jurisdictions in wiiwe operate may challenge our
methodologies for valuing developed technologyooitfansfer pricing on intercompany arrangements. éxisting corporate structure and
intercompany arrangements have been implementadnanner we believe is in compliance with curreetgiling tax laws. However, tax
authorities in certain jurisdictions where we opemaay make a determination that the manner inlhwvie operate results in our business not
achieving the intended tax consequences. This énatdase our worldwide effective tax rate and iotfmaur financial position and results of
operations.

Our facilities are located near known earthquakeufia zones, and the occurrence of an earthquake ¢her natural disaster could cause
damage to our facilities and equipment, which couleljuire us to curtail or cease operations.

Our principal offices and network operations cestie located in the San Francisco Bay Area, amlarewn for earthquakes, and are
thus vulnerable to damage. We are also vulnerald@amage from other types of disasters, includmggy loss, fire, explosions, floods,
communications failures, terrorist attacks and simévents. If any disaster were to occur, ourigttib operate our business at our facilities
could be impaired and we could incur significarsisles, require substantial recovery time and expegisignificant expenditures in order to
resume operations.

We are subject to contractual covenants which plaegtain limitations on how we manage our business.

We have not drawn down on our credit agreemendééined herein), but if we do use this as a soafdands it may limit our ability to
take various actions, including incur indebtedngsant liens, merge with or consolidate with ano#nity, dispose of all or substantially all
assets and pay dividends or make distributions.
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Accordingly, we may be restricted from taking anidhat management believes would be desirablénathe best interests of us and our
stockholders. Our Credit Agreement also requiret® usaintain compliance with a capitalization radied maintain a minimum cash balance. /
breach of any of the covenants contained in oudi€fgreement could result in an event of defaulder the agreement and would allow our
lenders to pursue various remedies, including acathg the repayment of any outstanding indebtesine

We may require additional capital to meet our finaial obligations and support business growth, arrdst capital might not be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

We intend to continue to make significant investtegn support our business growth and may requidéiianal funds to respond to
business challenges, including the need to devetepgames and features or enhance our existingggamgrove our operating infrastructure
or acquire complementary businesses, personndeahdologies. Accordingly, we may need to engagainity or debt financings to secure
additional funds. If we raise additional funds tigb future issuances of equity or convertible delourities, our existing stockholders could
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity geties we issue could have rights, preferencespaivileges superior to those of holders of
Class A common stock. Any debt financing that weuse in the future could involve restrictive covetsarelating to our capital raising
activities and other financial and operational m&ttwhich may make it more difficult for us to aiot additional capital and to pursue busines:
opportunities, including potential acquisitions. Way not be able to obtain additional financingenms favorable to us, if at all. If we are
unable to obtain adequate financing or financingesms satisfactory to us when we require it, dailitg to continue to support our business
growth and to respond to business challenges dmikignificantly impaired, and our business mapéened.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock

The three class structure of our common stock hhs effect of concentrating voting control with thestockholders who held our stock pr
to our initial public offering, including our founder and our other executive officers, employees atigectors and their affiliates; this limits
our other stockholders’ ability to influence corpate matters.

Our Class C common stock has 70 votes per shar€lass B common stock has seven votes per shdreurClass A common stock
has one vote per share. Mark Pincus, our Chairbremeficially owned approximately 63% of the totating power of our outstanding capital
stock as of December 31, 2014. As a result, Mrct#&rhas significant influence over the managemetdfairs of the company and control
over matters requiring stockholder approval, inalgdhe election of directors and significant cagie transactions, such as a merger or othe
sale of our company or our assets. Mr. Pincus no&y this voting power for the foreseeable fututeéyjsct to additional issuances of stock by
the company or sales by Mr. Pincus. This concezdrabting control limits the ability of our otheiloskholders to influence corporate matters
and could adversely affect the market price of@laiss A common stock.

Future transfers or sales by holders of Class Bneomstock or Class C common stock will result iosa shares converting to Class A
common stock, which will have the effect, over tjm&increasing the relative voting power of theseckholders who retain their existing
shares of Class B or Class C common stock. Iniaddias shares of Class B common stock are traesffer sold and converted to Class A
common stock, the sole holder of Class C commatkstdark Pincus, will have greater relative voteuntrol to the extent he retains his
existing shares of Class C common stock, and asute could in the future control a majorityooi total voting power. Mark Pincus is
entitled to vote his shares in his own interestsrmay do so.
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Certain provisions in our charter documents and ueidDelaware law could limit attempts by our stocktlers to replace or remove our
board of directors or current management and lintite market price of our Class A common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws may have the effect of delaying or preventhanges in our board of directors ol
management. Our certificate of incorporation aniéyg include provisions that:

» establish an advance notice procedure for stockhgitbposals to be brought before an annual meetiolyiding proposed
nominations of persons for election to our boardicéctors;

» prohibit cumulative voting in the election of diters; anc
» reflect three classes of common stock, as disclssede.
These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giterny our stockholders to replace or remove otnectt management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefrour board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our
management. In addition, because we are incorgbnat®elaware, we are governed by the provisionSasftion 203 of the Delaware General

Corporation Law, which generally prohibits a Delagvaorporation from engaging in any of a broad eaofgjbusiness combinations with any
“interested” stockholder for a period of three yefmllowing the date on which the stockholder beeamn “interested” stockholder.

Our share price has been and will likely continue be volatile.

The trading price of our Class A common stock heenband is likely to continue to be, highly vdatnd could be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to various factors, somegtich are beyond our control. Between Januad014 and December 31, 2014, the stock
price of our Class A common stock has ranged fra@®to $5.89. In addition to the factors discussdtiese “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, factors that mayse volatility in our share price include:

» changes in projected operational and financialltgs

e issuance of new or updated research or reportedyities analyst:

» market rumors or press repol

e our announcement of significant transactic

» the use by investors or analysts of t-party data regarding our business that may nateeéiur actual performanc

» fluctuations in the valuation of companies perceitsg investors to be comparable to

* the activities, public announcements and finanméaformance of our commercial partners, such astitak, Apple and Googl

» fluctuations in the trading volume of our sharasthe size of our public float relative to the tatamber of shares of our Class A,
Class B and Class C common stock that are issud@standing

» share price and volume fluctuations attributablatmnsistent trading volume levels of our shaaest
» general economic and market conditic

Furthermore, the stock markets have experiencadragtprice and volume fluctuations that have affééeind continue to affect the
market prices of equity securities of many companidese fluctuations often have been unrelatatisproportionate to the operating
performance of those companies. These broad mankkindustry fluctuations, as well as general eodoppolitical and market conditions
such as recessions, interest rate changes oratitamal currency fluctuations, may negatively imphe market price of our Class A common
stock. In the past, companies that have experienakadility in the market price of their stock halveen subject to securities class action
litigation. We have been the target of this typditafation as described in
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the section titled “Legal Matters” included in Ndt2—"Commitments and Contingencies” in the notethéoconsolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrKl@ecurities litigation against us could resnlsubstantial costs and divert our
management’s attention from other business congetmish could harm our business.

There is no guarantee that we will do additionalasie repurchases in the future.

In October 2012, we announced that our board eftiirs authorized us to repurchase up to $200lmif our Class A common stock.
As of December 31, 2014, we had repurchased $2illiamof our Class A common stock. That repurchpksm expired on October 31, 2014.
The timing and amount of any stock repurchasesbegilfletermined based on market conditions, sh&ge and other factors. There is no
guarantee that we will do additional share repusefia the future. Repurchases of our Class A conmstaxk in the open market or
discontinuing repurchases could result in increaséatility or an adverse effect on our stock price

Our Class A common stock price may be volatile do¢hird-party data regarding our games.

Third parties, such as AppData, AppAnnie and com&pablish daily data about us and other socialegeompanies with respect to
DAUs and MAUs, monthly revenue, time spent per @t other information concerning social game usabese metrics can be volatile,
particularly for specific games, and in many cas@sot accurately reflect the actual levels of esafgour games across all platforms and may
not correlate to our bookings or revenue from tile sf virtual goods. There is a possibility thatd parties could change their methodologies
for calculating these metrics in the future. To éixéent that securities analysts or investors Haese views of our business or prospects on suc
third-party data, the price of our Class A commimtlk may be volatile and may not reflect the perfance of our business.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch about our business, or publish negativeagp about our business, our share pri
and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stoclsdme extent, depends on the research and repattseicurities or industry analysts
publish about our business. We do not have any@omier these analysts. If one or more of the ystalwho cover us downgrade our share
lower their opinion of our shares, our share pwoaild likely decline. If one or more of these arsddycease coverage of our company or fail tc
regularly publish reports on us, we could losehiigy in the financial markets, which could cawusg share price or trading volume to decline.

Future sales or potential sales of our Class A commstock in the public market could cause our shamgce to decline.

If the existing holders of our Class B common stpakticularly our directors and officers, sell eganumber of shares, they could
adversely affect the market price for our Classofmon stock. Sales of substantial amounts of cas<CA common stock in the public mar
or the perception that these sales could occutdaause the market price of our Class A commocksto decline. For example, in connection
with the filing of our Registration Statement orrioS-3 in February 2014, covering the resale ofeshessued to the security holders of
NaturalMotion prior to our acquisition, we regisdr28,178,201 shares of our Class A common stolichwvere eligible to be reso
immediately thereafter. In addition, in connectwith the assumption of certain outstanding equias held by the employees of
NaturalMotion prior to the acquisition, we filed=egistration Statement on Forr-8 covering up to 6,850,973 shares of our Classfiroon
stock. These will vests in accordance with the teofithe replacement option awards granted afite ¢f the acquisition. As of February 11,
2015, 3,040,086 of these options had vested. Weisdsied 39.8 million shares of our Class A comistock in connection with the acquisiti
of NaturalMotion; certain of the shares issuedmpkyees were subject to time based repurchasenspirhe repurchase option on 3,848,472
shares was released on or prior to February 115.201addition, we issued approximately 1.1 millslmares of Class A common stock to
employees in connection with our 2014 bonus progrEimese shares were issued out of the shares egsender our 2011 Equity Incentive
Plan.

41



Table of Contents

Certain holders of our Class B common stock are aisitled to rights with respect to the registratof such shares under the Securities
Act pursuant to an investors’ rights agreemerthéte holders of our Class B common stock, by ésiagctheir registration rights, sell a large
number of shares, they could adversely affect tagkeat price of our Class A common stock. If we fleegistration statement for the purposes
of selling additional shares to raise capital ardraquired to include shares held by these holuarsuant to the exercise of their registration
rights, our ability to raise capital may be impdir8ales of substantial amounts of our Class A comstock in the public market, following 1
release of lock-up agreements, the filing of adddi registration statements, or otherwise, oipireeption that these sales could occur, could
cause the market price of our Class A common stimclecline.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effeatiinternal control over financial reporting in théuture, the accuracy and timeliness
our financial reporting may be adversely affected.

If we are unable to maintain adequate internalrodsfor financial reporting in the future, or ifipauditors are unable to express an
opinion as to the effectiveness of our internaltoma as required pursuant to the SarbaDekey Act, investor confidence in the accuracy of
financial reports may be impacted or the marketepaf our Class A common stock could be negativapacted.

The requirements of being a public company may straur resources, divert management’s attention aafflect our ability to attract and
retain qualified board members.

We are subject to the reporting requirements ottkehange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the DoddaHErsct, the listing requirements
of the NASDAQ Global Select Market and other apidie securities rules and regulations. Complianitie tvese rules and regulations has
increased and will continue to increase our legdlfanancial compliance costs, make some activitiese difficult, time-consuming or costly
and increase demand on our systems and resoutee&xXthange Act requires, among other things vtledfile annual, quarterly and current
reports with respect to our business and operagisgits.

As a result of disclosure of information in thisrral Report on Form 10-K and in our other publinds with the SEC as required of a
public company, our business and financial conditiave become more visible, which we believe mayltén threatened or actual litigation,
including by competitors and other third partiésuch claims are successful, our business andtipgresults could be harmed, and even if
the claims do not result in litigation or are resal in our favor, these claims, and the time asdugces necessary to resolve them, could dive
the resources of our management and harm our kassamel operating results.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foresededture.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock and do not intend to pay ank dasdends in the foreseeable
future. Any determination to pay dividends in théufe will be at the discretion of our board ofeditors. Accordingly, investors must rely on
sales of their Class A common stock after priceragiption, which may never occur, as the only wagetlize any future gains on their
investments.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We own our San Francisco, California corporate faaders, an office building of approximately 6@MGquare feet. We use
approximately 360,000 square feet for our operatenmd lease most of the remainder to third-pady;affiliated, tenants under leases that
range in terms from month-to-month to terms thro@@B1. The San Francisco facility currently accordates our principal executive,
development, engineering, marketing, business dpwgnt, human resources, finance, legal, informagehnology and administrative
activities.
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We lease additional domestic office space in Sandisco, California; Carlsbad, California; Euge@eggon; Portland, Oregon; Austin,
Texas; Allen, Texas; Chicago, lllinois; and Maitiarrlorida. We lease office and data center spa@alifornia and Virginia. We lease offices
for our foreign operations in: Toronto, Canada;jiBgi China; Bangalore, India; Dublin, Ireland; ©xd, England; Brighton, England; and
London, England. These additional domestic andnat@nal facilities total approximately 210,00Quace feet, excluding restructured
properties.

We signed a lease for additional space in Londag)dhd in February 2015.

We believe that our existing facilities are suffici for our current needs. We believe that suitadtditional or substitute space will be
available as needed to accommodate changes irpeuatmns.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a description of our material legal proceedjrsg® the section titled “Legal Matters’ includadNiote 12—*Commitments and
Contingencies” in the notes to the consolidatedrfaial statements, which is incorporated by refezdrerein.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Class A common stock has been listed on the DX Global Select Market under the symbol “ZNGAhse December 16, 2011.
Prior to that time, there was no public marketdar stock. The following table sets forth for teicated periods the high and low sales price:
per share for our Class A common stock on the NAQD®Bobal Select Market.

High Low
Fourth Quarter 2013 $4.5E $3.32
First Quarter 201 $5.8¢ $3.31
Second Quarter 201 $4.6¢€ $2.7:
Third Quarter 201: $3.2¢ $2.7C
Fourth Quarter 201 $2.92 $2.2(

Our Class B common stock and Class C common stachat listed nor traded on any stock exchangealmitonvertible into shares of
our Class A common stock.

Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2014, there were approximaté8 stockholders of record of our Class A commoulstand the closing price of our
Class A common stock was $2.66 per share as repontthe NASDAQ Global Select Market. Because nafrgur shares of Class A comm
stock are held by brokers and other institution®elnalf of stockholders, we are unable to estirtregeotal number of stockholders represente
by these record holders. As of December 31, 20ktetwere approximately 660 stockholders of recémur Class B common stock, and
Mr. Pincus, Chairman of our Board of Directors, adns the only holder of Class C common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividensloimommon stock. We intend to retain any futwaimgs and do not expect to pay
dividends in the foreseeable future.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On October 24, 2012, we announced that our BoaRirettors authorized a stock repurchase progréowadg us to repurchase up to
$200 million of our outstanding shares of Classofnmon stock. Repurchases under this program maypiake in the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions and may be madera Rule 10b5-1 plan.

In 2012 we repurchased 5.0 million shares of oas€A common stock under this repurchase progranwaighted average price of
$2.36 per share for a total of $11.8 million. Irl.30ve repurchased 3.4 million shares of our ClassrAmon stock under this repurchase
program at a weighted average price of $2.74 penestor a total of $9.3 million. We did not repuasie any shares in 2014. The total amount
repurchased under plan from inception was 8.4 anilthares at an average price of $2.51 per shateté of $21.1 million. The program
expired on October 31, 2014

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “fifed’burposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgbafict of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to liabilgieinder that section and shall not
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be deemed to be incorporated by reference intdimy of Zynga Inc. under the Securities Act of3® as amended, except as shall be
expressly set forth by specific reference in stuiomgt

The following graph compares, for the year endeddb#er 31, 2014, the cumulative total stockholdarrn for Zynga's Class A
common stock, the Standard and Poor’s 500 Stoakxl(ithe “S&P 500 Index”) and the NASDAQ 100. Theasmerement points in the graph
below are December 16, 2011 (the first trading afagur Class A common stock on the NASDAQ Globdk8eMarket) and the last trading
day of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.gFaph assumes that $100 was invested on Decerb2011 in the Class A common stt
of Zynga Inc., the S&P 500 Index and the NASDAQ 1fflex and assumes reinvestment of any dividenls.stock price performance on the
following graph is not necessarily indicative ofufte stock price performance.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER D ATA

The following selected consolidated financial atiteo data should be read in conjunction with “Maragnt’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsd aur audited consolidated financial statementsratated notes, which are included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Thesolidated statements of operations data for ¢laesyended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012 as well as the consolidated balance da&etas of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are denigadthe audited consolidated financial
statements that are included elsewhere in this AhReport on Form 10-K. The consolidated stateroéoperations data for the 12 months
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, as well as tiedkdated balance sheet data as of December 32, 2011 and 2010, are derived from
audited consolidated financial statements thahaténcluded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.rQistorical results are not necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected in therfeit

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share, user and ABPU d3t

Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Revenue
Online game $ 537,61 $759,57: $1,144,25: $1,065,64 $574,63:
Advertising and othe 152,79: 113,69: 137,01! 74,45: 22,827
Total revenue 690,41( 873,26t 1,281,26 1,140,101 597,45¢
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 213,57 248,35t 352,16¢ 330,04 176,05:
Research and developmg 396,55 413,00: 645,64¢ 727,01¢ 149,51¢
Sales and marketir 157,36« 104,40: 181,92- 234,19¢ 114,16"
General and administrati\ 167,66 162,91¢ 189,00+ 254,45t 32,25
Impairment of intangible asse — 10,215 95,49 — —
Total costs and expens 935,15: 938,89 1,464,23! 1,545,711 471,98
Income (loss) from operatiol (244,74) (65,637) (182,97) (405,616 125,47.
Interest incom 3,26¢ 4,14¢ 4,74¢ 1,68( 1,22z
Other income (expense), r 8,24¢ (3,386 18,64 (2,20€6) 36E
Income (loss) before income ta> (233,22) (64,869 (159,57) (406,14 127,05¢
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (7,327) (27,887) 49,87 (1,82€) 36,46¢
Net income (loss $(225,900  $(36,98)  $ (209,44H  $ (404,31) $ 90,59
Deemed dividend to a Serie-2 convertible preferred stockholc — — — — 4,59(
Net income attributable to participating securi — — — — 58,11(
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhel $(225,900  $(36,98) $ (209,44) $ (404,31 $ 27,89t
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholder:
Basic $ (0260 $ (0.05 % 0.2¢) $ (140 $ 0.1z
Diluted $ (0260 $ (0.05 % 0.2 % (140 $ o011

Weighted average common shares used to compuiecoete (loss) per share attributable to commc
stockholders

Basic 874,50 799,79 741,17, 288,59 223,88:
Diluted 874,50 799,79 741,17; 288,59¢ 329,25t
Other Financial and Operational Data:
Bookings®) $ 694,30  $716,17¢  $1,147,62  $1,15550!  $838,89¢
Adjusted EBITDA®?) $ 39,93  $46,54¢ $ 21323 $ 30327-  $392,73¢
Average DAUS (in millions(®) 27 37 63 57 56
Average MAUSs (in millions®) 11¢ 171 30z 232 217
Averag(e)MUUs (in millions®) 81 112 18C 151 11€

ABPU (6 $ 0077 $ 0052 $ 005 $ 0058 $ 0.041
(1) see the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial Measttesow for how we define and calculate bookingseeonciliation between bookings and revenue, thstmirectly comparable
GAAP financial measure and a discussion aboutitiigekions of bookings and adjusted EBITC

See the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial Measutedow for how we define and calculate adjusted HBA, a reconciliation between adjusted EBITDA amet income (loss), the
most directly comparable GAAP financial measure amtiscussion about the limitations of bookings adjiisted EBITDA
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@) DAUs is the number of individuals who played oneof games during a particular day, as recordealbynternal analytics systems. Average DAUSs isaherage of the DAUs for
each day during the period reported. See the setitied “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofafRcial Condition and Results of Operations—Keytiids—Key Operating
Metrics—DAUS” for more information on how we define and calculeUs.

@) MAUSs is the number of individuals who played a aar game during a 30-day-period, as recordedusyinternal analytics systems. Average MAUs isaterage of the MAUs at
each month-end during the period reported. Sesebion titled “Management’s Discussion and AnalysiFinancial Condition and Results of Operatio&®y-Metrics—Key
Operating Metric—MAUS" for more information on how we define and calculéti&Us.

®)  MUUS is the number of unigue individuals who playaty of our games on a particular platform durirBpalay period, as recorded by our internal analytjssesns. Average MUUs

the average of the MUUs at each moatit during the period reported. MUUs exclude Nédiio&ion as our systems are unable to distinguisktiver a player of a NaturalMotion ga

is also a player of a Zynga game so we excluderbliaiotion payers to avoid potential double countrigUUs. See the section titled “Management’s D&ton and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operat—Key Metrics—Key Operating Metri—MUUSs” for more information on how we define and calculstigUs.

ABPU is defined as (i) our total bookings in a giveriod, divided by (ii) the number of days inttpariod, divided by (iii) the average DAUs durithg period. See the section titled

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations—Key Metrics—yyerating Metrics—ABPU” for more information onveve define and

calculate ABPU

(6)

Stock-based expense included in the statementseshtions data above was as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Cost of revenue $ 462 $ 468 $12,11¢ $ 17,66( $ 2,12¢
Research and developmt 83,67 61,93: 200,64( 374,92( 10,24:
Sales and marketir 5,92] 8,07¢ 24,68 81,32¢ 7,89¢
General and administrati 35,01( 13,91 44,54¢ 126,30t 5,42t
Total stocl-based compensatic $129,23. $84,39: $281,98( $600,21: $25,69:
Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secL $1,147,90° $1,541,977 $1,652,31: $1,917,600 $ 738,09(
Property and equipment, r 297,91¢ 348,79: 466,07: 246,74( 74,95¢
Working capital 713,90: 964,89 975,22! 1,355,22. 385,56«
Total asset 2,348,79: 2,279,08! 2,576,32 2,516,641 1,112,57
Deferred revenu 193,80! 189,91! 347,00 480,64 465,23t
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 1,895,69: 1,877,27 1,825,50: 1,749,53! 482,21!

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Bookings

To provide investors with additional informationcaib our financial results, we disclose within thisnual Report on Form 10-K,
bookings, a non-GAAP financial measure. We haveigeal below a reconciliation between bookings aawk&nue, the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure.

Bookings is a non-GAAP financial measure that isa¢do revenue recognized during the period plesctiange in deferred revenue
during the period. We record the sale of virtuadd®and mobile downloads as deferred revenue amdrétognize that revenue over the
estimated average payer life or as virtual goodansumed. Advertising sales that consist of itebi@nded virtual goods and sponsorships
are also deferred and recognized over the estineatedge life of the branded virtual good, simitaonline game revenue. For additional
discussion of the estimated average life of duralrtaal goods, see the section titled “Managensebiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Revenue Retioghielsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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We use bookings to evaluate the results of ouradjmers, generate future operating plans and afiseggerformance of our company.
While we believe that this non-GAAP financial me@sis useful in evaluating our business, this imfation should be considered as
supplemental in nature and is not meant as a sutestor revenue recognized in accordance with GAARddition, other companies,
including companies in our industry, may calculaoekings differently or not at all, which reducesisefulness as a comparative measure.

The following table is a reconciliation of revertoebookings for each of the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of Revenue to Bookings

Revenue $690,41( $ 873,26t $1,281,26 $1,140,101 $597,45¢
Change in deferred reven 3,89( (157,090 (133,640 15,40¢ 241,43
Bookings $694,30( $ 716,17¢ $1,147,62 $1,155,50! $838,89¢

Adjusted EBITDA

To provide investors with additional informationcaib our financial results, we disclose within tAisnual Report on Form 10-K adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure. We have pded below a reconciliation between adjusted EBITa& net income (loss), the most
directly comparable GAAP financial measure.

We have included adjusted EBITDA in this Annual Bemn Form 10-K because it is a key measure weaisgaluate our financial and
operating performance, generate future operatiagsphnd make strategic decisions for the allocatfiaapital. Accordingly, we believe that
adjusted EBITDA provides useful information to ist@rs and others in understanding and evaluatingperating results in the same manner
as our management and board of directors. Whilbelieve that this non-GAAP financial measure isfulse evaluating our business, this
information should be considered as supplementaatare and is not meant as a substitute for théekfinancial information prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The following table presents a reconciliation of imleome (loss) to adjusted EBITDA for each of gegiods indicated:

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Adjusted EBIDA:

Net income (loss

$(225,90()

$ (36,98

$(209,449)

$(404,31) $ 90,59¢

Provision for (benefit from) income tax (7,327%) (27,887 49,87: (1,82¢) 36,46¢
Other income (expense), r (8,24 3,38¢ (18,647 2,20¢ (365)
Interest income (expense), | (3,26€) (4,149 (4,749 (1,680 (1,227)
Gain (loss) from legal settlemer 5,25( — 3,024 (2,145 (39,346
Depreciation and amortizatic 82,89 129,04° 141,47¢ 95,41 39,48:
Stocl-based expens 129,23: 84,39: 281,98¢ 600,21: 25,69«
Impairment of intangible asse — 10,217 95,49: — —
Contingent consideration fair value adjustmr 32,70( — — — —
Acquisitior-related transaction expens 6,42t 93C — — —
Restructuring expense, r 24,28 44,68 7,862 — —
Change in deferred reven 3,89( (157,090 (133,64() 15,40¢ 241,43
Adjusted EBITDA $ 39,93 $ 46,54¢ $213,230 $303,27:  $392,73!
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Limitations of Bookings and Adjusted EBITDA
Some limitations of bookings and adjusted EBITDA:ar

adjusted EBITDA does not include the impact of k-based expens

bookings and adjusted EBITDA do not reflect thatdeéer and recognize online game revenue and revieamn certain advertisin
transactions over the estimated average life efi@irgoods or as virtual goods are consun

adjusted EBITDA does not reflect income tax expe

adjusted EBITDA does not include other income (&ge¢ net, which includes foreign exchange gainsdeswks and interest
income;

adjusted EBITDA excludes depreciation and amoitipaand although these are non-cash charges, $e¢sdseing depreciated and
amortized may have to be replaced in the fut

adjusted EBITDA does not include the impairmenintdingible assets previously acquired, contingensieration fair value
adjustments, and does not include acquis-related transaction expenses or restructuring esqy

adjusted EBITDA does not include gains and lossss@ated with significant legal settlements;

other companies, including companies in our inguistray calculate bookings and adjusted EBITDA défely or not at all, which
reduces their usefulness as a comparative me:

Because of these limitations, you should considekimgs and adjusted EBITDA along with other fin@hperformance measures,
including revenue, net income (loss) and our ofimancial results presented in accordance with G.SAP.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouafficial condition and results of operations in camjtion with the consolidated financ
statements and the related notes included elsewhehés Annual Report on Form 10-K. The followiligcussion contains forward-looking
statements that reflect our plans, estimates ailiefseOur actual results could differ materiallypi those discussed in the forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribotihese differences include those discussed bataelsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K, particularly in “Special Note Regarding Forwaldoking Statements” and “Risk Factors.”

Overview

We are a leading social game developer with apprately 108 million average MAUSs for the three manéimded December 31, 2014.
We have launched some of the most successful gganiaés in the industry. Our games are accessibf@oebook and other social networks,
mobile platforms and Zynga.com. Our games are gdlgexvailable for free, and we generate revenuvauh the ingame sale of virtual gooc
mobile game download fees and advertising services.

We are a pioneer and innovator of social gamesadadder in making play a core activity on the imét. Our objective is to become the
worldwide leader in play by connecting the worldotigh games.

Consistent with our free-to-play business modetgared to all players who play our games in anjopgeonly a small portion of our
players are payers. Because the opportunity fdakimteractions increases as the number of playpereases, we believe that maintaining and
growing our overall number of players, including tumber of players who may not purchase virtuablgpis important to the success of our
business. As a result, we believe that the numbplagers who choose to purchase virtual goodsaaititinue to constitute a small portion of
our overall players.

The games that constitute our top games vary awerlut historically the top three revenue-genagajames in any period contributed
the majority of our revenue. Our top three gamesawted for 60%, 54% and 55% of our online gamemeae in 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

During 2014 we continued to align our cost-struetwith our key strategic initiatives. We reduced loeadcount from 2,034, as of
December 31, 2013, to 1,974, as of December 34,201d we consolidated certain facilities and dataers. We continue to invest in game
development, creating both new games and new faaurd content in existing games designed to enmagaayers on mobile devices and or
the web.

On February 11, 2014, we completed the acquisafatD0% of the equity interests of NaturalMotiorgtralMotion’s shareholders and
vested option holders received an aggregate of $#88ibn in cash and 39.8 million shares of our €& common stock. NaturalMotion
possesses industry leading technology and toolétapdoven simulation technologies have poweredesof the biggest console games and
blockbuster movies. Zynga’s acquisition of Naturatddn expanded our creative pipeline into two n@nsumer categories—People
Simulation and Racing—and provided Zynga with agitedge technology and tools, including Eupholiat tve believe will help fast track
Zynga'’s ability to deliver hit games.

How We Generate Revenue

We operate our games as live services that alleyeps to play for free. We generate revenue prisniom the in-game sale of virtual
goods, advertising and mobile game download feegefue growth will depend largely on our abilityatitract and retain players and more
effectively monetize our player base through tHe efvirtual goods and advertising. We intend ¢otkiis through the launch of new games,
enhancements to current games and expansion intonagekets and distribution platforms.
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Online gameWe provide our players with the opportunity to fhase virtual goods that enhance their game-plagipgrience. We
believe players choose to pay for virtual goodgfiersame reasons they are willing to pay for oftiens of entertainment—they enjoy the
additional playing time or added convenience, thiita to personalize their own game boards, théssection of leveling up and the
opportunity for sharing creative expressions. Weeke players are more likely to purchase virtuabds when they are connected to and
playing with their friends, whether those friendiaypfor free or also purchase virtual goods. Playeay also elect to pay a one-time download
fee to obtain certain mobile games free of thirdypadvertisements.

2014 was the first year in which our business gerera higher percentage of bookings through maidtorms than through the
Facebook platform. For the twelve months ended Béee 31, 2014 and 2013 we estimate that we gemebdss and 27% of our bookings,
respectively, from mobile platforms while 43% arti®® of our bookings, respectively, were generatethfthe Facebook platform. Faceboo
still the largest single distribution, marketingomotion and payment platform for our games andjamerate a significant portion of our
revenue through the Facebook platform. For thewsvelonths ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, weatstthat 51% and 75% of our
revenue, respectively, was generated through thetfemk platform, while 44% and 24% of our revemaspectively, was generated through
mobile platforms. We have had to estimate thisrmition because certain payment methods we acndpteatain advertising networks do not
allow us to determine the platform used.

For all payment transactions in our games undeelb@ak’s local currenchased payments model, Facebook remits to us anrdraqua
to 70% of the price we requested to be chargeditplayers.

On platforms other than Facebook, players purchaseirtual goods through various widely acceptagirpent methods offered in the
games, including PayPal, Apple iTunes accountsgl&eod/allet, credit cards and direct wires.

Advertising and othelAdvertising revenue primarily includes brandeduaiftgoods and sponsorships, engagement ads ams|, afigbile
ads and display ads and other. We generally repmradvertising revenue net of amounts due to didireg agencies and brokers. Other
revenue includes software licensing and mainteneglaéed to technology acquired in our acquisittbNaturalMotion as well as licensing of
our brands.

Key Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includthg following key financial and operating metrits evaluate our business, measure
our performance, identify trends in our businesspare financial projections and make strategidst@ts.

Key Financial Metrics

BookingsBookings (as defined in the section titled “—Non-&AFinancial Measures” included in “ltem 6. Seleéc@onsolidated
Financial and Other Data” of this Annual Reportrmrm 10-K) is the fundamental tdijpe metric we use to manage our business, as lievb
it is a useful indicator of the sales activity igimen period. Over the long term, the factors iotjpey our bookings and revenue are the same.
However, in the short term, there are factors thay cause revenue to exceed or be less than baokirggy period.

We use bookings to evaluate the results of ouradjmers, generate future operating plans and asisesserformance of our company.
While we believe that this non-GAAP financial measis useful in evaluating our business, this imfation should be considered as
supplemental in nature and is not meant as a suitestor revenue recognized in accordance with G&SAP. In addition, other companies,
including companies in our industry, may calculaoekings differently or not at all, which reducesusefulness as a comparative measure.
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Adjusted EBITDAAdjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measuretthv@ calculate as net income (loss), adjusted rfovigion for /
(benefit from) income taxes; other income (expensef} interest income; gain (loss) from significkagal settlements; restructuring expense;
depreciation and amortization; impairment of intéfgassets; stock-based expense; contingent arasioh fair value adjustments;
acquisition-related transaction expenses, and ehendeferred revenue. We believe that adjusted’BBIprovides useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evalyatim operating results in the same manner as anagement and board of directors.

For a reconciliation of net income (loss) to addasEBITDA, see the section titled “—Non-GAAP Finaideasures” included in
“Iltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial and Obea” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Key Operating Metrics

We manage our business by tracking several opgratetrics: “DAUSs,” which measure daily active usef®ur games, “MAUSs,” which
measure monthly active users of our games, “MUWEth measure monthly unique users of our games&JPK” which measure monthly
unique payers in our games, and “ABPU,” which measour average daily bookings per average DAL edavhich is recorded by our
internal analytics systems. The numbers for theseating metrics are calculated using internal camypdata based on tracking the activity of
user accounts. We believe that the numbers arenmabke estimates of our user base for the appégadaiiod of measurement; however, factor:
relating to user activity and systems may impaeséhnumbers.

DAUs. We define DAUs as the number of individuals wieypd one of our games during a particular day.ddrigis metric, an
individual who plays two different games on the satay is counted as two DAUs. Similarly, an indiatiwho plays the same game on two
different platforms or social networks (e.g., Fam@hcom, iPad, Android Phone, iPhone, etc.) orstirae day would be counted as two DAUs
Average DAUSs for a particular period is the averafjthe DAUs for each day during that period. We DAUs as a measure of audience
engagement.

MAUs.We define MAUs as the number of individuals whoypld a particular game in the 30-day period endiitg the measurement
date. Under this metric, an individual who play® tfferent games in the same 30-day period is mlas two MAUs. Similarly, an
individual who plays the same game on two diffey@atforms or social networks (e.g., Facebook.caymga.com, iPad, Android Phone,
iPhone, etc.) in a 30-day period would be countetiv@ MAUs. Average MAUSs for a particular periodlie average of the MAUs at each
month-end during that period. We use MAUSs as a oreasf total game audience size.

MUUs. We define MUUs as the number of unique individwelt® played any of our games on a particular platfor the 30-day period
ending with the measurement date. An individual \wlays more than one of our games in a given 30paapd would be counted as a single
MUU. However, because we cannot always distinguigijue individuals playing on multiple platformsplkayer playing on two different
platforms (e.g. web and mobile) in a given 30-dasiqel may be counted as two MUUs. Because manyioplayers play more than one game
in a given 30-day period, MUUs are always lowenthMAUs in any given time period. Average MUUs foparticular period is the average of
the MUUs at each month-end during that period. \8&MUUs as a measure of total audience reach asuossetwork of games.

MUPs. We define MUPs as the number of unique players mhde a payment at least once during the appéicabhth through a
payment method for which we can quantify the nundiemique payers, including payers from certairbiteogames. MUPs does not include
payers who use certain payment methods for whichameot quantify the number of unique payers. Begave cannot always distinguish
unique individuals playing on two different soamdtworks, an individual who makes a payment ondifferent social networks in a given 30-
day period may be counted as two MUPs. MUPs argepted as an average of the three months in theapp quarter. We use MUPs as a
measure of the number of unique players who magme@ats across our network of games each month.
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ABPU.We define ABPU as our total bookings in a giverigeérdivided by the number of days in that perididided by, the average
DAUs during the period. We believe that ABPU prasduseful information to investors and others idaratanding and evaluating our results
in the same manner as our management and boanedfods. We use ABPU as a measure of overall nwatéin across all of our players
through the sale of virtual goods and advertising.

Our business model for social games is designeldatpas there are more players that play our gasoesal interactions increase and the
more valuable the games and our business becomenddged players of our games help drive our b@skand, consequently, both online
game revenue and advertising revenue. Virtual gaoglpurchased by players who are socializing witinpeting against or collaborating w
other players, most of whom do not buy virtual gaosiccordingly, we primarily focus on bookings, DAWMAUs, MUUs, MUPs and ABPU,
which together we believe best reflect key audianetrics.

The table below shows average DAUs, MAUs, MUUs, MRd ABPU for the last eight quarters:

For the Three Months Ended

Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(users and payers in millions,
Average DAUs 25 26 29 28 27 30 39 52
Average MAUs 10¢€ 112 13C 12¢ 112 13¢ 187 258
Average MUU<®) 71 77 89 86 80 97 12¢ 15C
Average MUP«®) 1.1 1.2 1.7 1.4 1.2 1.€ 1.6 2.t

ABPU $0.07¢ $0.07: $0.067 $0.06¢ $0.06C $0.05¢ $0.05¢  $0.04¢

@ MUUs and MUPs exclude NaturalMotion as our systamsunable to distinguish whether a player of auNdiMotion game is also a

player of a Zynga game so we exclude NaturalMagpiayers to avoid potential double counting of MUWsl MUPs.

Average DAUs, MAUs and MUUSs, grew during the fiastd second quarter of 2014 and declined in thd #nd fourth quarters of 2014
and when comparing the three months ended Dece®ib@014 to December 31, 2013. Growth in average/®@MAUs and MUUSs in the
first and second quarters of 2014 was due to iseea mobile users froffarmVille 2: Country EscapandHit it Rich! Slots both launched
on mobile platforms in the first half of 2014. Aagle DAUs and MAUSs also increased due to the inafusi NaturalMotion mobile users from
CSR RacingndClumsy Ninja Declines in average DAUs, MAUs and MUUs in thiedtand fourth quarter of 2014 were due to declines
users for our existing games suctFasmVille 2andZynga Pokerln addition, MUPs declined in the three months endecember 31, 2014
compared to the three months ended December 33, 28Jayers ikfarmVille 2andZynga Pokecontributed more MUPs in 2013 than in
2014. ABPU increased in each consecutive quart20id due to a faster decline in DAUs in thosequbyithan the decline in bookings. Future
growth in audience and engagement will depend erability to retain current players, attract neway@rs, launch new games and expand into
new market and distribution platforms.
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Other Metrics

Although our management primarily focuses on therating metrics above, we also monitor periodindeein paying players of our
games. The table below shows average monthly uigyer bookings, average MUPs and unique payeribgslper unique payer for the last
eight quarters:

For the Three Months Ended
Dec 31, Sep 30. Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30, Mar 31,

2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
Average monthly unique payer bookings
(in thousands® $41,32¢ $43,73¢ $44,84: $39,07: $37,43. $39,53! $50,657 $64,02¢
Average MUPs (in millions® 1.1 1.2 1.7 1.4 1.2 1.€ 1.¢ 2.t

Monthly unique payer bookings per ML®) $ 37 $ 3 $ 27 $ 27 ¢ 28% 22 26 $ 26

@ Average monthly unique payer bookings represenirtbrthly average amount of bookings for the appleauarter that we received

through payment methods for which we can quanti&rtumber of unique payers and excludes bookimgs frertain payment methods for
which we cannot quantify the number of unique psyaiso excluded are bookings from advertising BaturalMotion.

MUPs exclude NaturalMotion as our systems are @n@btlistinguish whether a player of a NaturalMotimme is also a player of a Zyi
game so we exclude NaturalMotion payers to avotémt@l double counting of MUP

Monthly unique payer bookings per MUP is calculatgdiividing average monthly unique payer bookihgsaverage MUPs. This
calculation excludes NaturalMotion as we do nothBMJP data for NaturalMotior

@

®

Average monthly unique payer bookings grew durhmgftrst and second quarters of 2014 and when cdngpthe three months ended
December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2013 and dedlinthe third and fourth quarters of 2014. Growttaverage monthly unique payer
bookings in the first and second quarter of 201dha&hen comparing the three months ended Decembh@034 to December 31, 2013 was
to the bookings contribution froflarmVille 2: Country EscapandHit it Rich! Slots poth launched on mobile platforms in the first talf
2014. Declines in average monthly unique payer baskin the third and fourth quarters of 2014 wdwe to the decline in bookings and users
in our existing web and multiplatform games, suskamVille 2andZynga Pokerwhich were not offset by new growth from game lghex
Monthly unique payer bookings per MUP increasefidd in the fourth quarter of 2014 due to MUP desirgafaster than unique payer
bookings for the period.

Although we monitor our unique payer metrics, weu®on monetization, including through in-game atisieg, of all of our players and
not just our payers. Accordingly, we strive to emtecontent and our players’ game experience tease our bookings and ABPU, which is a
measure of overall monetization across all of dayers through the sale of virtual goods and adkiag.

Recent Developments

» Game LaunchesWe launched several new games in 2014, incluHiib@ Rich! Slots, FarmVille 2: Country Escape, NF
Showdown, New Words with Friends, New Zynga Pakerard of Oz SlotandLooney Tunes Dasloin mobile andNew Words
With Friendson web.

e Operating ResultsOur operating results declined in 2014 as comper@d13. Total bookings decreased by 3% and adjuste
EBITDA decreased by 14% compared to 2013. Thesgtsgzimarily reflect the inability of new gamesdffset the declines in
existing games. While we were able to drive efficies and decrease cash operating expenses byrt#lios, these decreases
were offset by the decrease in bookir

* Mobile Growth.In 2014, we delivered an 80% increase in mobilekbays year over year and a 48% increase in mobilernrue
year over year. This increase was driven by thedawfFarmVille 2: Country EscapandHit it Rich! Slotson mobile platforms
and the inclusion of NaturalMotion games in comgamito prior year as our players continued to playgames on their phones
and tablets
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* 2014 Restructuringln the first quarter of 2014, we implemented aregtiring plan that included a reduction in workc®and the
closure of certain office and datacenter faciliasgpart of an overall plan to reduce our long teost structure. In total, we recor¢
restructuring charges of $27.4 million as Decen#ier2014 related to the 2014 pl:

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Platform agreement©ur games are primarily distributed, marketed amnoted through third parties, primarily Facebosfple’s App
store for iIOS and the Google Play App Store for dididevices. Virtual goods for our games purchdbkeaugh the payment processing
systems of these platform providers. To date, we lgnerated a significant portion of our bookirrgsenue and players through the Facel
platform and expect to continue to do so for thed$eeable future. We are generating an increasirigp of our bookings, revenue and play
through the Apple App store and Google Play Appé&tmd expect that this trend will continue as ath more games for mobile devices.
Facebook, Apple and Google generally have the eliser to change their platforms’ terms of servind ather policies with respect to us or
other developers in their sole discretion, andeéhdsanges may be unfavorable to us.

Launch of new games and release of enhancen@uatdookings and revenue results have been driyeheblaunch of new mobile and
web games and the release of fresh content andaaures in existing games. Our future successmikspen our ability to launch and mone
successful new hit titles on various platformshaligh the amount of revenue and bookings we genfrah a new game or an enhancement
to an existing game can vary significantly, we etmaur revenue and bookings to be correlated tsticeess and timely launch of our new
games and our success in releasing engaging camtdrieatures. In addition, revenue and booking® fmany of our games tend to decline
over time after reaching a peak of popularity alayer usage. We often refer to the speed of thitimieas the decay rate of a game. As ar
of this decline in the revenue and bookings ofgames, our business depends on our ability to stamgly and timely launch new games that
achieve significant popularity and have the potdriti become franchise games.

Game monetizationWe generate most of our bookings and revenue fhensale of virtual goods in our games. The detgreehich our
players choose to pay for virtual goods in our gamelriven by our ability to create content andual goods that enhance the game-play
experience. Our bookings, revenue and overall firrduperformance are affected by the number ofgiawand the effectiveness of our
monetization of players through the sale of virlgabds and advertising. For example ABPU increfsed $0.053 in the twelve months enc
December 31, 2013 to $0.071 in the twelve montlieébecember 31, 2014 due to a higher decline il DAnon-paying players (compared
to paying players) who do not contribute to onliya@ne bookings, coupled with an increase in adwegtiand other revenue. In addition, mol
and international players have historically moreddiat a lower level than web and U.S. players.aesgely. The percentage of paying mobile
and international players may increase or decreased on a number of factors, including growth obite games as a percentage of total ¢
audience and our overall international playersaliaation of content and the availability of payrheptions.

Investment in game developmefrt order to develop new games and enhance themipand features in our existing games, we must
continue to invest in a significant amount of emgiring and creative resources. These expenditerexaly occur months in advance of the
launch of a new game or the release of new cordedtthe resulting revenue may not equal or exoeedevelopment costs.

Player acquisition cost&Ve utilize advertising and other forms of playeguaisition and retention to grow and retain our plagudience.
These expenditures generally relate to the promaif;mew game launches and ongoing performancedi@sgrams to drive new player
acquisition and lapsed player reactivation. Oueetithese acquisition and retention-related prognauay become either less effective or more
costly, negatively impacting our operating resuldditionally, as our player base becomes more iheawncentrated on mobile platforms, our
ability to drive traffic to our games through ungp@hannels may become diminished, and the oversilaf marketing our games may increase
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New market developmeft/e are investing in new distribution channels, nfeplatforms and international markets to expandreach
and grow our business. For example, we have caeditm hire additional employees and acquire congsanith experience developing mobile
applications. Our ability to be successful will dap on our ability to develop a successful mobduork, obtain new players and retain
existing players on new and existing social netwakd attract advertisers.

In the first quarter of 2014, we completed the asitjian of NaturalMotion, the maker @lumsy NinjeandCSR Racing This allowed us
to enter into two new consumer categories—Peopirilaition and Racing-and our future success is dependent upon ournatalieverage th
games, workforce, and technology we acquired.

As we expand into new markets and distribution oles) we expect to incur headcount, marketing ahdraperating costs in advance
the associated bookings and revenue. Our finapeidbrmance will be impacted by our investmentiese initiatives and their success.

Hiring and retaining key personnédur ability to compete and grow depends in large gathe efforts and talents of our employees. In
2014, in addition to employee attrition, we hav@amplemented, and continue to implement, cedast reduction initiatives to better align
our operating expenses with our revenue, includialyicing our headcount and consolidating certaiititieas. For example, in the first quarter
of 2014, we implemented a restructuring plan theluided a work force reduction. These cost reduodtidgiatives could negatively impact our
ability to attract, hire and retain key employedsal is critical to our ability to grow our busireeand execute on our business strategy.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our results of opienas for the periods presented as a percentagevehue for those periods:

For the Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Consolidated Statements of Operations Dat:
Revenue 10(% 10C% 10C%
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 31 28 27
Research and developmt 57 48 50
Sales and marketir 23 12 14
General and administrati 24 19 15
Impairment of intangible asse — 1 7
Total costs and expens 13¢ _10¢ _11¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (35) (8 (13
Interest incom — — —
Other income (expense), r 1 = 1
Income (loss) before income tax (34) (8 (12
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (1) (3 4
Net income (loss _(339% (9% _(16)%
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Revenue

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201

2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)

Revenue by type:

Online game $537,61¢ $759,57. $1,144,25: (29% (349)%
Advertising and othe 152,79: 113,69: 137,01! 34% Q7%
Total revenus $690,41( $873,26t $1,281,26 (22)% (32%

2014 Compared to 2013.

Total revenue decreased $182.9 million in 2014 @salt of a decline in online game revenue offisean increase in advertising and
other revenue. Bookings decreased by $21.9 miflimm 2013 to 2014 due to declines in existing gardeslines in audience metrics and the
lack of successful new launches to offset thesériesc ABPU increased from $0.053 in 2013 to $0.0i72014, due to a faster decline in
DAUSs than the decline in bookings. DAUs decreasethf37 million in 2013 to 27 million in 2014 and NRd decreased from 1.8 million in
2013 to 1.4 million in 2014.

Online game revenue decreased $222.0 million it 2B31compared to the same period of the prior yidas.decrease is primarily
attributable to decreases in revenue fieemmVille, ChefVille, CastleVille, Zynga PokerCityVille andFrontierVille in the amounts of $87.7
million, $37.1 million, $36.6 million, $35.5 millim, $23.7 million and $13.7 million, respectivelynd decreases in online game revenue from
these games were due to overall decay rate in bgskind audience metrics. The decrease in onlime gavenue was partially offset by an
increase in online game revenue of $47.1 milliamfHit it Rich! Slots. All other games accounted for the remaining rerease of $34.8
million.

International revenue as a percentage of totahuevavas 38% and 40% in 2014 and 2013, respectively.

In 2014,FarmVille 2andZynga Pokewwere our top two revenue-generating games and ésetp28% and 23%, respectively, of our
online game revenue for the period. No other gaemegated more than 10% of online game revenueglthiayear.

Consumable virtual goods accounted for 38% and @Bétline game revenue 2014 and 2013, respectillyable virtual goods
accounted for 62% and 71% of online game reven2@id and 2013, respectively. The estimated weigaterage life of durable virtual
goods was 12 months in 2014 and 2013. Changeg iestimated average life of durable virtual goodsrdy the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014 for various games resulted eceedse in revenue, income from continuing operatamd net income of $1.2 million,
which is the result of adjusting the remaining iggaition period of deferred revenue generated iargeriods at the time of a change in
estimate. These changes in estimates did not ingqpaiceported earnings per share for the twelvethsoended December 31, 2014. For 2013,
changes in our estimated average life of durabtealigoods resulted in an increase in revenueniecfrom continuing operations and net
income of $12.3 million. These changes in estimegsalted in a $0.01 increase in our reported ageper share for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Advertising and other revenue increased $39.1anilfrom 2013 to 2014, due to a $39.3 million insea in-game display ads as a
result of better optimization on mobile platfornmlaa $7.6 million increase in licensing revenueetiby the final licensing payment from a
strategic partner, offset by a $5.6 million decesimsin-game sponsorships and a $2.2 million deer@ain-game offers, engagement ads, and
other advertising revenue.
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2013 Compared to 2012.

Total revenue decreased $408.0 million in 2013 @esalt of a decline in both online game and adlieg revenue. Bookings decreased
by $431.5 million from 2012 to 2013 due to decliiregxisting games and the lack of successful mammdhes to offset these declines. ABPU
increased from $0.050 in 2012 to $0.053 in 2013leADAUs decreased from 63 million in 2012 to 37limin in 2013 and MUPs decreased
from 3.4 million in 2012 to 1.8 million in 2013.

Online game revenue decreased $384.7 million ir82&lcompared to the same period of the prior yidas.decrease is primarily
attributable to decreases in revenue fieanmVille, CityVille, FrontierVille, CastleVillandZynga Pokein the amounts of $152.1 million,
$112.6 million, $60.4 million, $59.4 million and 45 million, respectively. The decreases in onjaene revenue frofRarmVille, CityVille,
FrontierVille, Zynga PokeandCastleVillewere due to overall decay rate in bookings andemadi metrics in these games. The decreases in
online game revenue were partially offset by insesain online game revenue of $118.0 million ar@l $a&nillion fromFarmVille 2and
ChefVille, respectively, which were the result of the launtthese games in September 2012 and August 284j2ectively. All other games
accounted for the remaining net decrease of $96libm

International revenue as a percentage of totahuevavas 40% and 41% in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

In 2013,Zynga Poker, FarmVille andFarmVille were our top three revenue-generating games angresed 21%, 17%, and 16%,
respectively, of our online game revenue for theoge No other game generated more than 10% ohergame revenue during the year.

Consumable virtual goods accounted for 29% and 8Détline game revenue 2013 and 2012, respectillyable virtual goods
accounted for 71% and 70% of online game reven2@1r8 and 2012, respectively. The estimated weigaterage life of durable virtual
goods was 12 months in 2013 and 2012. Changeg iestimated average life of durable virtual goodsrdy the twelve months ended
December 31, 2013 for various games resulted in@ease in revenue, income from continuing openatand net income of $12.3 million,
which is the result of adjusting the remaining iggation period of deferred revenue generated iargeriods at the time of a change in
estimate. These changes in estimates resulte@0r04 increase in our reported earnings per sloarttaé year ended December 31, 2013. For
2012, changes in our estimated average life oftdenartual goods resulted in an increase in reeeincome from continuing operations and
net income of $14.1 million. These changes in esti® resulted in a $0.01 increase in our repodedirgys per share for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

Advertising revenue decreased $23.3 million frori26 2013, due to a $14.1 million decrease indmg sponsorships, a $6.0 million
decrease in in-game offers, engagement ads andauthertising revenue and a $3.4 million decreadieénsing revenue, offset by an increas
of $0.2 million from in-game display ads. Theselhes may be attributed to declines in our DAUR013.

Cost of revenue

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201
2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)
Cost of revenu $213,57! $248,35¢ $352,16¢ (19% (29%

2014 Compared to 2018o0st of revenue decreased $34.8 million in thevevehonths ended December 31, 2014 as compared tath
period of the prior year. The decrease was primatiributable to a $38.1 million decrease in defation expense due to the consolidation of
data center facilities and the related dispositiboertain data center assets in prior period23al$million decrease in hosting and data center
costs due to lower
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data usage, an $11.7 million decrease in third/marstomer service expense which is in line withdiscontinuance of certain games and a
$5.1 million decrease in headcount-related expeasfiset by a $36.8 million increase in payment pssing fees from mobile payment
processors due to an increase in mobile bookinda&#6.3 million increase in royalty expense foefised intellectual property.

2013 Compared to 201Zo0st of revenue decreased $103.8 million in thévevemonths ended December 31, 2013 as comparéeé to t
same period of the prior year. The decrease wasapity attributable to a decrease of $47.0 millionthird party hosting expense due to
increased usage of our own datacenters, a dearé&24.6 million in third party customer servicepexse which is in line with the decline in
DAUs and the discontinuance of certain games, eedse of $11.6 million in stock-based expense piiyndue to forfeiture credits resulting
from employee attrition, a decrease of $9.3 milliolepreciation and amortization expense and eedse of $7.9 million in payment
processing fees.

Research and development

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201
2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)
Research and developme $396,55. $413,00: $645,64¢ (4% (36)%

2014 Compared to 201Research and development expenses decreased $lli®d imthe twelve months ended December 31, 2844
compared to the same period of the prior year.ddueease was primarily attributable to a $46.4iomlbdecrease in headcount-related
expenses, $13.7 million decrease in restructurkpgese and a $13.7 million decrease in allocateititfes and overhead costs, offset by $32.7
million of expense recorded in 2014 to reflect thange in estimated fair value of the contingentsaeration liability for Spooky Cool Labs
and a $21.7 million increase in stock-based expprisgarily due to higher forfeiture credits in theor year and additional grants in 2014 as a
result of the NaturalMotion acquisition in Febru2g14.

2013 Compared to 201Research and development expenses decreased $#B6 in the twelve months ended December 31,2284

compared to the same period of the prior year.ddueease was primarily attributable to a $138.Tionildecrease in stock-based expense
primarily due to forfeiture credits resulting fraemployee attrition and an $87.0 million decreaskeadcount-related expenses.

Sales and marketing

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201
2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)
Sales and marketir $157,36- $104,40: $181,92: 51% (43)%

2014 Compared to 2018ales and marketing expenses increased $53.0miilithe twelve months ended December 31, 2014 as
compared to the same period of the prior year.iti@ase was primarily attributable to a $57.8iorillincrease in marketing expense due to
higher mobile player acquisition costs and consumerketing costs from the launchfedrmVille 2: Country EscapandHit it Rich! Slots,
offset by a $3.1 million decrease in headcountteel@xpenses and a $2.2 million decrease in staskebexpense primarily due to forfeiture
credits resulting from employee attrition.

2013 Compared to 2013ales and marketing expenses decreased $77.5miillitbe twelve months ended December 31, 2013 as
compared to the same period of the prior year.dédoeease was primarily attributable to a $41.6iomltbecrease in player acquisition costs
which declined along with our overall spending dgr2013 due to declines in bookings and DAUs, aGfréllion decrease in stock-based

expense primarily due to forfeiture credits resigtirom employee attrition, a $9.0 million decreasbeadcount related expenses, and $4.3
million decrease in third party consulting servogense.
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General and administrative

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201
2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)
General and administrati $167,66: $162,91¢ $189,00: 3% (19%

2014 Compared to 201&eneral and administrative expenses increasedn$ifli@n in the twelve months ended December 31,4284
compared to the same period of the prior year.ifti@ase was primarily attributable to a $21.1ionillincrease in stock-based expense and a
$16.5 million increase due to a lower amount oflitées and overhead costs allocated out, partiaffget by a $14.0 million decrease in
headcount-related expense, a $9.8 million decri@adepreciation expense and a $7.1 million decreasestructuring expense.

2013 Compared to 201&eneral and administrative expenses decreased B@iidn in the twelve months ended December 31,28s
compared to the same period of the prior year.ddoeease was primarily attributable to a $30.6iomlHecrease in stock-based expense
primarily due to forfeiture credits resulting freemployee attrition, an $11.0 million decrease iadeunt-related expenses, offset by a $17.6
million increase in restructuring expense.

Interest income

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201
2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)
Interest incom $ 3,26¢ $4,14¢ $4,74¢ (22)% (13)%

2014 Compared to 2018terest income decreased $0.9 million in the teehonths ended December 31, 2014. The decrease was
primarily attributed to lower marketable securigldnces in 2014 compared to 2013.

2013 Compared to 201hterest income decreased $0.6 million in the teehonths ended December 31, 2013. The decrease was
primarily attributed to lower marketable securigldnces in 2013 compared to 2012.

Other income (expense), net

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201
2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)
Other income (expense), r $8,24¢ $(3,38€) $18,64" NM NM

2014 Compared to 2018ther income (expense), net increased $11.6 milligdhe twelve months ended December 31, 2014 as
compared to the same period of the prior year.ifti@ase was primarily attributable to a $5.2 miildecrease in interest expense which
includes the $2.4 million expense in connectiorhwlite termination of our interest rate swap agreeraed repayment of our loan in the sec
quarter of 2013, a $4.6 million increase of otmeoime related to the sale of an equity investmettté fourth quarter of 2014 and a $2.3
million increase in net sublease rental income.

2013 Compared to 2012ther income (expense), net decreased $22.0 millitime twelve months ended December 31, 2013 as
compared to the same period of the prior year.ddueease was primarily attributable to a $19.9iomlhet gain recognized from the
termination of our lease and purchase of our caedneadquarters in 2012. In addition, we recoed$d.4 million loss in the twelve months
ended December 31, 2013 as a result of the terimmatf our interest rate swap.
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Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Year Ended December 31 2013 to 201 2012 to 201

2014 2013 2012 % Change % Change
(in thousands)

$(7,329) $(27,88)) $49,87: NM NM

Provision for (benefit from) income tax

2014 Compared to 2013he benefit from income taxes decreased by $20l®min the twelve months ended December 31, 2014
compared to the same period of the prior year. Glaease was attributable primarily to the incretalebenefit of $5.0 million recorded in the
first quarter of 2013 related to the recognitioriFefleral research and development tax creditstemndet benefit related to changes in the

estimated jurisdictional mix of earnings betweemthio periods of $15.6 million.

2013 Compared to 201Zhe provision for income taxes decreased by $77l®min the twelve months ended December 31, 2843
compared to the same period of the prior year. dlagease was attributable primarily to a benéfg1®.4 million recorded in the first quarter
of 2013 related to the reinstatement of the fedestarch and development tax credit retroactiatmary 1, 2012, a benefit of $16.3 million
recorded in the second quarter related to chamgieiestimated jurisdictional mix of earnings, éexpense of $85.0 million related to the
cost of fully implementing our international strugt in the fourth quarter of 2012, partially offegtthe $39.1 million tax impact of the
impairment charges recorded in the third quarte&Qdf2.
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Quarterly Results of Operations Data

The following tables set forth our unaudited qudyteonsolidated statements of operations datallas and as a percentage of revenue
for each of the eight quarters ended December@14 Zertain items may not reconcile due to rougdiWe also present other financial and
operations data, and a reconciliation of revenusotikings and net income (loss) to adjusted EBITfaAthe same periods. We have preparec
the quarterly consolidated statements of operati@ns on a basis consistent with the audited catael financial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. In the opinion of ma@agnt, the financial information reflects all adjuents, consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments that we consider necessay fair presentation of this data. This informat&hould be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements andea@labtes included elsewhere in this Annual Repofarm 10-K. The results of historical
periods are not necessarily indicative of the tesafl operations for a full year or any future pdri

For the Three Months Ended
Dec 31, Sep30, Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep30, Jun30, Mar31,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(in thousands, except per share datz

Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz

Online game $135,01. $139,37. $130,96¢ $132,27( $152,31( $174,37( $203,32t $229,56¢
Advertising and othe 57,53¢ 37,23¢ 22,26¢ 35,75( 24,05: 28,21( 27,40¢ 34,02
Total Revenut 192,547 176,61 153,23 168,02 176,36. 202,58( 230,73! 263,58
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 55,49: 53,28t 51,28t¢ 53,50¢ 58,87¢ 59,01: 61,07: 69,39:
Research and developm 105,13«  100,11: 93,72: 97,58¢ 78,47¢ 81,020 124,32. 129,18:
Sales and marketir 41,89¢ 44,00¢ 41,60¢ 29,85: 24,76 21,17( 31,16 27,30°
General and administratiy 38,96 38,53¢ 32,83: 57,33¢ 41,72¢ 34,01: 44,54: 42,64(
Impairment of intangible asse — — — — — 10,21° — —
Total costs and expens 241,48 235,94 219,44¢ 238,27 203,83¢ 205,43! 261,10: 268,52
Income (loss) from operatiol (48,93¢) (59,329 (66,217 (70,25)) (27,477 (2,857  (30,36%) (4,939
Net income (loss $(45,12¢) $(57,05¢9) $(62,53) $(61,18)% (2524) $ (68) $(15,805) $ 4,13¢
Earnings per sha—basic $ (005 $ (0.0 $ (0.0 $ (00’ $ (0.0 $ o0.0C $ (0.0 $ 0.01

For the Three Months Ended
Dec 31 Sep 3C Jun 30 Mar 31, Dec 31 Sep 3C Jun 30 Mar 31,

2014 2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013 2013
(as a percentage of revenue

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenue 10(% 10(% 10(%  10(% 10(% 10(% 10C%  10C%
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 28 3C 33 32 33 28 26 26
Research and developmt 54 57 61 58 45 4C 54 49
Sales and marketir 22 25 27 18 14 1C 14 10
General and administrati 2C 22 21 34 24 17 19 17
Impairment of intangible asse — — — — — 5 — —
Total costs and expens 12t 134 142 142 11€ 101 112 10z
Income (loss) from operatiol (25) (34 (42) (42) (16) (1) (13) (2)
Net income (loss (23%) (34%) (39%) (36%) (14%) — (7%) 2%

62



Table of Contents

Other Financial and Operations Data:
Bookings
Adjusted EBITDA
Average DAUSs (in millions
Average MAUSs (in millions’
Average MUUs (in millions
Average MUPs (in millions
ABPU

Reconciliation of Revenue to Bookings:

Revenue
Change in deferred reven

Bookings

Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to
Adjusted EBITDA:

Net income (loss

Provision for (benefit from) income tax

Other income (expense), r

Interest incomt

Restructuring expens

Gain (loss) from legal settlemer

Depreciation and amortizatic

Impairment of intangible asse

Contingent consideration fair value adjustrr

Acquisitior-related transaction expens
Stoclk-based expens
Change in deferred reven

Adjusted EBITDA

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Acquisition of property and equipme
Depreciation and amortizatic

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating act
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing actas
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing actasl

For the Three Months Ended

Sep 30. Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30,
2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013

$182,35; $175,48t

(dollars in thousands, except ABPU data

26 29 28 27 30 39
112 13C 12¢ 112 13¢ 187
77 89 86 80 97 12¢
1.3 1.7 14 1.3 1.€ 1.9

$ 007 ¢ 0067 $ 0.06: $ 0.06( $ 0.05¢ $ 0.05¢ $ 0.04¢

For the Three Months Ended

Jun 30, Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30. Jun 30,
2014 2014 2013 2013 2013

(in thousands)

$192,54° $176,61: $153,23; $168,02( $176,36; $202,58( $230,73!
(1,129 21,87 (6,662 (29,689 (50,479 (43,15

$175,48¢ $175,10. $161,35¢ $146,67° $152,10t $187,57¢

$(45,120 $(57,059) $(62,53) $(61,18) $(2524) $  (68) $(15,809
(785 (2,019 (7,079 (247) (891) (17,989
(647) (896) (1,125 (1,079 (929 4,531
(841) (776€) (870) (915) (965) (1,109
287 (2,270 29,65 7,36¢ 6,76¢  25,08¢

19,28: 19,92¢ 25,34« 32,14: 33,98t 30,85¢

— — — — 10,217 —

6,75( 12,07( 1,28( 93C — —

— 265 6,16( — — —
36,29¢ 28,84% 28,32¢ 19,32; 9,25¢ 25,88¢

(1,129 21,87 (6,662 (29,689 (50,479 (43,157

$ 2,167 $ 14,497 $ 1384 $ 2,60: $ 6,901 $ 8,31

Year Ended December 31

$175,10: $161,35¢ $146,67° $152,10t $187,57¢ $229,81!
$ 2,165 $ 14,497 $ 1384t $ 2,60: $ 6,901 $ 8,31( $ 28,73¢

2014 2013

(in thousands)

$ (9,20) $ (7,819 $
82,89 129,04

$ (4,51) $ 28,67« $ 195,76

(344,15¢) 147 47¢
15,11¢ (95,81%)
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As of December 31, 2014, we had cash, cash equoisaded marketable securities of approximately $billion, which consisted of
cash, money market funds, U.S. government and gowemt agency debt securities and corporate debtiges. For the full year ended
December 31, 2014, we made capital expenditur&8.@f million, which included hardware and softwaresupport business operations.

In October 2012, our board of directors authorizek200 million stock repurchase program. We iretigburchases under this program in
December 2012. In 2012 and 2013 we repurchasedgegate of 5.0 million shares and 3.4 million slsasf our Class A common stock un
this repurchase program at a weighted average pfi$2.36 per share and $2.74 per share for aabtl1.8 million and $9.3 million,
respectively. We did not repurchase any share®14 2The total amount repurchased under the pla$&a.1 million. The program expired
October 31, 2014.

Operating Activities

After our net loss of $225.9 million is adjustedetxclude non-cash items, operating activities @&k8 million of cash during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014. Significant noh-itesis included stockased expense of $129.2 million and depreciatichammortizatiol
of $82.9 million. Depreciation and amortization deased by $46.2 million as compared to the tweleaths ended December 31, 2013 as a
result of fixed assets that were fully depreciard disposed of and intangible assets that welyedmiortized in 2014. Stock-based expense
increased by $44.8 million in the twelve monthsesh®ecember 31, 2014 as compared to the same eribe prior year primarily due to
grants related to the NaturalMotion acquisitiont biesh provided by operating activities decline8.83nillion when compared to the twelve
months ended December 31, 2013, the decline wamgly due to changes in our operating assetsiabdities in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014, including changes of $24.6 onilind $5.4 million in other liabilities and incorax receivable, respectively, partially
offset by changes of $16.5 million and $6.4 millioraccounts receivable and accounts payable, cégply.

After our net loss of $37.0 million is adjustedetxclude non-cash items, operating activities predi28.7 million of cash during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2013. Signifinantcash items included depreciation and amortinadf $129.0 million, stock-based
expense of $84.4 million, accretion and amortizatia marketable securities of $17.6 million and amment of intangible assets of $10.2
million. Depreciation and amortization decreasedbf.5 million as compared to the twelve monthsegindecember 31, 2012 as a result of
fixed assets that were fully depreciated and dispad and intangible assets that were fully amediar impaired in 2013. Stodkased expens
decreased by $197.6 million in the twelve monthdeenDecember 31, 2013 as compared to the samelperibe prior year primarily due to
increased forfeiture credits resulting from empwgtrition in 2013. Net cash provided by operatgvities declined $165.0 million primar
due to changes in our operating assets and liabilit the twelve months ended December 31, 20it8)ding a $157.1 million decline in
deferred revenue offset by increases in accoun&vable and other assets.

After our net loss of $209.5 million is adjustedetxclude non-cash items, operating activities ptedi$195.8 million of cash during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2012. Signifinantcash items included stock-based expense of @28ilion, depreciation and
amortization of $141.5 million and impairment ofangible assets of $95.5 million. Stock-based esperas composed primarily of employee
ZSU and stock option expense and decreased byZ&iiion in the twelve months ended December &, 2as compared to the same perioc
of the prior year due to expense related to ZSk'3011 as a result of our IPO. Depreciation andréimation increased by $46.1 million as
compared to the twelve months ended December 311, 28 a result of our continued investment in prigpend equipment, including the
purchase of our corporate headquarters building baisiness acquisitions. Changes in our operatisgta and liabilities used $67.8 million of
cash in the twelve months ended December 31, Z0iRarily due to a decrease in deferred revenusebffy increases in accounts receivable
other assets and other liabilities. Changes inaipgy assets and liabilities provided $77.4 millaircash during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2011, primarily due to increasesliemliabilities, deferred revenue and accounts Ipleyaffset by a decrease in income tax
receivable.
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Investing Activities

Investing activities used $344.2 million during theslve months ended December 31, 2014. The primaiffows of cash associated w
investing activities was the business acquisitibNaturalMotion for which $391.0 was paid in caShe primary cash inflows were $47.7
million for the sales and maturities of marketadseurities, net of purchases. Capital expenditwezs $9.2 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2014, which mainly relatededrillestment in hardware and software to suppainiess operations. We expect capital
expenditures of approximately $10 million in 2015.

Investing activities resulted in a cash inflow G#%.5 million during the twelve months ended Decen81, 2013. The primary inflows
cash associated with investing activities were $.&8illion for the sales and maturities of markégatecurities, net of purchases. Capital
expenditures were $7.8 million for the twelve manémded December 31, 2013, which mainly relatedeanvestment in our data centers and
other hardware and software to maintain our datecémfrastructure.

Investing activities resulted in a cash outflow$af5 billion during the twelve months ended Decen®dg 2012. The primary uses of ¢
associated with investing activities were $954 ionillfor the purchase of marketable securitiespfietles and maturities; $233.7 million for
the purchase of our corporate headquarters buiklg$205.5 million, net of cash acquired, for bass acquisitions. Excluding the purchase
of our corporate headquarters building, capitakexiitures were $98.1 million for the twelve mongimsled December 31, 2012, which mainly
related to the continued investment in our datdezsrand other hardware and software to suppongauvth.

Financing Activities

Financing activities provided approximately $15.dlion during the twelve months ended DecemberZi14, the primary inflow of cas
was $16.4 million of cash receipts from exercisesmployee stock options and employee stock puschkm.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 201Jritary outflow of cash associated with financimghaties was $100.0 million for
the repayment of debt and $11.2 million of excasscbsts from stock-based awards. We also hadhaic#ew of $18.2 million for cash
received from the exercise of employee stock optanmd warrants.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2012prnary financing activity was $99.8 million in preeds from a term loan, net of
issuance costs, entered into on June 29, 2012 I8Wdad cash out flows of $26.3 million for tax pants made in connection with the vesting
of stock awards and cash received from the exeofisenployee stock options and warrants of $17lGani

Credit Facility

In June 2013, we amended and restated our exigtumjving credit agreement which we originally edtesa in July 2011, reducing our
maximum available credit from $1.0 billion to $20@lion, and extending the term of our amended agrent to expire in June of 2018. The
interest rate for the credit facility is determingased on a formula using certain market ratedesasribed in the amended credit agreement.
Additionally, our minimum quarterly commitment feas reduced from $0.6 million per quarter to $0illion per quarter based on the port
of the credit facility that is not drawn down. Tagreement requires us to comply with certain cortnancluding maintaining a minimum
capitalization ratio, and maintaining a minimumtcasalance. As of December 31, 2014, we have neirddbwn any amounts under the credit
facility and are in compliance with these covenants
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangeme2814, 2013 and 2012.

Lease Obligations

We have entered into operating leases for fadgliiecluding data center space. As of Decembe?@14, future minimum lease payme
related to these leases are as follows (in thowand

Year ending December 3

2015 $ 28,05¢
2016 22,75:
2017 13,04¢
2018 11,78¢
2019 and thereaftt 33,96¢

$109,60t

We do not have any material capital lease obligatiand all of our property, equipment and softwe® been purchased with cash.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make estand assumptions that af
the reported amounts in our consolidated finarstetements and related notes. Our significant atowupolicies are described in Note 1 to
our consolidated financial statements includedhis Annual Report. We have identified below outical accounting policies and estimates

that we

believe require the greatest amount offuelyg. These estimates and judgments have a samifimpact on our consolidated financial

statements. Actual results could differ materiflbm those estimates. The accounting policiesrfiéct our more significant estimates and
judgments and that we believe are the most crit@éllly understand and evaluate our reportedrfaia results include the followiny

Revenue recognitio

Income taxe:

Business combinatior

Stoclk-based expens

Goodwill and indefinit-lived intangible asse
Impairment of lon-lived asset:

Revenue Recognition

We derive revenue from the sale of virtual goodmaimted with our online games and the sale ofréidirgy.

Online Game

We operate our games as live services that allayeps to play for free. Within these games, plagarspurchase virtual currency to
obtain virtual goods to enhance their game-plagixigerience. Players can pay for our virtual curyarging Facebook local currency payment:
when playing our games through the Facebook platf@n platforms other than Facebook, players pweloar virtual currency and/or virtual
goods through
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various widely accepted payment methods offerdtlérgames, including PayPal, Apple iTunes acco@uegle Wallet, credit cards and dir
wires. We also sell existing inventory of game editht are initially recorded as a customer depiaditlity which is included in other current
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheetofiétes retained by retailers and distributors. typedemption of a game card in one of our
games and delivery of the purchased virtual cugréache player, these amounts are reclassifietbferred revenue. Advance payments from
customers that are non-refundable and relate tecaanellable contracts that specify our obligatiaresrecorded to deferred revenue. All othel
advance payments that do not meet these criterieeaorded as customer deposits.

We recognize revenue when all of the following dtéods are satisfied: there is persuasive evidafi@n arrangement; the service has
been provided to the player; the collection of fa@s is reasonably assured; and the amount ofddms paid by the player is fixed or
determinable. For purposes of determining wherséreice has been provided to the player, we hatemeed that an implied obligation
exists to the paying player to continue displaytimg purchased virtual goods within the online gawer their estimated life or until they are
consumed. Accordingly, we categorize our virtuabdmas either consumable or durable. The proceentsthe sale of virtual goods are
initially recorded in deferred revenue. Consumalitieial goods represent goods that can be consiloypadspecific player action. Common
characteristics of consumable goods may includealigoods that are no longer displayed on thegplaygame board after a short period of
time, do not provide the player any continuing lieriellowing consumption or often times enablelayer to perform an in-game action
immediately. For the sale of consumable virtualdgave recognize revenue as the goods are conswhith approximates one month.
Durable virtual goods represent virtual goods #rataccessible to the player over an extendedgefitme. We recognize revenue from the
sale of durable virtual goods ratably over thenested average playing period of paying playergHerapplicable game, which represents our
best estimate of the average life of durable virgoads. If we do not have the ability to differamé revenue attributable to durable virtual
goods from consumable virtual goods for a spegiéime we recognize revenue on the sale of durable@msumable virtual goods for that
game ratably over the estimated average periochthang players typically play that game.

Prior to October 1, 2009, we did not have the tlatdetermine the consumption dates for our consiamafiual goods or to differentiate
revenue attributable to durable virtual goods femnsumable virtual goods. Beginning in October 2089 had sufficient data to separately
account for consumable and durable virtual goodsim of our games, thus allowing us to recognizenmae related to consumable goods upo
consumption. Since January 2010, we have had #tésfdr substantially all of our web games, thisvehg us to recognize revenue related to
consumable goods upon consumption for our web-bgaetks. However, for our standalone mobile gamesjawnot have the requisite data tc
separately account for consumable and durableaVigoiods and have therefore recorded mobile reveatably over the estimated average
payer life. We expect that in future periods theikébe changes in the mix of durable and consumabtual goods sold, reduced virtual good
sales in some existing games, changes in estinmate®rage paying payer life and/or changes inatility to make such estimates. When sucl
changes occur, and in particular if more of ouerae in any period is derived from goods for whigbenue is recognized over the estimated
average playing period, or that period increaseavanage, the amount of revenue that we recogniadfuture period may be reduced, perhap:
significantly.

On a quarterly basis, we determine the estimatedcage playing period for paying players by gamarbeng at the time of a payerfirst
purchase in that game and ending on a date whepdkiang player is no longer playing the game. €edmine when paying players are no
longer playing a given game, we analyze monthlyoctshof paying players for that game who made thesir in-game payment between six i
18 months prior to the beginning of each quarter @etermine whether each player within the cotsoan active or inactive player as of the
date of our analysis. To determine which playeesimactive, we analyze the dates that each payaygplast logged into that game. We
determine a paying player to be inactive once tiese reached a period of inactivity for which ipimbable (defined as at least 80%) that a
player will not return to a specific game. For ffagyers deemed inactive as of our analysis datenalyze the dates they last logged into
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that game to determine the rate at which inactiagers stopped playing. Based on these dates wepttogect a date at which all paying play
for each monthly cohort are expected to ceasemgayiir games. We then average the time periodsfirehhpurchase date and the date the la:
player is expected to cease playing the game fdr eiithe monthly cohorts to determine the totalypig period for that game. To determine
the estimated average playing period we then dithdetotal playing period by two. The use of ttagerage” approach is supported by our
observations that paying players typically beconaeiive at a relatively consistent rate for our ganif future data indicates paying players dc
not become inactive at a relatively consistent, natewill modify our calculations accordingly. Whamew game is launched and only a lim
period of paying player data is available for onalgtsis, then we also consider other factors, sscthe estimated average playing period for
other recently launched games with similar charésties, to determine the estimated average playeripd.

Future usage patterns may differ from historicalgespatterns and therefore the estimated averagmglperiods may change in the
future. We assess the estimated average playingdpfer paying players and the estimated averdgeofiour virtual goods quarterly. Changes
in our estimated average life of durable virtuabd® during the twelve months ended December 314 ffFlvarious games resulted in a
decrease in revenue, income from continuing oparatand net income of $1.2 million, which is theuleof adjusting the remaining
recognition period of deferred revenue generatgatior periods at the time of a change in estimakese changes in estimates did not impact
our reported earnings per share for the twelve hwahded December 31, 2014.

From July 2010 through the third quarter of 201&;ébook’s proprietary virtual currency, Facebook&dits, was the primary in-game
payment method for our games played on the Faceplatiorm. Under the terms of our agreement witbhdbmok, Facebook set the price our
players pay for Facebook Credits and collecteduhds from the sale of Facebook Credits. Facebastited face value of a Facebook Credit
was $0.10. For each Facebook Credit purchased hylayers and redeemed in our games, Facebookteenbit us $0.07, which is the amount
we recognized as revenue. Accordingly, we recoghizgenue net of the amounts retained by Facebslated to Facebook Credits
transactions because we did not set the pricitgpoébook Credits sold to the players of our gamdsazebook. In July 2013, Facebook bega
to transition payments made on the Facebook phatfosm Facebook Credits to Facebook’s local curydresed payments program. This
transition was completed in the fourth quarter @2 Under the terms of our agreement, Facebookseonus 70% of the price we request to
be charged to the game player for each transadti@recognize revenue net of the amounts retaigdehbebook related to Facebook local
currency-based payments because Facebook may dioocaiser our recommended price, for example bgraffy a discount or other incentives
to players playing on their platform. Additionallye do not receive information from Facebook intigathe amount of such discounts offe
to our paying players or regarding the actual ¢estl by our players to Facebook. Accordingly, we @amable to determine the gross amount
paid by our players to Facebook.

For revenue earned through certain mobile platfointduding Apple iOS and Google Android, we recizgronline game revenue based
on the gross amount paid by the player becauseeviaa@ primary obligor and we have the contraatighit to determine the price to be paid by
the player. We record the related platform and payrprocessing fees as cost of revenue in thegaraurred.

We estimate chargebacks from our third-party wabranbile payment processors to account for potefutiare chargebacks based on
historical data and record such amounts as a rieduzt revenue.

Advertising

We have contractual relationships with agenciegedi$ing brokers and certain advertisers for atiisements within our games. We
generally report our advertising revenue net of am®retained by advertising networks, agencied baokers because we are not the primary
obligor in our arrangements, we do not set theipgicand we do not establish or maintain the refethip with the advertiser. Certain
advertising arrangements that are directly betweeand end advertisers are recognized gross amtiad price paid to us by the end advertisel
since we are the primary obligor and we determtieeptrice.
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We recognize advertising revenue for branded Jigoads and sponsorships, engagement advertisearethisffers, mobile
advertisements and other advertisements as adredigs are delivered to customers as long as exdderthe arrangement exists (executed
contract), the price is fixed or determinable, arhave assessed collectability as reasonablyexssOertain branded in-game sponsorships
that involve virtual goods are deferred and recogghiover the estimated life of the branded virggad or as consumed, similar to online gam
revenue. Price is determined to be fixed and detetole when there is a fixed price in the applieadlidence of the arrangement, which may
include a master contract, insertion order, ol tharty statement of activity. For branded vittgaods and sponsorships, we determine the
delivery criteria has been met based on delivefigrination primarily from third parties. For engagemhadvertisements and offers, mobile
advertisements, and other advertisements, delvesyrs when the advertisement has been displayéxr affer has been completed by the
customer, as evidenced by third party verificatieports supporting the number of advertisemengdaljed or offers completed.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset aniitijagdpproach, which requires the recognition &tes payable or refundable for the
current year and deferred tax liabilities and askmtthe future tax consequences of events that haen recognized in our financial statement
or tax returns. The measurement of current andideféax assets and liabilities is based on promsbf enacted tax laws; the effects of future
changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipafetbdessary, the measurement of deferred tax dsseduced by the amount of any tax ben:
that are not expected to be realized based onadlmibvidence. We account for uncertain tax passtiny reporting a liability for unrecognized
tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax posititaigen or expected to be taken in a tax returnré&@egnize interest and penalties, if any,
related to unrecognized tax benefits in provisianificome taxes.

In June 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@oatified Accounting Standards Update 2013*Ptesentation of an
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Gagsyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credar@/forward Exists"which
concludes an unrecognized tax benefit should beepted as a reduction of a deferred tax asset sdtdament in this manner is available
under the tax law. We adopted this amendment ifitstequarter of 2014, which resulted in a redoctof non-current liabilities of $33.3
million.

Business Combinations

In line with our growth strategy, we have complededuisitions to expand our social games and maolfidgings, obtain employee talent,
and expand into new markets. We account for adgpisi of entities that include inputs and processekshave the ability to create outputs as
business combinations. We allocate the purchase pfithe acquisition, which includes the estimatequisition date fair value of contingent
consideration, to the tangible assets, liabiliied identifiable intangible assets acquired basettheir estimated fair values. The excess of the
purchase price over those fair values is recordegbadwill. Determining the fair value of such itenequires judgment, including estimating
future cash flows or estimating the cost to re@eat acquired asset. If actual results are lowaer #stimates, we could be required to record
impairment charges in the future. Acquired intafeydssets are amortized over their estimated ubedsl Intangible assets with indefinite
lives are not amortized but rather tested for immpait annually, or more frequently if circumstanegist which indicate an impairment may
exist.

Acquisition-related expenses and restructuringscast expensed as incurred. During the one-yeadeeginning with the acquisition
date, we may record certain purchase accountingstudgnts related to the fair value of assets aeduind liabilities assumed against goodwill
After the final determination of the fair valueadsets acquired or liabilities assumed, any sulesegqujustments are recorded to our
consolidated statements of operations. We recandgds in the fair value of contingent consideraliiginilities within operating expenses in
our consolidated statement of operations each tiagqueriod.
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Stock-Based Expense

Prior to our IPO in December 2011, we granted Z&8Usur employees that generally vest upon thefaatien of both a service-based
condition of up to four years and a liquidity catiot, the latter of which was satisfied in connetivith our IPO in December 2011. Because
the liquidity condition was not satisfied until oll#O, in prior periods, we had not recorded anyeasge relating to the granting of our ZSUs. In
the fourth quarter of 2011, after the IPO, we redped $510 million of stock-based expense assatiatth ZSUs that vested in connection
with our IPO. This expense is in addition to thecktbased expense we recognize related to outsiguedjuity awards other than ZSUs as well
as expenses related to ZSUs or other equity avthadsnay be granted in the future.

For ZSUs granted prior to the IPO, and for awatdgext to performance conditions, we recognizekstiased expense based on grant
date fair value using the accelerated attributi@thmod in which compensation cost for each vestiagche in an award is recognized ratably
from the service inception date to the vesting flat¢hat tranche. For ZSUs granted after the WRRich are only subject to a service conditi
we recognize stock-based expense based on granfaitatalue on a ratable basis over the requssitgice period for the entire award.

We estimate the fair value of stock options ushgyBlack-Scholes option-pricing model. This modgjuires the use of the following
assumptions: expected volatility of our Class A awon stock, which is based on our peer group inrttiestry in which we do business;
expected life of the option award, which we eledtedalculate using the simplified method; expea®idend yield, which is 0%, as we have
not paid and do not anticipate paying dividend®encommon stock; and the risk-free interest natéch is based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant with matustiequal to the grant’'s expected life. Option gramtserally vest over four years, with 25%
vesting after one year and the remainder vestingtinhpthereafter over 36 months. The options hawerdractual term of 10 years. If any of
the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes modeigasasignificantly, stock-based expense for futwvards may differ materially compared
with the awards granted previously. We record stoaged expense for stock options on a ratable basisthe vesting term.

For stock options issued to non-employees, inclydionsultants, we record expense related to stpiérs equal to the fair value of the
options calculated using the Black-Scholes model tive service performance period. The fair valugptions granted to non-employees is
remeasured over the vesting period and recognizeth &xpense over the period the services arevestei

Stock-based expense is recorded net of estimattdtfwes so that expense is recorded for onlydtsisck-based awards that we expect
to vest. We estimate forfeitures based on our hégtbforfeiture of equity awards adjusted to refleuture changes in facts and circumstances,
if any. We will revise our estimated forfeitureeat actual forfeitures differ from our initial estates.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets aggried at cost and are evaluated annually foaimpent, or more frequently if
circumstances exist that indicate that impairmeay exist. When conducting our annual goodwill innpeent assessment, we perform a
guantitative evaluation of whether goodwill is inmea using the two-step impairment test. The Btep is comparing the fair value of our
reporting unit to its carrying value. We considar oonsolidated entity to be our single reporting tor this analysis. If step one indicates that
impairment potentially exists, the second stepeifgzmed to measure the amount of impairment, yf &vie record the amount by which the
carrying value of the goodwill exceeds its implfad value, if any, as impairment.

For our annual impairment analysis performed infthueth quarter of 2014, our estimates of fair ealvere based on the market appra
which estimated the fair value of our reportingtosised on the company’s market capitalization. fEsalt of the impairment analysis showed
that the estimated fair value of the Company exedéid carrying value. Accordingly, we concludeddwill was not impaired.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including other intangible asgexcluding indefinite-lived intangible assetsg eeviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate at'sisaerying value may not be recoverable. If sothumstances are present, we assess the
recoverability of the londjved assets by comparing the carrying value tautingdiscounted future cash flows associated witlreéteted assets.
the future net undiscounted cash flows are legs i@ carrying value of the assets, the assetsomsdered impaired and an expense, equal t
the amount required to reduce the carrying valubefssets to the estimated fair value, using@dnted future cash flow approach, is
recorded in the consolidated statements of opemtidignificant judgment is required to estimadmount and timing of future cash flows
and the relative risk of achieving those cash flows

Assumptions and estimates about future valuesemdining useful lives are complex and often subjecThey can be affected by a
variety of factors, including external factors sashindustry and economic trends, and internabfactuch as changes in our business strateq
and our internal forecasts. For example, if ounfeitoperating results do not meet current foreaasifsve experience a continued decline in
our market capitalization, we may be required tmrd future impairment charges for goodwill anddoquired intangible assets. Impairment
charges could materially decrease our future retme and result in lower asset values on our balaheet.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information with respect to recent accountingnouncements and the impact of these pronouncementur consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1—"Overview and Summary afifsdgnt Accounting Policies” in the notes to theneolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrK10

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE AB OUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents and marketable 8eswdnsist of cash, money market funds, U.S. goment debt securities and
corporate debt securities. The primary objectivewfinvestment activities is to preserve princigaisure liquidity and maximize income
without significantly increasing risk. Our availabfor-sale investments consist of U.S. governmadtarporate debt securities which may be
subject to market risk due to changes in prevailimerest rates that may cause the fair valuesiofnrvestments to fluctuate. Based on a
sensitivity analysis, we have determined that eottygtical 100 basis points increase in interesisratould have resulted in a decrease in the
fair values of our investments of approximately4$@iillion as of December 31, 2014. Such losses @vouly be realized if we sold the
investments prior to maturity.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We have foreign currency risks related to our reeesind operating expenses incurred outside thetlB8itates and denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency efdhtities in which they are recorded. Accordinglg, are subject to fluctuations due to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, péatlgichanges in the Euro, Chinese Yuan, Japanese British Pound, Canadian Dollar,
Australian Dollar and Indian Rupee. The volatilitiyexchange rates depends on many factors thatmeot forecast with reliable accuracy.
Although we have experienced and will continuexpegience fluctuations in our net income (lossa agsult of transaction gains (losses)
related to revaluing certain cash balances, tradeumts receivable, trade accounts payable, cuiedriities and intercompany balances that
are denominated in currencies other than the Wlifardwe believe such a change would not have t@miahimpact on our results of operatic

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefiaEct on our business, financial condition owitesof operations. If our costs were to
become subject to significant inflationary pressumee may not be able to fully offset such highasts through price increases. Our inability o
failure to do so could harm our business, finanoiaddition and results of operations.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Zynga Inc.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The supplementary financial information requirecttg Item 8 is included in Item 7 under the captiQuarterly Results of Operations Data,”
which is incorporated herein by reference.
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Report of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Registerel Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Zynga In

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Zynga Inc. as of December 31, 20142ah8, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive incoms)(lstockholders’ equity and cash flows for eacthefthree years in the period ended
December 31, 2014. Our audits also included thenfifal statement schedule listed in the Indexea 115(a). These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’'sagament. Our responsibility is to express an opiin these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finataieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digs in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Zynga Inc.
at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidesedts of its operations and its cash flows fmteof the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. gengralicepted accounting principles. Also, in our apinthe related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasaaicial statements taken as a whole, presentyg faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Zynga Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2014, based on criteria establishedtémrial Control-Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (2013 framework) and our regated February 24, 2015
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI
San Francisco, CA
February 24, 2015
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Report of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Registerel Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Zynga In

We have audited Zynga Inc.’s internal control oweancial reporting as of December 31, 2014, basedriteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Casion (2013 framework), (“the
COSO criteria”). Zynga Inc.’s management is resfmagor maintaining effective internal control avfamancial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accomgagyManagement’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilet to express an opinion on the comparigternal control over financial reporting basex
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considereessary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableamesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettfansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioazations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanveterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’'s Repointernal Control over Financial Reporting, mgement’s assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal condradr financial reporting did not include the imef controls of NaturalMotion, Inc., which is
included in the 2014 consolidated financial statet:i©f Zynga Inc. and constituted less than 2%edfamd total assets as of December 31,
and less than 4% of revenues for the year thendei@igr audit of internal control over financial ogping of Zynga Inc. also did not include an
evaluation of the internal control over financieporting of NaturalMotion, Inc.

In our opinion, Zynga Inc. maintained, in all méérespects, effective internal control over finah reporting as of December 31, 2014, base
on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the 2014
consolidated financial statements of Zynga Inc. amdreport dated February 24, 2015 expressed aqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI
San Francisco, CA
February 24, 2015
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Assets

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $0 at Dawer 31, 2014 and December 31, 2(

Income tax receivabl
Deferred tax asse
Restricted cas

Other current asse

Total current asse
Long-term marketable securitit
Goodwill

Other intangible assets, r
Property and equipment, r
Other lon¢-term asset
Total asset

Liabilities and stockholde’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl

Other current liabilitiet
Deferred revenu

Total current liabilities
Deferred revenu

Deferred tax liabilities
Other nor-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholder equity:

Common stock, $.00000625 par value, and additipa in capite—authorized share
2,020,517; shares outstanding: 905,860 sharesq®las70,658, Class B, 114,685, Class C, 20,
as of December 31, 2014 and 832,309 (Class A, 685@lass B, 126,238, Class C, 20,517) :

December 31, 201

Accumulated other comprehensive income (li

Accumulated defici
Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par value)

December 31

December 31

2014 2013

$ 131,30 $ 465,52
785,22: 659,97:
89,61 65,66
3,30¢ 6,94:
2,76¢ 16,29:
48,04 3,49:
22,68t 23,50
1,082,93! 1,241,39
231,38 416,47
650,77 227,98
66,86 18,28:
297,91 348,79:
18,91 26,14

$ 2,348,79. $2,279,08!
$ 14,96 $ 20,97
164,15 68,86t
189,92 186,66:
369,03 276,50:
3,88: 3,25:
5,32: —
74,85¢ 122,06
453,10: 401,81«
3,096,98; 2,823,74
(29,179 (1,046)
(1,172,11) (945,420)
1,895,69: 1,877,27
$ 2,348,79. $2,279,08
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Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Revenue
Online game $537,61¢ $759,57. $1,144,25
Advertising and othe 152,79: 113,69: 137,01!
Total revenue 690,41( 873,26t 1,281,26
Costs and expense
Cost of revenu 213,57( 248,35t 352,16¢
Research and developmt 396,55: 413,00: 645,64¢
Sales and marketir 157,36 104,40: 181,92:
General and administrati 167,66: 162,91¢ 189,00:
Impairment of intangible asse — 10,217 95,49:
Total costs and expens 935,15! 938,89 1,464,23;
Income (loss) from operatiol (244,74) (65,63)) (182,97)
Interest incom 3,26¢ 4,14¢ 4,74¢
Other income (expense), r 8,24¢ (3,386 18,64"
Income (loss) before income tay (233,22) (64,869 (159,57
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (7,329 (27,887) 49,87:
Net income (loss $(225,900) $(36,987) $ (209,449
Net income (loss) per share attributable to comstookholder:
Basic $ (0260 $ (0.0 ¢ (0.2¢)
Diluted $ (026 $ (0.0 8 (0.2¢)
Weighted average common shares used to compuiecoete (loss) per share attributable to
common stockholder:
Basic 874,50¢ 799,79: 741,17
Diluted 874,50¢ 799,79: 741,17

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)

Net income (loss
Other comprehensive income (los
Change in foreign currency translation adjustn

Net change on unrealized gains (losses) on ave-for-sale investments, net of t

Zynga Inc.

(In thousands)

Net change on unrealized gains (losses) on der&atstrument:

Other comprehensive income (los
Comprehensive income (los:

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$(225,90) $(36,987) $(209,44%)
(27,527 (1,586 (126)
(607) (43€) 74C
— 2,42¢ (2,429)
(28,129 401 (1,809)
$(254,029 $(36,58) $(211,25)
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Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Balances at December 31, 2011

Exercise of stock optior

Vesting of ZSUs, ne

Issuance of common stock in connection with busiresjuisition:
Cancellation of unvested restricted common s

Stocl-based expens

Vesting of common stock following the early exeecisf options
Repurchase of common sto

Tax benefit from stoc-based expens

Net loss

Other comprehensive lo

Balances at December 31, 2(

Exercise of stock options, warrants, and E!

Vesting of ZSUs, ne

Issuance of common stock in connection with busiresjuisition:
Cancellation of unvested restricted common s

Stocl-based expens

Vesting of common stock following the early exeecis options
Retirement of treasury stock, net of repurch:

Tax benefit from stoc-based expens

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balances at December 31, 2(

Balances at December 31, 2(

Exercise of stock options, warrants, and E:

Vesting of ZSUs, ne

Issuance of common stock in connection with busiresjuisition:
Cancellation of unvested restricted common s

Stocl-based expens

Vesting of common stock following the early exeectf options
Retirement of treasury stock, net of repurch:

Tax benefit from stoc-based expens

Net loss

Other comprehensive incor

Balances at December 31, 2(

(In thousands)

Retained
Common Stock Additional Earnings Total
Paid-In Treasury (Accumulated Stockholders
Shares Amount Capital Stock OClI Deficit) Equity

72159; % 4  $2,426,16. $(282,89) $ 36z $ (394,099 $ 1,749,553
42,28t 1 21,44¢ — — — 21,44,
25,64¢ — (25,807 (460) — — (26,267)
3,20¢ — 194 — — — 194
(9,819 — — — — — —
1,291 — 281,98t — — — 281,98t
— — 614 — — — 614
(4,967) — — (11,756 — — (11,75€)
— — 21,00 — — — 21,00
— — — — — (209,449 (209,44
— — — — (1,809 — (1,809
779,24 % 5 $2,725,60  $(295,11) $ (1,44 $ (60354) $ 1,825,550
34,02( — 26,11t — — — 26,11t
22,91« — (907) (486€) — — (1,387)
(502) — — — — — —
— — 84,39: — — — 84,39:

— — 362 — — — 362
(3,372) — — 295,59¢ — (304,90:) (9,307)
— — (11,837) — — — (11,837)
— — — — — (36,987) (36,987)

— — — — 401 — 401
832,30¢ $ 5 $2,823,73 % — $ (1,046 $ (945420 $ 1,877,27
832,30¢ $ $2,823,73  $ — $ (1,046 $ (945,420 $ 1,877,27
11,46: — 16,42: — — — 16,42:
22,58: — (429) (789 — — (1,21¥)
39,75¢ — 131,15¢ — — — 131,15¢

(200) — — — — — —
— — 126,85t — — — 126,85t
— — 341 — — — 341

(46) — — 78¢ — (789) —
— — (1,10¢) — — — (1,109
— — — — — (225,90() (225,901)
— — — — (28,129 — (28,129
905,86 $ 5 $3,09,97 $ = $(29,17H $ (1,172,11) $ 1,895,69
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Zynga Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Operating activities
Net income (loss $(225,90)0 $ (36,98) $ (209,449
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to msthcprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 82,89 129,04° 141,47¢
Stocl-based expens 129,23: 84,39: 281,98t
(Gain) loss from sales of investments, assets Hrat,met (1,610 8,14 563
Net gain on termination of lease and purchase ivdibng — — (19,886
Tax benefits (costs) from stc-based award (86) (11,249 21,65:
Excess tax benefits (costs) from st-based award 86 11,24« (21,657)
Accretion and amortization on marketable secur 10,06: 17,57¢ 17,22
Deferred income taxe (20,987 (18,76¢) (43,84))
Impairment of intangible asse — 10,217 95,49:
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable, n (16,489 40,80¢t 34,33¢
Income tax receivabl 5,43: (1,336 12,97¢
Other asset 971 3,93 19,90¢
Accounts payabl (6,397%) (2,325 (21,317
Deferred revenu 3,64: (157,090 (133,640
Other liabilities 24,62¢ (48,949 19,92¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi (4,517 28,67« 195,76
Investing activities
Purchases of marketable securi (758,509 (1,074,91) (1,826,13)
Sales and maturities of marketable secur 806,23: 1,244,84. 871,74
Purchase of corporate headquarters buil — — (233,700
Acquisition of property and equipme (9,20)) (7,819 (98,05¢)
Business acquisition, net of cash acqu (392,41) (18,059 (205,510
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 5,05¢ 3,057 —
Equity method investmel — — (10,000
Restricted cas — 227 6,97¢
Other investing activities, ni 4,671 137 (2,256
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (344,159 147,47t (1,496,93)
Financing activities
Proceeds from debt, net of issuance ¢ — — 99,78(
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of yquiirds (1,216 (1,389 (26,307
Repurchases of common stc — (9,309 (12,756
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan andisgef stock option 16,42: 26,11¢ 21,44¢
Excess tax benefits from stc-based award (86) (11,249 21,65:
Repayment of det — (100,000) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 15,11¢ (95,819 104,81t
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaénts (669) (758 (45)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (334,22() 79,57¢ (1,196,39)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 465,52: 385,94¢ 1,582,34.
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 131,30: $ 465,52 $ 385,94¢

See accompanying notes.
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Zynga Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Overview and Summary of Significant Accounting Blicies
Organization and Description of Business

Zynga Inc. (“Zynga,” “we” or “the Company”) develspmarkets, and operates social games as livecesrglayed over the Internet and
on social networking sites and mobile platforms. §féaerate revenue through the in-game sale ofabigoods and through advertising. Our
operations are headquartered in San Franciscdp@adi, and we have several operating locatiorthénU.S. as well as various international
office locations in North America, Asia and Europe.

We completed our initial public offering in Decemi2911 and our Class A common stock is listed @NASDAQ Global Select
Market under the symbol “ZNGA.”

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemam@presented in accordance with United Statesrgdnaccepted accounting
principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The consolidated finaniciatements include the operations of us and dwllwrowned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in the consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make edtand assumptions that af
the reported amounts in the consolidated finarsta@tements and notes thereto. Significant estinaatdsassumptions reflected in the financial
statements include, but are not limited to, thevexted lives of virtual goods that we use for rax@necognition, useful lives of property and
equipment and intangible assets, accrued lials)itrecome taxes, accounting for business combingtistock-based expense and evaluation o
goodwill, intangible assets, and long-lived asgatsmpairment. Actual results could differ matdisifrom those estimates.

Segments

We have one operating segment with one businesstyctleveloping and monetizing social games. Ohief Operating Decision Mak
(“*CODM"), our Chief Executive Officer, manages aperations on a consolidated basis for purposa#iaxfating resources. When evaluating
performance and allocating resources, the CODMerewifinancial information presented on a consadiddtasis, accompanied by
disaggregated bookings information for our games.

Revenue Recognition
We derive revenue from the sale of virtual good®aimted with our online games and the sale ofréidirgy.

Online Game

We operate our games as live services that alleyeps to play for free. Within these games, plagarspurchase virtual currency to
obtain virtual goods to enhance their game-plagixigerience. Players can pay for our virtual curyarging Facebook local currency payment:
when playing our games through the Facebook platf@n platforms other than Facebook, players pweloar virtual currency and/or virtual
goods through various widely accepted payment nastieffered in the games, including PayPal, Appleénds accounts,
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Google Wallet, credit cards and direct wires. Wemaell existing inventory of game cards that aitiaily recorded as a customer deposit
liability which is included in other current lialties on the consolidated balance sheet, net sfrietained by retailers and distributors. Upon
redemption of a game card in one of our games afidedy of the purchased virtual currency to thayglr, these amounts are reclassified to
deferred revenue. Advance payments from custorhatste non-refundable and relate to non-cancelledmtracts that specify our obligations
are recorded to deferred revenue. All other advaagenents that do not meet these criteria are dedoas customer deposits.

We recognize revenue when all of the following dtods are satisfied: there is persuasive evidafi@gn arrangement; the service has
been provided to the player; the collection of fa@s is reasonably assured; and the amount ofddss paid by the player is fixed or
determinable. For purposes of determining whersémeice has been provided to the player, we hatem@eed that an implied obligation
exists to the paying player to continue displaytimg purchased virtual goods within the online gawer their estimated life or until they are
consumed. Accordingly, we categorize our virtuabdmas either consumable or durable. The proceentsthe sale of virtual goods are
initially recorded in deferred revenue. Consumaitieial goods represent goods that can be consilayadspecific player action. Common
characteristics of consumable goods may includealigoods that are no longer displayed on thegplaygame board after a short period of
time, do not provide the player any continuing lieriellowing consumption or often times enablelayer to perform an in-game action
immediately. For the sale of consumable virtualdgave recognize revenue as the goods are conswhith approximates one month.
Durable virtual goods represent virtual goods #rataccessible to the player over an extendedgefitme. We recognize revenue from the
sale of durable virtual goods ratably over thenested average playing period of paying playergHerapplicable game, which represents our
best estimate of the average life of durable virgoads. If we do not have the ability to differam¢ revenue attributable to durable virtual
goods from consumable virtual goods for a spegiéime we recognize revenue on the sale of durable@msumable virtual goods for that
game ratably over the estimated average periochthang players typically play that game.

Prior to October 1, 2009, we did not have the tlatdetermine the consumption dates for our conslemafiual goods or to differentiate
revenue attributable to durable virtual goods fiemnsumable virtual goods. Beginning in October 2089 had sufficient data to separately
account for consumable and durable virtual goodsim of our games, thus allowing us to recognizenmae related to consumable goods upol
consumption. Since January 2010, we have had #tésfdr substantially all of our web games, thimvwdhg us to recognize revenue related to
consumable goods upon consumption for our web-bgaetks. However, for our standalone mobile gamesjawnot have the requisite data tc
separately account for consumable and durableaVigoiods and have therefore recorded mobile reveatably over the estimated average
payer life. We expect that in future periods theiébe changes in the mix of durable and consumabtual goods sold, reduced virtual good
sales in some existing games, changes in estirmate®rage paying payer life and/or changes inaility to make such estimates. When sucl
changes occur, and in particular if more of ouerae in any period is derived from goods for whigbenue is recognized over the estimated
average playing period, or that period increaseavanage, the amount of revenue that we recogniadfuture period may be reduced, perhap:
significantly.

On a quarterly basis, we determine the estimatecage playing period for paying players by gameérbegg at the time of a payesrfirst
purchase in that game and ending on a date whepdkiang player is no longer playing the game. €edmine when paying players are no
longer playing a given game, we analyze monthlyoctshof paying players for that game who made thesir in-game payment between six i
18 months prior to the beginning of each quarter @etermine whether each player within the cotsoan active or inactive player as of the
date of our analysis. To determine which playeesiaactive, we analyze the dates that each payaygplast logged into that game. We
determine a paying player to be inactive once tiese reached a period of inactivity for which ipimbable (defined as at least 80%) that a
player will not return to a specific game. For ffayers deemed inactive as of our analysis datenalyze the dates they last logged into that
game to determine the rate at which inactive plgespped playing. Based on these dates we th@tpeo
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date at which all paying players for each montlufiart are expected to cease playing our gamesh@reaverage the time periods from first
purchase date and the date the last player is #eg&xcease playing the game for each of the rhootthorts to determine the total playing
period for that game. To determine the estimatedage playing period we then divide this total plgyperiod by two. The use of this
“average” approach is supported by our observatiogaispaying players typically become inactive atlatively consistent rate for our games.
If future data indicates paying players do not Imeednactive at a relatively consistent rate, we mibdify our calculations accordingly. Whe
new game is launched and only a limited periodagfipg player data is available for our analysientlve also consider other factors, such as
the estimated average playing period for othermdgéaunched games with similar characteristiogjétermine the estimated average playing
period.

Future usage patterns may differ from historicalgespatterns and therefore the estimated averagmglperiods may change in the
future. We assess the estimated average playingdpfer paying players and the estimated averdgeofiour virtual goods quarterly. Changes
in our estimated average life of durable virtuabd® during the twelve months ended December 314 ffFlvarious games resulted in a
decrease in revenue, income from continuing oparatand net income of $1.2 million, which is theuleof adjusting the remaining
recognition period of deferred revenue generatgatior periods at the time of a change in estimakese changes in estimates did not impact
our reported earnings per share for the twelve hwahded December 31, 2014.

From July 2010 through the third quarter of 201&;ébook’s proprietary virtual currency, Facebook&dits, was the primary in-game
payment method for our games played on the Faceplatiorm. Under the terms of our agreement witbdbmok, Facebook set the price our
players pay for Facebook Credits and collecteduhds from the sale of Facebook Credits. Facebastited face value of a Facebook Credit
was $0.10. For each Facebook Credit purchased hylayers and redeemed in our games, Facebookteenit us $0.07, which is the amount
we recognized as revenue. Accordingly, we recoghizgenue net of the amounts retained by Facebslated to Facebook Credits
transactions because we did not set the pricitgpoébook Credits sold to the players of our gamdsazebook. In July 2013, Facebook bega
to transition payments made on the Facebook phatfosm Facebook Credits to Facebook’s local cuiydmesed payments program.This
transition was completed in the fourth quarter @2 Under the terms of our agreement, Facebookseous 70% of the price we request to
be charged to the game player for each transadtigrecognize revenue net of the amounts retaigdeabebook related to Facebook local
currency-based payments because Facebook may dioocaiser our recommended price, for example bgraffy a discount or other incentives
to players playing on their platform. Additionallye do not receive information from Facebook intigathe amount of such discounts offe
to our paying players or regarding the actual ¢estl by our players to Facebook. Accordingly, we @amable to determine the gross amount
paid by our players to Facebook.

For revenue earned through certain mobile platfointduding Apple iOS and Google Android, we recizgronline game revenue based
on the gross amount paid by the player becauseeviaa@ primary obligor and we have the contraatighit to determine the price to be paid by
the player. We record the related platform and payrprocessing fees as cost of revenue in thegaraurred.

We estimate chargebacks from our third-party wabranbile payment processors to account for potefutiare chargebacks based on
historical data and record such amounts as a rieduzt revenue.

Advertising

We have contractual relationships with agenciegedi$ing brokers and certain advertisers for atisements within our games. We
generally report our advertising revenue net of am®retained by advertising networks, agencied baokers because we are not the primary
obligor in our arrangements, we do not set theipgicand we do not establish or maintain the refethip with the advertiser. Certain
advertising arrangements that are directly betweeand end advertisers are recognized gross amtiad price paid to us by the end advertisel
since we are the primary obligor and we determtieeptrice.
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We recognize advertising revenue for branded Jigoads and sponsorships, engagement advertisearethisffers, mobile
advertisements and other advertisements as adredigs are delivered to customers as long as exdderthe arrangement exists (executed
contract), the price is fixed or determinable, arhave assessed collectability as reasonablyexssOertain branded in-game sponsorships
that involve virtual goods are deferred and recogghiover the estimated life of the branded virggad or as consumed, similar to online gam
revenue. Price is determined to be fixed and detetole when there is a fixed price in the applieadlidence of the arrangement, which may
include a master contract, insertion order, ol tharty statement of activity. For branded vittgaods and sponsorships, we determine the
delivery criteria has been met based on delivefigrination primarily from third parties. For engagemhadvertisements and offers, mobile
advertisements, and other advertisements, delvesyrs when the advertisement has been displayéxr affer has been completed by the
customer, as evidenced by third party verificatieports supporting the number of advertisemengdaljed or offers completed.

Multiple-element Arrangements

We allocate arrangement consideration in multipéverable revenue arrangements at the incepti@n@frrangement to all deliverables
based on the relative selling price method, gelyebalsed on our best estimate of selling price.0ffer certain promotions to customers from
time to time that include the sale of in-game \aftourrency via the sale of a game card and alser ateliverables such as a limited edition in-
game virtual good.

Cost of Revenue

Amounts recorded as cost of revenue relate totdirguenses incurred in order to generate onlineeg@venue. Such costs are recorded
as incurred. Our cost of revenue consists primafillyosting and data center costs related to apgraur games, including depreciation,
consulting costs primarily related to third-partpyisioning of customer support services, paymeot@ssing fees, licensing fees, salaries,
benefits and stock-based expense for our custompgost and infrastructure teams. Cost of revense ialcludes amortization expense related
to purchased technology of $21.4 million, $11.3lioml and $38.5 million for the years ended Decen#igr2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, monekatnamds, commercial paper, corporate bonds, npalisecurities, and U.S.
government-issued obligations with maturities ofd@ds or less from the date of purchase.

Marketable Securities and Non-Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of U.S. governmesitésl obligations, municipal securities and cormodebt securities. Management
determines the appropriate classification of matilet securities at the time of purchase and evedusmich determination at each balance shet
date. The fair value of marketable securities temeined as the exit price in the principal maikewhich we would transact. Based on our
intentions regarding our marketable securitiesyaliketable securities are classified as availtdtsale and are carried at fair value with
unrealized gains and losses recorded as a separafonent of other comprehensive income, net afmetaxes. Realized gains and losse:
determined using the specific-identification metlawdl are reflected as a component of other incexgefise), net in the consolidated
statements of operations when they are realizeagkriWre determine that a decline in fair value ieothan temporary, the cost basis of the
individual security is written down to the fair ual as a new cost basis and the amount of the doitgr is accounted for as a realized loss in
other income (expense), net. The new cost basisatibe adjusted for subsequent recoveries invedire. Determination of whether declines
in fair value are other than temporary requiregjudnt regarding the amount and timing of recovisity such impairments of marketable
securities have been recorded in 2014.
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For non-marketable securities in which we exersigaificant influence on the equity to which thesm-marketable securities relate, we
apply the equity method of accounting. Our non-retakle securities are subject to periodic impaitmeviews.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of collateral for faciiperating lease agreements and funds held inwescraccordance with the terms of
certain of our business acquisition agreements.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acotus

Accounts receivable are recorded and carried atriiggnal invoiced amount less an allowance for potential uncollectible amounts.
We review accounts receivable regularly and makmates for the allowance for doubtful accounts wtieere is doubt as to our ability to
collect individual balances. In evaluating our &pito collect outstanding receivable balancesceesider many factors, including the age of
the balance, the customer’s payment history anekticreditworthiness, and current economic treBdsl debts are written off after all
collection efforts have ceased. We do not requitiateral from our customers.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation. Depreciation is recordedgifie straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Leaseholdovgments are amortized over the shorter of thenattd useful lives of the improvements or
the lease term.

Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions of entities that in@udputs and processes and have the ability tdecrdputs as business combinations.
We allocate the purchase price of the acquisitidrich includes the estimated acquisition datevfalue of contingent consideration to the
tangible assets, liabilities, and identifiable irgiéble assets acquired based on their estimateddhies. The excess of the purchase price ovel
those fair values is recorded as goodwill. Acqgigeirelated expenses and restructuring costs are esgh@ssincurred. During the measuren
period, we record adjustments to the assets achaire liabilities assumed with the correspondirfgatfto goodwill. After the measurement
period, which could be up to one year after thegaation date, subsequent adjustments are rectwraen consolidated statements of
operations. We record changes in the fair valugoafingent consideration liabilities within operagiexpenses in our consolidated statement ¢
operations each reporting period.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets aggried at cost and are evaluated annually foaimpent, or more frequently if
circumstances exist that indicate that impairmeay exist. When conducting our annual goodwill innpegnt assessment, we perform a
guantitative evaluation of whether goodwill is inmeal using the two-step impairment test. The fitep is comparing the fair value of our
reporting unit to its carrying value. We consideg enterprise to be the reporting unit for thislgsia. If step one indicates that impairment
potentially exists, the second step is performemiéasure the amount of impairment, if any. We mtioe amount by which the carrying value
of the goodwill exceeds its implied fair valueaify, as impairment.

We test recoverability of indefinite-lived intan{gtassets using a qualitative approach on whetligmore likely than not that the fair
value of the intangible asset exceeds its carryaige. If the asset is considered to be impaiteel amount of any impairment is measured as
the difference between the carrying value and divevilue of the impaired asset.
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Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are carried at cost lessalated amortization. Amortization is recorde@rmthe estimated useful lives of the
assets, generally 12 to 60 months.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including other intangible asgexcluding indefinite-lived intangible assetsg eseviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate asasaerying value may not be recoverable. If soithumstances are present, we assess the
recoverability of the londjved assets by comparing the carrying value tautidiscounted future cash flows associated witlreéteted assets.
the future net undiscounted cash flows are lessttha carrying value of the assets, the assetsomsdered impaired and an expense, equal t
the amount required to reduce the carrying valub®fssets to the estimated fair value, is recbadampairment of intangible assets in the
consolidated statements of operations. Signifigadgment is required to estimate the amount anahgrof future cash flows and the relative
risk of achieving those cash flows.

Assumptions and estimates about future valuesemdining useful lives are complex and often subhjecThey can be affected by a
variety of factors, including external factors sashindustry and economic trends, and internabfactuch as changes in our business strateq
and our internal forecasts. For example, if ounrfeitoperating results do not meet current forecagsnay be required to record future
impairment charges for acquired intangible asseitgairment charges could materially decrease auréunet income and result in lower asset
values on our balance sheet. There were no impatrafarges in 2014. In 2013, we recorded a $10lBmimpairment charge related to
certain games associated with intangible assetsoqusly acquired through various business comhbamati In 2012, we recorded a $95.5 mill
impairment charge related to OMGPOP intangibles.

Stock-Based Expense

Prior to our IPO in December 2011, we granted Z&lUsur employees that generally vest upon thefaatien of both a service-based
condition of up to four years and a liquidity catoh, the latter of which was satisfied in connetwith our IPO in December 2011. Because
the liquidity condition was not satisfied until ol#O, in prior periods, we had not recorded anyeasge relating to the granting of our ZSUs. In
the fourth quarter of 2011, after the IPO, we redpgd $510 million of stock-based expense assatiatth ZSUs that vested in connection
with our IPO. This expense is in addition to thecktbased expense we recognize related to outsiguedjuity awards other than ZSUs as well
as expenses related to ZSUs or other equity avthadsnay be granted in the future.

For ZSUs granted prior to the IPO, and for awatdgext to performance conditions, we recognizekstiased expense based on grant
date fair value using the accelerated attributi@thmod in which compensation cost for each vestiagche in an award is recognized ratably
from the service inception date to the vesting d@ate¢hat tranche. For ZSUs granted after the Rich are only subject to a service conditi
we recoghize stock-based expense based on granfaitatalue on a ratable basis over the requisitgice period for the entire award.

We estimate the fair value of stock options ushgBlack-Scholes option-pricing model. This modgjuires the use of the following
assumptions: expected volatility of our Class A awon stock, which is based on our peer group inrttiestry in which we do business;
expected life of the option award, which we eledtedalculate using the simplified method; expeat®itiend yield, which is 0%, as we have
not paid and do not anticipate paying dividend®encommon stock; and the risk-free interest natéch is based on the U.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant with matustiequal to the grant’'s expected life. Option gramtserally vest over four years, with 25%
vesting after one year and the remainder vestingtinhpthereafter over
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36 months. The options have a contractual termDofehrs. If any of the assumptions used in thelB&aholes model changes significantly,
stock-based expense for future awards may diffeeriadly compared with the awards granted previpudle record stock-based expense for
stock options on a ratable basis over the vesting.t

For stock options issued to non-employees, includionsultants, we record expense related to stptirns equal to the fair value of the
options calculated using the Black-Scholes model tive service performance period. The fair valugptions granted to non-employees is
remeasured over the vesting period and recognizeth &xpense over the period the services arevestei

Stock-based expense is recorded net of estimattdtfwes so that expense is recorded for onlydtsisck-based awards that we expect
to vest. We estimate forfeitures based on our histbforfeiture of equity awards adjusted to refluture changes in facts and circumstances,
if any. We will revise our estimated forfeitureeat actual forfeitures differ from our initial estates.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using an asset aniitiyadpproach, which requires the recognition ates payable or refundable for the
current year and deferred tax liabilities and askmtthe future tax consequences of events that haen recognized in our financial statement
or tax returns. The measurement of current andideféax assets and liabilities is based on promsbf enacted tax laws; the effects of future
changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipafetbdessary, the measurement of deferred tax dsseduced by the amount of any tax ben:
that are not expected to be realized based onadlmibvidence. We account for uncertain tax passtiny reporting a liability for unrecognized
tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax posititaisen or expected to be taken in a tax returnré&@egnize interest and penalties, if any,
related to unrecognized tax benefits in incomeetepense.

The Company has presented certain items in theriadax footnote net of their respective offsetitegns in an effort to provide
additional clarity and transparency as to the pnnaaivers of the income tax provision. The compiaeainformation for prior periods has been
adjusted to reflect the impact of this change.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Generally, the functional currency of our internatl subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. For thesesislidries, foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities are remeasuredJro dollars at current exchange rates and foreigrency denominated nonmonetary asset:
and liabilities are remeasured into U.S. dollarkistiorical exchange rates. Gains or losses framida currency remeasurement and settlen
are included in other income (expense), net ircthesolidated statements of operations. For forsidsidiaries where the functional currency
is the local currency, we use the period-end exgbaates to translate assets and liabilities, badverage exchange rates to translate revent
and expenses into U.S. dollars. We record translaains and losses in accumulated other comprisfeeinsome (loss) as a component of
stockholders’ equity.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Significant Custars

Financial instruments, which potentially exposéaisoncentrations of credit risk, consist primadfycash and cash equivalents, short-
term and long-term marketable securities, and adsaeceivable. Substantially all of our cash, cagtivalents and short-term marketable
securities are maintained with two financial ingfidns with high credit standings. We perform pédigcevaluations of the relative credit
standing of these institutions.

Accounts receivable are unsecured and represeniramdue to us based on contractual obligationsevhasigned and executed contract
or click-through agreement exists. In cases wherarg aware of circumstances
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that may impair a specific customer’s ability toehis financial obligations, we record a specddilowance as a reduction to the accounts
receivable balance to reduce it to its net realezahlue.

Facebook is a significant distribution, marketipggmotion and payment platform for our social ganfesignificant portion of our 2014,
2013 and 2012 revenue was generated from playavysaatessed our games through Facebook. As of Dere3tib2014 and December 31,
2013, 22% and 41% of our accounts receivable, otispdy, were amounts owed to us by Facebook. Aaldlitly, as of December 31, 2014 ¢
December 31, 2013, 23% and 15% of our accountsvedde, respectively, were amounts owed to us bglép

Advertising Expense

Costs for advertising are expensed as incurredeAiding costs, which are included in sales ancketarg expense, primarily consisting
of player acquisition costs, totaled $101.7 milli#60.6 million and $102.2 million for the yearded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@oatified Accounting Standards Update 2013-1Rrésentation of an
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Gzssyforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credar@/forward Exists’ which
concludes an unrecognized tax benefit should beepted as a reduction of a deferred tax asset sdtdament in this manner is available
under the tax law. We adopted this amendment ifitftequarter of 2014, which resulted in a redoctof non-current liabilities of $33.3
million.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8dssued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2084- Revenue from
Contracts with Customer$which requires revenue to be recognized whemsed goods or services are transferred to custimeamn
amount that reflects the consideration that is etqukto be received for those goods or servicetl A&L4-09 supersedes the existing revenue
recognition guidance in Revenue Recognition (Topic 60%nd is effective in the first quarter of 2017 .rigaadoption is not permitted. We are
currently in the process of evaluating the impddhe adoption of ASU 2014-09 on our consolidatedricial statements.

2. Cash and Investments
Cash and investments consist of the following lfiousands):

December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Cash and cash equivaler
Cash $ 89,70¢ $ 116,10:
Money market fund 41,59¢ 349,42:
Total cash and cash equivale $ 131,30: $ 465,52
Marketable securitie!
U.S. government and government agency debt sexs $ 404,98. $ 333,74
Corporate debt securitis 611,62 731,32:
Municipal securitie: — 11,38:
Total $1,016,60! $1,076,44
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The following tables summarize our amortized cgeiss unrealized gains and losses and fair valogoévailable-for-sale investments
in marketable securities (in thousands):

December 31, 201

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Aggregate
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and government agency debt sexsuriti $ 405,04 $ 68 $ (13 $ 404,98.
Corporate debt securitis 611,95 39 (365) 611,62:
Municipal securitie: — — — —
Total $1,016,99' $ 107 $ (500 $1,016,60!
December 31, 201
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Aggregate
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and government agency debt sexuriti $ 333,63. $ 16C $ (52 $ 333,74
Corporate debt securitis 731,22! 35€ (257) 731,32:
Municipal securitie: 11,37¢ 6 — 11,38:
Total $1,076,23. $ 52z $ (308 $1,076,44

The estimated fair value of available-featte marketable securities, classified by theitremtual maturities was as follows (in thousan

December 31 December 31

2014 2013
Due within one year $ 785,22: $ 659,97
After one year through three yei 231,38! 416,47:
Total $1,016,60! $1,076,44

Changes in market interest rates and bond yieldseceertain of our investments to fall below tleist basis, resulting in unrealized
losses on marketable securities. As of Decembe2@14, we had unrealized losses of $0.5 millioatssl to marketable securities that had a
fair value of $621.5 million. As of December 31120 we had unrealized losses of $0.3 million reldtemarketable securities that had a fair
value of $240.9 million. None of these securitiexavin a material continuous unrealized loss posifior more than 12 months.

December 31, 201. December 31, 201.
Fair Value Unrealized los: Fair Value Unrealized los:
U.S. government and government agency debt sexuriti $222,72: $ (13%) $ 98,78 $ (52)
Corporate debt securitis 398,77 (365) 142,07. (257)
Total $621,50( $ (500 $240,85¢ $ (30¢)

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we did not censidy of our marketable securities to be othentieanporarily impaired. When
evaluating our investments for other-than-temponamyairment, we review factors such as the lendtinte and extent to which fair value has
been below its cost basis, the financial conditibthe issuer, our ability and intent to hold tleewrity to maturity and whether it is more likely
than not that we will be required to sell the inwesnt before recovery of its cost basis.
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3. Fair Value Measurements

Cash equivalents and short-term and lterga marketable securities, consisting of moneyketaiunds, U.S. government and governn
agency debt securities, municipal securities amdarate debt securities, are carried at fair vallgch is defined as an exit price, representing
the amount that would be received to sell an asseaid to transfer a liability in an orderly traicsion between knowledgeable and willing
market participants.

Contingent consideration represents the estimatieddlue of the additional variable considerafi@yable in connection with our
acquisition of Spooky Cool Labs LLC that is contng upon the achievement of certain performancestuhes. The amount payable is
contingent upon the achievement of certain perfoceanilestones for each of the twelve month peradted June 30, 2014 and June 30,
2015. Under the terms of the agreement, the maxiammount that could be earned and payable by uk08 illion. As of December 31,
2014, based on our updated assessment of Spookis@apected performance, the maximum amount cuyrantiievable and payable by u
$60 million.

We initially estimated the acquisition date faifueof the contingent consideration payable usidpability-weighted discounted cash
flow models, and applied a discount rate that appately captured a market participant’s view o tisk associated with the obligations. We
update this analysis each quarter based on outegdash flow projections, discount rates and gridiyaassumptions. The significant
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measeméwnf the acquisition-related contingent consitienspayable are forecasted future cash
flows and the timing of those cash flows. Signifitahanges in actual and forecasted future caslsfioay result in significant charges or
benefits to our future operating expenses. Dutiregpteriods ending December 31, 2014 and 2013 veeded the change in estimated fair
value of the contingent consideration liabilityaasexpense of approximately $32.7 million and $dilllon, respectively within research and
development expense in our consolidated statenoéijserations.

Fair value is a market-based measurement thatdheutletermined based on assumptions that knovdbetigand willing market
participants would use in pricing an asset or lighiThe valuation techniques used to measurddiealue of the Companyg’debt instrumen
and all other financial instruments, all of whicive counterparties with high credit ratings, weakigd based on quoted market prices or
driven valuations using significant inputs derifeain or corroborated by observable market dataugéea three-tier value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair vadsdollows:

Level 1—Observable inputs that reflect quoted wigeadjusted) for identical assets or liabilifiegactive markets.
Level 2—lIncludes inputs, other than Level 1 inpthst are directly or indirectly observable in tharketplace.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supportedttdy br no market activity.

The composition of our financial assets and lieibdi among the three Levels of the fair value i@ma are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Money market fund® $41,59¢ $ — $ — $ 41,59

U.S. government and government agency debt sexs — 404,98: — 404,98

Corporate debt securiti — 611,62: — 611,62:
Total $41,59¢ $1,016,60! $ — $1,058,20.
Liabilities

Contingent consideratic $ — $ — $44,42( $ 44,42
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December 31, 201

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Money market fund® $349,42: $ — $ — $ 349,42:
U.S. government and government agency debt sexs — 333,74 — 333,74
Corporate debt securiti(® — 731,32: — 731,32:
Municipal securitie! — 11,38: — 11,38:
Total $349,42: $1,076,44 $ — $1,425,86:
Liabilities
Contingent consideratic $ — $ — $11,72( $ 11,72
@ Includes amounts classified as cash and cash denis:
4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiousands):
December 31 December 31
2014 2013
Computer equipment $ 141,94t $ 225,06!
Software 31,77¢ 27,66¢
Land 89,13( 89,13(
Building 194,57. 192,51:
Furniture and fixture 10,61¢ 11,30:
Leasehold improvemen 9,694 11,69¢
477,73t 557,37:
Less accumulated depreciati (179,819 (208,579
Total property and equipment, t $ 297,91¢ $ 348,79

Changes in Estimated Life

In the third quarter of 2013, due to changing lartgem capacity needs and our focus on drivingifficies, we changed our estimate of
the remaining economic life of certain computeripoent and leasehold improvements in one of oua danters that had a carrying value of
$11.9 million as of June 30, 2013 from approximatdeven months to approximately four months. Aesult of this change in estimate, we
recorded $5.3 million of incremental depreciatiapense in 2013, and recorded a gain of $1.5 milldhin other income (expense) in our
consolidated statements of operations upon seliege assets in the fourth quarter of 2013. Theffiett of these changes was a $5.3 million
decrease in income from operations, a $3.8 milliecrease in net income and no impact on reportetngs per share.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, we also changedestimate of the remaining economic life of cer@omputer equipment and leasehold
improvements in two of our data centers, from apipnately ten months to approximately five monthkeTarrying value of these assets as of
September 30, 2013 was $27.1 million and as of Deee 31, 2013 was $14.6 million. As a result of thange in estimate, we recorded $4.9
million of incremental depreciation expense infilverth quarter of 2013 resulting in a $4.9 millidecrease in income from continuing
operations and net income and no impact on repedeaings per share. As a result of the changeeifidurth quarter of 2013, we recognized
further incremental depreciation of $2.6 milliorrithg 2014 resulting in $2.6 million decrease indme from continuing operations and net
income and no impact on reported earnings per share
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2012 Acquisition of Corporate Headquarters Building

In April, 2012, we purchased our corporate headgusbuilding located in San Francisco, Califorfinian 650 Townsend Associates,
LLC to support the overall growth of our business.

In conjunction with the transaction we recordedasn@f $41.1 million. The gain on the terminatidrtite below-market lease represents
the difference between the contractual minimumalgmayments owed under our previously-existingdeamd the market rates of those same
leases. In addition to the gain recognized on¢hmination of the below-market lease, we recogn&edin of $25.1 million from the write-off
of deferred rent liability and we recognized a 106$46.2 million resulting from the write-off oéasehold improvements, as any value ascribe
to these leasehold improvements were reflecteldriair value of the net tangible and intangiblgets acquired. These amounts have been
included in other income (expense), net in our obdated statements of operations for the periatirenDecember 31, 2012.

Pursuant to the agreement, we also acquired exigtird-party leases and other intangible propartg terminated our existing office
leases with the seller. We have included the réntaime from third party leases with other tenamtfhie building, and the proportionate share
of building expenses for those leases, in othesrire (expense), net in our consolidated resultpefaiions from the date of acquisition. These
amounts were not material for the periods presefited estimated useful life for the building isy8ars and is being amortized on a straight-
line basis.

5. Acquisitions

On February 11, 2014, we acquired 100% of the antihg stock of NaturalMotion, a provider of garfsmobile phones and tablets
domiciled in the U.K. We acquired NaturalMotionléwerage their strong portfolio of technology, asbied workforce and existing mobile
games in order to expand and enhance our gameéngfgparticularly on mobile platforms. The acquisitdate fair value of the purchase
consideration was $522.2 million, which included fbllowing (in thousands):

Fair Value of

Purchase
Consideration
Cash $ 391,00(
Common stock (28,178,201 shar 130,46!
Fair value of stock options assun 693
Total $ 522,15

The value of the purchase consideration attribtdettie 28.2 million common shares issued was basei$4.63 closing price of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock on the date of liirgy of the acquisition.

The following table summarizes the preliminary dsiion date fair value of net tangible assets @egliand liabilities assumed from
NaturalMotion (in thousands, unaudite

Preliminary
Estimated
Preliminary Weighted
Estimated Average
Fair Value Useful Life
Tangible net assets (liabilities) assumed(1) $ 1,25¢ N/A
Intangible asset
Developed technolog 59,90( 3 years
Branding and trade nam 15,00( 4.6 year:
Goodwill(1) 445,99¢ N/A
Total $522,15¢
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(1) Includes the impact of adjustments to goodimithe amount of $3.9 million resulting from thesparation of certain tax returns pursuant
to our business combinations policy and recorde¢dimihe measurement peric

Goodwill, which is partially deductible for U.S.dame tax purposes, represents the excess of thkgsa price over the fair value of the
net tangible and intangible assets acquired, apdnsarily attributable to the assembled workfoofe¢he acquired business and expected
synergies at the time of the acquisition. The prlary fair values of net tangible assets acquanadi liabilities assumed are management’s
estimates based on the information available aatiggisition date.

The information above provides a reasonable basiestimating the fair values of assets acquiretliabilities assumed, however, the
preliminary measurements of fair value are sulifgchange including income taxes payable and defaaxes which may change subject to
the completion of certain tax returns.

On the acquisition date, we assumed unvested Niskotian employee stock options and exchanged thanofbtions to purchase shares
of our Class A Common Stock with a preliminary featue of $29.7 million. $0.7 million of this valweas allocated to purchase consideration
and the remaining $29.0 million was allocated toifel compensation expense which will be recordestak-based expense over the vesting
period of the awards. Also on the acquisition dai granted to continuing employees 11.6 millioarsk of our Class A Common Stock that
vest over a period of three years from the grate,dauibject to continued employment with Zynga. Valeie of these shares on the acquisition
date was $53.6 million and will be recorded aslstoased expense over the requisite service pamiaddordance with the vesting terms.
Transaction costs incurred by the Company in caimeavith the acquisition, including professionak and transaction taxes, were $6.4
million and are included in our statement of opierat for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014.

The amounts of revenue and net loss of NaturalMdticluded in the Company’s condensed consolidsiiztgment of operations for the
post acquisition period from February 12, 2014 ex@mnber 31, 2014 are as follows (unaudited, inghods):

February 12, 2014 t
December 31, 2014

Total revenues $ 26,80(
Net loss $ 74,89

The net loss includes approximately $29.5 millidistock-based expense and $19.7 million relateddamortization of acquired
intangibles, net of tax.

The following pro forma financial information sumnmes the combined results of operations for then@any and NaturalMotion, which
was significant for the purposes of unaudited prona financial information disclosure, as though tompanies were combined as of the
beginning of the Company’s fiscal years presented.

The pro forma financial information was as follogumaudited, in thousands):

12 Months Ended
December 31,

2014 2013
Total revenues $ 698,60¢ 912,88(
Net loss $(233,03() (96,04¢)

The pro forma financial information for all periogeesented has been calculated after adjustingethdts of NaturalMotion to reflect the
business combination accounting effects resultiomfthis acquisition including fair value adjustrtgeresulting from purchase accounting, the
amortization expenses from acquired intangible
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assets, the stock-based compensation expenseviestad stock options assumed and restricted steakda granted and the related tax effects
as though the acquisition occurred as of the béginof the periods presented. The pro forma fir@rioformation is for informational
purposes only and is not indicative of the resofitsperations that would have been achieved bas¢dese assumptions.

2013 Acquisitions

On June 19, 2013, we acquired Spooky Cool Labs ({Bpooky Cool Labs”), a developer of social casyames, for purchase
consideration of approximately $30.6 million, whiotnsisted of cash paid of $19.8 million and cageint consideration with an acquisition
date fair value of $10.8 million (see Note 3 foanbes in this estimate). The contingent consideratiay be payable based on the achieve
of certain future performance targets during the y&ar period following the acquisition date andlddoe up to $100 million.

For further details on our fair value methodologthwespect to contingent consideration liabilifisee Note 3—Fair Value.

The following table summarizes the purchase datevédue of net tangible and intangible assets aedurom Spooky Cool Labs (in
thousands, unaudited):

Total
Developed technology $ 7,50(
Net tangible assets acquired (liabilities assun 2,612
Goodwill 20,44
Total $30,55!

Goodwill, which is deductible for tax purposes,negents the excess of the purchase price oveaihealue of the net tangible and
intangible assets acquired, and is primarily attable to the assembled workforce of the acquitesiness and expected synergies at the tit
the acquisition.

6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Changes in the carrying value of goodwill from Deber 31, 2012 to December 31, 2014 are as follawthousands):

Goodwil—December 31, 201 $208,95!
Additions 20,441
Foreign currency translation adjustme (1,407
Goodwill—December 31, 201 227,98¢
Additions 450,58
Foreign currency translation adjustme® (23,999
Goodwill adjustment®) (3,799
Goodwill—December 31, 201 $650,77¢

@ The decrease is primarily related to translati@sés on goodwill associated with the acquisitioNaturalMotion denominated in British

pounds.
Includes the impact of adjustments to goodwill g from changes in net assets (liabilities) daoeghand other adjustments, pursuant te
our business combinations polic

@
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The details of our acquisition-related intangibésets are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Book
Value Amortization Value
Developed technology $ 151,37¢ $ (94,56() $56,81¢
Trademarks, branding and domain nai 16,29: (7,867) 8,431
Acquired lease intangible 5,70¢ (4,099 1,614
Total $ 173,37t $(106,51Y) $66,86:
December 31, 201
Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Book
__Vvalue Amortization __Vvalue
Developed technology $ 79,65: $ (73,400 $ 6,25(
Trademarks, branding and domain nai 15,19¢ (5,66¢) 9,531
Acquired lease intangible 5,707 (3,206 2,501
Total $ 100,55t $ (82,279 $18,28:

These assets were, and continue to be, amortizadstraight-line basis. As of December 31, 201d vikightedaverage remaining usef
lives of all identified acquired intangible assats 2.5 years for developed technology, 1.8 yearsddemarks, branding, and domain names,
and 3.4 years for acquired lease intangibles. Aizaiibn expense of intangible assets for the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
were $24.6 million, $12.2 million and $42.3 milliorespectively. As of December 31, 2014, future dization expense related to the
intangible assets is expected to be recognizeti@srsbelow (in thousands):

Year ending December 3

2015 $27,08(
2016 24, 71(
2017 6,077
2018 and thereaftt 2,87
Total $60,74(

7. Income Taxes
Income (loss) before income tax expense considtseofollowing for the periods shown below (in tisands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
United States $(132,28) $(56,21%) $ (41,969
Internationa (100,94) (8,659 (117,619
Total $(233,229) $(64,869) $(159,579)
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Income tax expense (benefit) consists of the fdlhgwor the periods shown below (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Current:

Federa $ (132 $(15,717) $ 84,421

State (16) (139 5,431

Foreign 2,77 3,20¢ 3,86:
Total current tax expen: 2,62¢ (12,640 93,71+
Deferred:

Federa (6,88¢) (14,357 (40,33)

State (353%) (86) (2,82))

Foreign (2,71%) (8049) (689
Total deferred tax expense (bene (9,956 (15,247 (43,84)
Provision for (benefit from) income tax $(7,327) $(27,88) $ 49,87¢

The reconciliation of federal statutory income pawvision (benefit) to our effective income tax ypigion is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Expected benefit at U.S. federal statutory rate $(81,630)  $(22,709)  $(55,83)
State income tax—net of federal benef (2,68)) (1,507%) (1,85))
Income taxed at foreign rat 33,415 4,02¢ 48,97¢
Equity-based compensatic 2,86t 6,741 29,99¢
Tax credits — (12,389 —
Tax reserve for uncertain tax positic 19 2,22¢ 45,96
Change in valuation allowan: 37,20: 14,70¢ (12,80))
Change in earnings m — (16,30¢) —
Impact of change in tax rat 25 (1,530 (56€)
Acquisition costs 2,981 (1,480 (4,960
Other 47t 331 96(

$ (7,32) $(27,887) $ 49,87

We have not provided U.S. income taxes and foreigimholding taxes on the undistributed earningswf profitable foreign subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2014 because we intend to pemtigmeinvest such earnings outside the UniteteStdf these foreign earnings were to be
repatriated in the future, the related U.S. talility may be reduced by any foreign income taxes/pusly paid on these earnings. As of
December 31, 2014, the cumulative amount of easnipmpn which U.S. income taxes have not been pedvisl approximately $17.6 million.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist offttlewing (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Tax credit carryforward $ 40,50: $ 60,74¢
Net operating loss carryforwar 30,38: 14,89
Equity based compensati 28,26 28,16¢
Accrued expense 19,40¢ 6,85¢
Other accrued compensati 6,66¢ 19C
State taxe 2,93: 2,72%
Deferred Ren 2,18¢ 4,62(C
Charitable contribution 2,047 5,13(
Other 1,95¢ 67¢
Deferred revenu 1,12¢ 5,98¢
Acquired intangible asse — 7,18:
Valuation allowanct (127,91) (92,099
Net deferred tax asse 7,54¢ 45,07
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior (8,459 (21,35¢)
Acquired intangible asse (1,659 —
Net deferred tax liabilitie (10,109 (21,356
Net deferred taxe $ (2,559 $ 23,713
Year Ended December 31
_ 2014 _ 2018
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 2,76 $ 16,29:
Non-current deferred tax asst — 7,424
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie (5,329 —
Net deferred tax asse $ (2,559 $ 23,71

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent tippgeneration of future taxable income, if ghg,timing and amount of which are
uncertain. Due to our history of losses in cerjaiisdictions, we believe it is more likely thantribat certain federal, state, and foreign defe
tax assets will not be realized as of DecembeRB14. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2014 and Bber 31, 2013, the Company record
valuation allowance of $127.9 million and $92.1lioil, respectively, against its net deferred tasets The increase in valuation allowance fo
2014 is primarily related to current year net ofirgalosses generated and the partial reversdieofieferred tax liability related to fixed assets.

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwardsfd3ecember 31, 2014 are as follows (in thousands):

Amount Expiration years
Net operating losses, fede $ 316,93: 2028- 2034
Net operating losses, st: $ 306,10( 2017- 2034
Tax credit, federe $ 78,60:! 2031- 2034
Tax credits, stat $ 66,11: 2020- indefinite
Net operating losses, foreis $ 59,61i 2030- indefinite
Tax credits, foreigi $ 55 indefinite
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Pursuant to authoritative guidance, the benefito¢k options will only be recorded to stockholdexguity when cash taxes payable is
reduced. When realized, the amount of net oper&tsgycarryforward that will be recognized as adfiétio additional paid in capital is
approximately $470.3 million. The federal and sta€operating loss carryforwards are subject tiua annual limitations under Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approrim&t40.9 million in total unrecognized tax betefA reconciliation of the
beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tavetisris as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201 $ 48,33¢
Additions based on tax positions related to 2 51,22:
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (83%)

December 31, 201 98,72:
Additions based on tax positions related to 2 16,41«
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 18,35¢

December 31, 201 133,49:
Additions based on tax positions related to 2 7,73¢
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 171
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (511

December 31, 201 $140,88¢

If the $140.9 million of unrecognized tax beneéissof December 31, 2014 is recognized, approxim&EDd.2 million would impact the
effective tax rate in the period in which the bétsedre recognized. The remaining amount wouldffmebby the reversal of related deferred
assets on which a valuation allowance is placed.ddmpany does not expect any material changés tmiecognized tax benefits within the
next twelve months.

We classify uncertain tax positions as non-curiecdme tax liabilities unless expected to be paiithiw one year or otherwise directly
related to an existing deferred tax asset, in whade the uncertain tax position is recorded nétefsset on the balance sheet. We recognize
interest and penalties in income tax expense. Axgkmber 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, theltatahce of accrued interest and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions wag $tlllion and $0.5 million, respectively.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federalgdittion as well as many U.S. states and certaigo jurisdictions. The material
jurisdictions in which we are subject to potengahmination include the United States, United Kimggdand Ireland. We are subject
examination in these jurisdictions for all yearscsi our inception in 2007. Fiscal years outsidentbrenal statute of limitation remain open to
audit by tax authorities due to tax attributes getsal in those early years which have been cafoieeard and may be audited in subsequent
years when utilizec
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8. Other Current Liabilities
Other current liabilities consist of the followilfip thousands):

December 31 December 31
2014 2013

Accrued escrow for acquisitions $ 47,90¢ $ 6,12
Contingent consideration liabilit 44,42( —
Accrued compensation liabilit 26,11 10,18¢
Accrued restructuring liabilit 7,21« 6,751
Other current liabilitie: 38,49: 45,80¢
Total other current liabilitie $ 164,15( $ 68,86¢

Accrued escrow from acquisitions mainly relatearmounts held in escrow under the terms of certb@upacquisition agreements.
Contingent consideration liability represents théneated fair value of additional considerationgialg in connection with our acquisition of
Spooky Cool. Accrued compensation liability repraseemployee bonus and other payroll withholdingesses. Accrued restructuring liabil
represents amounts payable related to our restigtplans. Other current liabilities include variexpenses that we accrue for transaction
taxes, customer deposits and accrued vendor expense

9. Restructuring

During the twelve months ended December 31, 20&4emorded a total restructuring charge of $241Bamiwhich was classified withi
our consolidated statement of operations as foll@est of Revenue $1.2 million, Research and Dearaknt $9.6 million, Sales and
Marketing $1.5 million and General and Administvett512.0 million.

Q1 2014 Restructuring Plan

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, oardof directors authorized, and we implementegsructuring plan that includec
reduction in work force and the closure of cert#fiice and data center facilities as part of anralglan to better align our cost structure
against market opportunities. As a result of tbstnucturing, we recorded a charge of $27.4 milirothe twelve months ended December 31,
2014, which is included in operating expenses incomsolidated statement of operations. The $27lbmrestructuring charge in the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014 is comprised o7 $hBlion of employee severance costs and $13.liamitelated to the closure of certain
offices and data center facilities. This restruciyicharge does not include the impact of $2.4iomlbf net stock-based expense reversals
associated with the net effect of forfeitures fremployee terminations and the acceleration of urdestock awards which were recorded in
stock-based expense. The remaining liability relateour Q1 2014 restructuring plan as of Decen3fie2014 was $10.0 million and is
expected to be paid out over the next 2.0 years.

The following table presents the activity for thege months ended March 31, 2014, June 30, 20pder@ber 30, 2014 and the three anc
twelve months ended December 31, 2014 relatecet®@th2014 restructuring plan (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Twe:\z’ﬁd'\é'gmhs
March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31 December 31,
2014 2014 2014 2014 2014
Restructuring liability—beginning of period $ — $21,03¢ $ 14,00¢ $ 12,79 $ —
Restructuring expense and adjustm 29,89 (2,319 ® 30¢ (518 27,37(
Cash payment (8,85¢) (4,716 (1,519 (2,26¢) (17,36))
Restructuring liability (Q1 2014 Ple—end of perioc $21,03¢ $14,00¢ $ 12,79 $ 10,00¢ $ 10,00¢
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@ A $2.3 million adjustment was recorded in the selcguarter of 2014 to reduce our restructuring ligbas a result of executing a

sublease agreement with a new tenant in a datardawcility we had previously vacated in the figstarter of 2014

Other Plans

The following table presents the activity for theee months ended March 31, 2014, June 30, 20pdei@ber 30, 2014 and the three anc
twelve months ended December 31, 2014 related tahadr remaining historical restructuring plansnir prior years (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Twe:‘z’ﬁd'\é'g"ths
March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31 December 31,

2014 2014 2014 2014 2014
Restructuring liability—beginning of period $13,56: $9,81¢ $ 8,12¢ $ 7,011 $ 13,56
Restructuring expense and adjustm (239 44 (22) (2,879 W (3,089
Cash payment (3,509 (1,729 (1,09¢6) (1,28)) (7,615
Restructuring liability (2013 Plar—end of perioc $ 9,818 $ 8,12¢ $ 7,017 $ 2,85i $ 2,851

@ A $2.9 million adjustment was recorded in the fouqtiarter of 2014 to reduce our restructuring lighas a result of executing a suble

agreement with a new tenant in a data centertiaei¢ had previously vacated in the fourth quanfe2013.

The remaining liability of $2.9 million is expectéal be paid out over the next 2.8 years.

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

Our three classes of common stock are Class A caonstoek, Class B common stock and Class C comnuak st he following are the
rights and privileges of our classes of commonlstoc

Dividends. The holders of outstanding shares of our ClagSlass B and Class C common stock are entitleddeive dividends out of
funds legally available at the times and in the antg that our Board of Directors (the “Board”) ndstermine.

Voting Rights Holders of our Class A common stock are entittedne vote per share, holders of our Class B comstack are entitled
to seven votes per share and holders of our Classrnon stock are entitled to 70 votes per shargeheral, holders of our Class A common
stock, Class B common stock and Class C commotk stidlcvote together as a single class on all matgibmitted to a vote of stockholders,
unless otherwise required by law. Delaware lawaoatiuire either our Class A common stock, Classfmon stock or our Class C common
stock to vote separately as a single class indl@fing circumstances:

« If we were to seek to amend our Certificate of hpooation to increase the authorized number ofeshaf a class of stock, or to
increase or decrease the par value of a classa;sind

» If we were to seek to amend our Certificate of hpooation in a manner that altered or changed tiveeps, preferences or special
rights of a class of stock in a manner that afiédeholders adversel

Liquidation.Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding-upgthssets legally available for distribution to stackholders would be
distributable ratably among the holders of our €lasClass B and Class C common stock.
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Preemptive or Similar RightsNone of our Class A, Class B or Class C commoaoksis entitled to preemptive rights, and neitlser i
subject to redemption.

ConversionOur Class A common stock is not convertible intg ather shares of our capital stock. Each shamupfClass B common
stock and Class C common stock is convertible ytiame at the option of the holder into one shdrew Class A common stock. In addition,
after the closing of the initial public offeringpan sale or transfer of shares of either ClassrBngon stock or Class C common stock, whethel
or not for value, each such transferred share alédimatically convert into one share of Class fown stock, except for certain transfers
described in our amended and restated certifidatecorporation. Our Class B common stock and Cas®mmon stock will convert
automatically into Class A common stock on the aetevhich the number of outstanding shares of (Bassmmon stock and Class C comr
stock together represent less than 10% of the gggeombined voting power of our capital stockc®transferred and converted into Clas
common stock, the Class B common stock and Clasm@non stock may not be reissued.

Stock Repurchases

In October 2012, our board of directors authorizék200 million stock repurchase program. We iretigburchases under this program in
December 2012. In 2012 and 2013 we repurchasedgegate of 5.0 million shares and 3.4 million slsasf our Class A common stock un
this repurchase program at a weighted average fi$2.36 per share and $2.74 per share for aabtl1.8 million and $9.3 million,
respectively. We did not repurchase any share®14 2The total amount repurchased under the pla$&a.1 million. The program expired
October 31, 2014.

Equity Incentive Plans and Stock-Based Expense

In 2007, we adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Rtlae “2007 Plan”) for the purpose of granting stogitions and ZSUs to employees,
directors and noemployees. Concurrent with the effectiveness ofimitial public offering on December 15, 2011, wadopted the 2011 Equi
Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”), and all remaingmgnmon shares reserved for future grant or issuander the 2007 Plan were added to the
2011 Plan. The 2011 Plan was adopted for purpdsgmnting stock options and ZSUs to employeegatiirs and non-employees. The
number of shares of our Class A common stock reskfar future issuance under our 2011 Plan wilbastically increase on January 1 of
each year, beginning on January 1, 2012, and adntirthrough and including January 1, 2021, by 4%e total number of shares of our
capital stock outstanding as of December 31 opteeeding calendar year.

The following table presents the weighted-averagatyate fair value of stock options and the eslatssumptions used to estimate the
fair value in our consolidated financial statements

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Expected term, in years 5 7 6
Risk-free interest rate 1.31% 2.05% 0.67%
Expected volatility 56% 49% 62%
Dividend yield — — —
Weightec-average estimated fair value of options grantechdithe yeal $3.44 $1.82 $1.5¢
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We recorded stockased expense related to grants of employee arsdiitant stock options, restricted stock and ZSUsuinconsolidate
statements of operations as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenue $ 4,62¢ $ 46¢ $ 12,11¢
Research and developmt 83,67: 61,93 200,64(
Sales and marketir 5,927 8,07¢ 24,68
General and administrati 35,01( 13,91¢ 44 54¢

Total stocl-based expens $129,23: $84,39: $281,98t¢

As of December 31, 2014, total unamortized stockedacompensation relating to ZSUs amounted to $2@#lion over a weighted-
average recognition period of 2.7 years.

Shares granted in 2014 included 1.1 million perfamoe-based ZSUs granted as part of our executimpe&osation plan with vesting that
was dependent on the achievement of certain 20ddahperformance metrics in addition to the passdgiene. We recorded $2.2 million of
stock-based expense related to this plan in thievéweonths ended December 31, 2014.

In connection with the 2014 employee bonus progtamcompany recognized $2.4 million of stock basmupensation expense during
the 12-month period ending December 31, 2014. dmsunt was accrued based on certain performarnegiarand the passage of time and
recognized as a liability based on the estimated/édue as of the reporting date. Upon settlemactprding to the conditions specified in the

agreement, approximately 1.1 million shares wowdssued for an estimated total liability of $2.8lion based upon Comparg/closing stocl
price as of December 31, 2014 of $2.66.

As of December 31, 2014, total unrecognized stomked expense of $41.0 million and $45.0 millidates to unvested stock options :
restricted shares of common stock, respectivelgxpected to be recognized over a weighted-avesggnition period of approximately 2.37
and 2.01 years, respectively.

The following table shows stock option activity the year ended December 31, 2014 (in thousandspeweighted-average exercise
price and remaining contractual term):

Qutstanding Options

Weighted- Aggregate Weighted-
Average Intrinsic Value of Average
Exercise Stock Options Contractual Term
Stock Options Price Outstanding (in years)
Balance as of December 31, 2013 41,08: $ 2.07 $ 83,08¢ 7.0z
Grantec 13,36: 2.41
Forfeited and cancelle (6,076 3.1¢
Exercisec (8,909 1.1
Balance as of December 31, 2( 39,46( $ 2.2z $ 47,34; 6.74
As of December 31, 201
Exercisable option 20,21 $ 0.7¢ $ 39,34¢ 5.1C
Vested and expected to vi 34,16( $ 1.6¢ $ 46,36" 6.44

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercihating the years ended December 31, 2014, 20132@h2l was $25.1 million, $85.9

million, and $222.4 million, respectively. The tbgeant date fair value of options that vested nigithe years ended December 31, 2014, 201!
and 2012 was $6.6 million, $12.8 million, and $milion, respectively.
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The following table shows a summary of ZSU actifidy the year ended December 31, 2014 (in thousaxept weighted-average fair
value and remaining term):

Qutstanding ZSUs

Weighted-
Average Aggregate

Grant Date Intrinsic Value of

Shares Fair Value Unvested ZSU:s

Unvested as of December 31, 2013 66,997 $ 4.9¢ $ 254,58¢
Grantec 53,21¢ 3.3z
Vested (22,957 5.34
Forfeited and cancelle (27,379 4.81

Unvested as of December 31, 2( 69,88: $ 3.64 $ 185,88

2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Our 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2011 ESRRY approved by our Board in September 2011 graibstockholders in
November 2011 and amended in August 2012. On Deee8ih 2014, the maximum number of shares of cas<CA common stock that we
authorized to be issued under our 2011 ESPP w&gwillion shares. The number of shares of our Cassmmon stock reserved for future
issuance under our 2011 ESPP will automaticallyeiase on January 1 of each year, beginning on 3ahu2012, and continuing through and
including January 1, 2021, by the lesser of 2%heftbtal number of shares of our capital stocktantiing as of December 31 of the preceding
calendar year or 25,000,000 shares.

Our 2011 ESPP permits participants to purchasesstadrour Class A common stock through payroll déidas up to 15% of their
earnings. Unless otherwise determined by the adin@tor, the purchase price of the shares will % 8f the lower of the fair market value of
our Class A common stock on the first day of areiwfiy or on the date of purchase. The ESPP offexglae-month look-back. The ESPP
contains an automatic reset feature such thaeifatn market value of our Class A common stockdemeased from the original offering date,
the offering will automatically terminate and aditicipants will be re-enrolled in the new, lowategd offering. Participants may end their
participation at any time during an offering andl wé refunded their accrued contributions thatehaut yet been used to purchase shares.
Participation ends automatically upon terminatibemployment.

As of December 31, 2014, there were $3.0 millioemiployee contributions withheld by the Company20i4, the Company recognized
$2.7 million of stock-based expense related td2El ESPP.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
As of December 31, 2014, we had reserved sharesnofmon stock for future issuance as follows (irugands):

December 31, 201

Stock options outstanding 39,46(
ZSUs outstandin 69,88
2011 Equity Incentive Pla 75,43(
2011 Employee Stock Purchase F 47,78¢

232,55!
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (loss)
The components of accumulated other comprehensogarie, net of taxes, were as follows (in thousands)

Unrealized Unrealized
Foreign Gains (Losses) o Gains (Losses) o
Currency Available-for- Derivative
Translation Sale Securities Instruments Total
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 327 $ 64¢ $ (2,427 $ (1,449
Other comprehensive income before reclassifical (1,58¢) (48¢) 2,42: 34¢
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmnsive
income — 52 — 52
Net currer-period other comprehensive incol (1,58¢) (436 2,42: 401
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ (1,259 $ 21¢ $ = $ (1,040
Other comprehensive income before reclassifical (27,529 (615) — (28,137)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmstve
income — 8 — 8
Net currer-period other comprehensive incoi (27,527 (607) — (28,129
Balance as of December 31, 2( $(28,78)) $ (399 $ = $(29,179

11. Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock

We compute net income (loss) per share of commmk sising the twalass method required for participating securitisor to the dat
of the initial public offering, we considered adiries of our convertible preferred stock to beipgating securities due to their non-cumulative
dividend rights. Additionally, we consider shargesued upon the early exercise of options subje®porchase and unvested restricted shal
be participating securities, because holders di shares have non-forfeitable dividend rights melient we declare a dividend for common
shares. In accordance with the two-class methddnoeme allocated to these participating secug;itrghich include participation rights in
undistributed net income, is subtracted from nebime (loss) to determine total net income (los$)et@llocated to common stockholders.

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed Wididg net income (loss) attributable to commorcktmlders by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during th@gel computing diluted net income (loss) attrdhlié to common stockholders, net
income (loss) is re-allocated to reflect the patgmipact of dilutive securities, including stooktions, warrants, unvested restricted stock an
unvested ZSUs. Diluted net income (loss) per sisatemputed by dividing net income (loss) attrilliléato common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstgnidicluding potential dilutive securities. For jpels in which we have generated a net
loss or there is no income attributable to comntonkdolders, we do not include stock options, wasand unvested ZSUs in our calculation
of diluted net income (loss) per share, as the ahphthese awards is anti-dilutive.
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The following table sets forth the computation aiz and diluted net income (loss) per share ofrsomstock (in thousands, except per
share data):
Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Class A ClassB ClassC Class A Class B Class C Class A Class B Class C

BASIC:

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhea $(189,73) $(30,869) $(5,300 $(29,08) $ (6,95) $ (949 $(109,64) $(94,000) $(5,799
Weighte-average common shares outstanc 734,49: 119,49¢ 20,517 628,94 150,33( 20,517 387,99! 332,66! 20,517
Basic net income (loss) per sh. $ (026 $ (0260 $ (0.2 $ (0.05) $ (0.0 $ (0.0F) $ (0.2¢) $ (0.2 $ (0.29
DILUTED:
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe-basic $(189,73) $(30,869) $(5,300 $(29,08) $ (6,95) $ (949 $(109,64) $(94,007) $(5,79%
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result ofveosion of Class C shar

to Class A share (5,300 — — (949) — — (5,799 — —
Reallocation of net income (loss) as a result ofvession of Class B shares

to Class A share (30,869 — — (6,95) — — (94,007 — —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhe-diluted $(225,900 $(30,869 $(5,300 $(36,98:) $ (6,95) $ (949 $(209,44) $(94,000) $(5,799
Weighte-average common shares outstan-basic 734,49 119,49¢ 20,51° 628,94 150,33( 20,517 387,99! 332,66! 20,51°
Conversion of Class C to Class A common sharesamdsg 20,51° — — 20,51° — — 20,51° — —
Conversion of Class B to Class A common sharesandig 119,49¢ — — 150,33l — — 332,66! — —
Weighte-average common shares outstan-diluted 874,50¢ 119,49 20,517 799,79 150,33( 20,517 741,17 332,66! 20,517
Diluted net income (loss) per sh $ (026 $ (0260 $ (0.2 $ (0.05) $ (0.0 $ (0.0F) $ (0.2 $ (0.2 $ (0.29

The following weighted-average employee equity alsavere excluded from the calculation of dilutetiineome (loss) per share
because their effect would have been anti-dilufiivehe periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Stock options 42,45 61,15« 86,05/
Warrants — 57¢ 69t
Restricted share 12,62« 4,20 14,18¢
ZSUs 59,14’ 63,79 71,29(
Total 114,21¢ 129,73( 172,22:

104



Table of Contents

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

We have entered into operating leases for fadglifgimarily for data center space. As of Decen®ier2014, future minimum lease
payments related to these leases are as followkdirsands):

Year ending December 31

2015 $ 28,05¢
2016 22,75:¢
2017 13,04¢
2018 11,78t
2019 and thereaftt 33,96+

$109,60¢

Rent expense on operating leases for facilitieslueling data center hosting expense, for the yeded December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 totaled $4.5 million, $7.3 million, and $1dllion, respectively.

Credit Facility

In June 2013, we amended and restated our exigtumjving credit agreement (“Credit Agreementiflich we originally executed in Ju
2011, reducing our maximum available credit fromO3dillion to $200 million, and extending the teahour amended agreement to expire in
June of 2018. The interest rate for the credititsgds determined based on a formula using cemaamket rates, as described in the amended
credit agreement. Additionally, our minimum quasterommitment fee was reduced from $0.6 million gearter to $0.1 million per quarter
based on the portion of the credit facility thabhat drawn down. The agreement requires us to opmiph certain covenants, including
maintaining a minimum capitalization ratio, and ntaining a minimum cash balance. As of Decembe814, we have not drawn down any
amounts under the credit facility and are in coampte with these covenants.

Other Purchase Commitments

We have entered into several service contractsdsting of data systems and payment processingré-aotinimum purchase
commitments that have initial or remaining non-edable terms as of December 31, 2014, are as fsl{owthousands):

Year ending December 31

2015 $ 8,30z
2016 4,65¢
2017 1,14¢

$14,10¢

Legal Matters

On July 30, 2012, a purported securities claspadaptioned DeStefano v. Zynga Inc. et al., Case3NL 2-cv-04007-IJSW, was filed in
the United States District Court for the Northerigtiict of California against the Company, and arof our current and former directors,
officers, and executives. Additional purported sé@s class actions containing similar allegatiorese filed in the Northern District. On
September 26, 2012, the court consolidated vanbtise class actions as In re Zynga Inc. Securitiégation, Lead Case No. 12-cv-04007-
JSW. On January 23, 2013, the court entered am apgminting a lead plaintiff and approving leadiptiff's selection of lead counsel. On
April 3, 2013, the lead plaintiff and another nanpdaintiff filed a consolidated complaint. On Feary 25, 2014, the court granted the
defendants’ motion to dismiss the consolidated dampand provided plaintiffs leave to file an arded complaint.
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The lead plaintiff filed a First Amended Complaamt March 31, 2014. The First Amended Complaintg@tethat the defendants violated
the federal securities laws by issuing false odemniding statements regarding the Company’s busaradinancial projections. The plaintiffs
seek to represent a class of persons who purcleasglerwise acquired the Company’s securities eetwFebruary 14, 2012 and July 25,
2012. The First Amended Complaint asserts claimsiigpecified damages, and an award of costs grmehegs to the putative class, including
attorneys’ fees. The Company filed a motion to désnthe First Amended Complaint on May 2, 2014, lanefing on the motion was
completed in June 2014. On September 15, 2014 e issued an order vacating the previously saleeichearing and taking the motion
under submission.

In addition, a purported securities class actigitioaed Reyes v. Zynga Inc., et al. was filed orgiat 1, 2012, in San Francisco County
Superior Court. The action was removed to federattc and was later remanded to San Francisco @ @uperior Court. The complaint
alleges that the defendants violated the fedemirgtes laws by issuing false or misleading staets in connection with an April 2012
secondary offering of Class A common stock. Thénifaseeks to represent a class of persons whoiaed the Company’s common stock
pursuant or traceable to the secondary offeringJ@re 10, 2013, the defendants filed a motionayp tte action and a demurrer arguing that
the complaint should be dismissed because the tamks jurisdiction over the claims. On August 2613, the court issued orders overruling
the demurrer and granting the motion to stay aldtiaes in the action pending a ruling on the motmdismiss in the federal securities class
action described above. On September 29, 20140t issued orders denying a motion to contineestay of the action and overruling a
demurrer arguing that the complaint failed to statause of action. On October 15, 2014, the defesdiled a petition in the California Court
of Appeal seeking review of the denial of the mtio stay and of the trial court’s ruling that &cdhjurisdiction to hear the claims. On
January 29, 2015, the Court of Appeal denied defetsd petition. On February 11, 2015, the courhtgd plaintiff's request for voluntary
dismissal of the action with prejudice as to thmed plaintiff's claims and without prejudice ashe claims of any other members of the
proposed class.

On April 4, 2013, a purported class action captibbee v. Pincus, et al. was filed in the Court b@cery of the State of Delaware
against the Company, and certain of our currentfamder directors, officers, and executives. Thmplaint alleges that the defendants
breached fiduciary duties in connection with thHease of certain lock-up agreements entered int@imection with the Company’s initial
public offering. The plaintiff seeks to represerass of certain of the Company’s shareholders wéie subject to the loakp agreements ai
who were not permitted to sell shares in an A@il2 secondary offering. On January 17, 2014, tamiiff filed an amended complaint. On
March 6, 2014, the defendants filed motions to @ésrthe amended complaint and a motion to staydésy while the motions to dismiss we
pending. On November 14, 2014, the court deniedribigon to dismiss brought by Zynga and the direcémd granted the motion to dismiss
brought by the underwriters who had been namea@fendants.

Although it is reasonably possible that our assessmof the possibility of loss could change in tigar term due to one or more
confirming events, the Company believes it has toeous defenses in the above securities classresciind will vigorously defend these
actions. Furthermore, given that we are in theyestdges of the litigation process, we are unabkstimate the range of potential loss, if any.

Since August 3, 2012, nine stockholder derivatavgduits have been filed in State or Federal conr@alifornia and Delaware
purportedly on behalf of the Company against certarrent and former directors and executive offiad the Company. The derivative
plaintiffs allege that the defendants breached figticiary duties and violated California Corpaoats Code section 25402 in connection with
our initial public offering in December 2011, sedary offering in April 2012, and allegedly madestlbr misleading statements regarding the
Company’s business and financial projections.

Beginning on August 3, 2012, three of the actioesaxiled in San Francisco County Superior Court.@ztober 2, 2012, the court
consolidated those three actions as In re ZyngeeSbhler Derivative Litigation, Lead Case CGCH22934. On March 14, 2013, the plaint
filed a First Amended Complaint in that
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consolidated California state action. On MarchZ13, the court endorsed a stipulation among thiegastaying the action pending the ruling
on the motion to dismiss in the federal securitiess action described above. On March 24, 20®4cdlrt endorsed a stipulation among the
parties staying the action pending a ruling on éienado dismiss the First Amended Complaint in tb@eral securities class action.

Beginning on August 16, 2012, four stockholder aegive actions were filed in the United States fésiCourt for the Northern District
of California. On December 3, 2012, the court cdidated these four actions as In re Zynga Inc. &ive Litigation, Lead Case No. 12-CV-
4327JJSW. On March 11, 2013, the court endorsed a stijpnl among the parties staying the action penttieguling on the motion to dismi
in the federal securities class action described@bOn March 21, 2014, the court issued an ordetirtuing the stay pending a ruling on a
motion to dismiss the First Amended Complaint ie fbderal securities class action.

A derivative action was also filed in the Unitect®s District Court for the District of Delawaréhe plaintiff in the District of Delaware
action voluntarily dismissed the action on Novemb@r2012.

On April 2, 2014, a derivative action was filedtie Court of Chancery of the State of DelawaretlextiSandys v. Pincus, et al. Case
No. 951:-VCN. On October 21, 2014, the court endorsed allstifpn among the parties staying the action uhélearlier of December 9, 20
or thirty days after a decision on the motion tentiiss the First Amended Complaint in the federaligges class action. On December 9, 2(
the defendants filed a motion to stay or dismigsattion. Briefing on the motion to stay or dism&engoing and is scheduled to continue
through April 17, 2015.

The derivative actions include claims for, amongeothings, unspecified damages in favor of the @amy, certain corporate actions to
purportedly improve the Company’s corporate goveceaand an award of costs and expenses to theategi plaintiffs, including attorneys’
fees. We believe that the plaintiffs in the derivatactions lack standing to pursue litigation @half of Zynga.

Because the actions described above are in thestages of the litigation process, we are notposition to assess whether any loss or
adverse effect on our financial condition is prdbady remote or to estimate the range of potetui, if any.

On March 16, 2012, Spear & Sons Limited (“Speait&df suit against the Company and Zynga UK Limibedore the Paris Civil Court
( Tribunal de Grande Instange claiming that the Company’s Words with Friendsng infringed Speas’copyright and trademark in relatior
its Scrabble game, as well as committed acts oheeroial poaching. Spear sought damages and arctigarbarring the Company from
offering the Words with Friends game for sale iarkere. On May 30, 2012, the Company entered an egpEin the action and challenged
court’s jurisdiction to hear the alleged claimseTdourt ruled that it would consider whether it isdiction to hear the claims before
considering any substantive claims. On Octobe2012, the court ruled that it did have jurisdicttorhear the claims. On October 31, 2012,
the Company filed a notice of appeal regardingdhee of jurisdiction, and the court stayed thedowourt action pending the appeal. On
October 18, 2013, the appellate court affirmeddieer court’'s denial of the Company’s jurisdictibchallenge. On March 7, 2014, the
Company filed a further appeal regarding jurisictio the French supreme court. The Company expectaling from the supreme court on
this issue in mid to late 2015.

The lower court ordered that the case proceed @mgrits notwithstanding the pending appeal. Thegzaproceeded with briefing their
respective positions. On October 9, 2014, Spezad fin additional brief requesting that the Frermlrtogrant a European Union-wide
injunction barring Zynga from offering the Words #WFriends game and the tile used in the game.rSitedits final brief on October 16,
2014, which included a demand for damages in theuaitnof EUR 650,000 and reimbursement of attornfses in the amount of EUR
250,000. The Company filed its final brief on OaoR1, 2014, which included a rebuttal to Speag\s nequest for a European Union-wide
injunction. Oral arguments on the merits of thegdld claims were heard on November 5, 2014. The rwlicated it would issue a ruling on
January 15, 2015.
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In December 2014, prior to the court’s ruling, @@mpany reached a settlement with Spear and it that resolved the legal
proceedings.

The Company is also party to various other legatpedings and claims which arise in the ordinaty® of business. In addition, we
may receive notifications alleging infringementpaitent or other intellectual property rights. Adseeresults in any such litigation, legal
proceedings or claims may include awards of sukistanonetary damages, costly royalty or licensiggeements, or orders preventing us {
offering certain games, features, or services,maag also result in changes in our business pragtigkich could result in additional costs or a
loss of revenue for us and could otherwise harmbosiness. Although the results of such litigattannot be predicted with certainty, we
believe that the amount or range of reasonablyilplesi®sses related to such pending or threateitigdtlon will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results, castsflor financial condition should such litigatioa kesolved unfavorably. We recognize legal
expenses as incurred.

13. Geographical Information
The following represents our revenue based ondagmphic location of our players (in thousands):

Revenue Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
United States $426,90¢ $519,81¢ $ 757,29¢
All other countries®) 263,50« 353,44 523,96¢
Total revenue $690,41( $873,26t $1,281,26

@ No country exceeded 10% of our total revenue fgrmariods presente

The following represents our property and equipmeet by location (in thousands):

Property and equipment, net Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
United States $294,70¢  $345,59¢  $459,90¢
All other countries 3,211 3,19¢ 6,16¢
Total property and equipment, t $297,91¢ $348,79.  $466,07:
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleeécutive officer and chief financial officer, éwated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of the ettloegberiod covered by this Annual Report on Fof¥K1 The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and1B§d} under the Exchange Act, means controls dmer grocedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported viftbitime periods specified in the Securities BrRchange Commission (the “SEC”) rules
and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures dglwithout limitation, controls and proceduresiglesd to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by a company in the reports tHdes or submits under the Exchange Act is accaeal and communicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive aridgipal financial officers, as appropriate to alltimely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Based on the evaluation of our disesontrols and procedures as of December 31, 20t4hief executive officer and chief
financial officer concluded that, as of such date, disclosure controls and procedures were effecti the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our management conduatedvaluation of the effectiveness of our integwaltrol over financial reporting based
on the framework itnternal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway
Commission (2013 Framework). Based on this evalnatnanagement concluded that our internal cootret financial reporting was effecti
as of December 31, 2014. Management reviewed Hudtseof its assessment with our Audit Committdee €ffectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of December&114 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, aefmehdent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in its report which is includedtim 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We acquired NaturalMotion, Inc. in February 2014l as permitted by SEC guidance, we excluded thisydrom our assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over finaheeporting as of December 31, 2014. Revenue aatgativith this entity was less than 4% of
consolidated revenue for the period from Febru&ry2014 to December 31, 2014. Total and net as$&taturalMotion are less than 2% of
consolidated total and net assets as of Decembh&034.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting identified in management’s exalon pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d)
or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the quagteted December 31, 2014 that materially affeciedre reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repaodgi

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedres

In designing and evaluating the disclosure contald procedures, management recognizes that atylsoand procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide ordgarable assurance of achieving the desired catijettives. In addition, the design of
disclosure controls and procedures must reflectabiethat there are resource constraints andwhatgement is required to apply judgment in
evaluating the benefits of possible controls aratedures relative to their costs.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorpaaby reference to Zynga's Proxy Statement fa2s5 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12@slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decer@bep014.

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Basi@®nduct and Ethics applicable to all officersealors and employees, which is
available on our website ( www.zynga.cpmnder “Corporate Governance.” We will provideaggpy of these documents to any person, withou
charge, upon request, by writing to us at Zynga, linwestor Relations Department, 699 Eighth Stigah Francisco, California 94103. We
intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement urigen 5.05 of Form 8 regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a jgion of our Code ¢
Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such infoaman our website at the address and the locapecified above.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorpeaby reference to Zynga's Proxy Statement fa2@%5 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decer&bep014.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorpaaby reference to Zynga's Proxy Statement fa2s5 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12@slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerabep014.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to Zynga's Proxy Statement fa2@%5 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12§slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decer&bep014.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorpedby reference to Zynga's Proxy Statement fa2@%5 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be filed with the SEC within 12@slafter the end of the fiscal year ended Decerabep014.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

We have filed the following documents as part @ #innual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Consolidated Financial Stateme

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing
Consolidated Balance She

Consolidated Statements of Operati

Consolidated Statements Comprehensive Inc
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity (Deficit)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem

2. Financial Statement Schedu

Schedule II: Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Balance at
Beginning o
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Sales Cre Year
Year Ended December 31, 2014 $ —
Year Ended December 31, 20 $ 16C
Year Ended December 31, 20 $ 163

Charged to
Expenses/

Against Revent

Write-Offs

Net of

Recoverie

$
$
$

(160)
(©)

Page Nc

74

75

76

77

78

79

80

Balance at

End of Yea
$ —
$ J—

$ 16C

All other schedules have been omitted becauseategot required, not applicable, or the requirddrmation is otherwise included.

3. Exhibits

See the Exhibit Index immediately following thersgure page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

111



Table of Contents

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits.

Exhibit

No. Description of Exhibit

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation o
Zynga Inc.

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Zynga

4.1 Form of Zynga Inc. Class A Common Stock Certific

10.1 Fifth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreé¢men
by and between Zynga Inc., the investors listed on
Schedule A thereto and Mark Pincus, dated
February 18, 201

10.2+ Zynga Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Pl

10.3+ Forms of Stock Option Agreement and Stock Option
Exercise Agreement under 2007 Equity Incentive |

10.4+ Forms of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award and
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2007 Equity
Incentive Plar

10.5+ Zynga Inc. 2011 Equity Incentive Pl

10.6+ Forms of Stock Option Grant Notice and Option
Agreement under 2011 Equity Incentive P

10.7+ Forms of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under 2011 Equity
Incentive Plar

10.8+ Form of 2011 Equity Incentive Plan Performance Cash
Award Agreemen

10.9+ Zynga Inc. 2011 Employee Stock Purchase |

10.10+ Form of Indemnification Agreement made by and
between Zynga Inc. and each of its directors and
executive officer:

10.11+ Zynga Inc. No-Employee Director Compensation Pol

10.12+ Zynga Inc. Change in Control Severance Benefit
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Filed

Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
S-1/A 333-17529¢ 3.2 11/17/201
S-1/A 33E-17529¢ 34 11/17/201
S-1/A 33E-17529¢ 4.1 11/4/201.
S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.1 8/11/201.:
S-1/A 33E-17529¢ 10.Z 12/2/201.
S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.: 11/17/201
S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.2¢ 11/17/201
S-1/A 335-17529¢ 10.4 11/17/201
S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.t 11/17/201

10Q 3333537¢ 10.: 5/8/201:

8-K 001-3537¢ 10.1 4/4/201:
S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.2C 12/2/201:
S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.€ 11/17/201

16-Q 001-3537¢ 10.1 11/6/201:
S-1/A 33E-17529¢ 10.2: 11/17/201
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed
No. Description of Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10.13+ Offer Letter between Zynga Inc. and Don A. Mattrick 8-K 001-3537¢ 10.1 7/3/201:
dated June 30, 20:

10.14+ Amended and Restated Offer Letter, between Zynga In  S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.1C 11/17/201
and Mark Pincus, dated November 16, 2

10.15+ Amended and Restated Offer Letter, between Zynga In  S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.2¢ 11/17/201
and Mark Vranesh, dated October 25, 2

10.16+ Offer Letter between Zynga Inc. and Clive Downiatet 10K 001-3537¢ 10.1¢ 2/21/201.
October 21, 201

10.17+ Offer letter between Zynga Inc. and Devang Shatedla 10K 001-3537¢ 10.15 2/21/201:
December 4, 201

10.18+ Offer letter between Zynga Inc. and David Lee, date 8-K 001-3537¢ 10.1 4/10/201:
April 7, 2014

10.191 Developer addendum by and between Facebook, Idc. an S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.1¢ 11/17/201;
Zynga Inc, dated May 14, 2010 and Amendment No.1 to
Developer Addendum, dated October 13, 2

10.20% Amendment No. 2 to Developer Addendum by and 10Q 001-3537¢ 10.1 7/30/201:
between Facebook, Inc. and Zynga Inc., dated A&l
2012

10.214 Amendment No. 3 to Developer Addendum by and 10K 001-3537¢ 10.3(C 02/25/201.
between Facebook, Inc., Facebook Ireland Limited,
Zynga Inc., Zynga Game Ireland Limited and Zynga
Luxembourg S.ar.L, dated November 28, 2

10.22% Developer Addendum No. 2 by and between Facebook, S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.1¢ 11/4/201:
Inc., Facebook Ireland Limited and Zynga Inc., date
December 26, 201

10.23% Amendment No. 1 to Developer Addendum No. 2 by and 10-Q 001-3537¢ 10.z 7/30/201.

between Facebook, Inc., Facebook Ireland Limitedl an
Zynga Inc., dated June 12, 2C
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Exhibit Filed
No. Description of Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.241 Amendment No. 2 to Developer Addendum No. 2 by 10Q 001-3537¢ 10.2 7/30/201.
and between Facebook, Inc., Facebook Ireland Limite
and Zynga Inc., dated July 2, 20
10.254 Amendment No. 3 to Developer Addendum No. 2 by 10K 001-3537¢ 10.3¢ 02/25/201.
and between Facebook, Inc., Facebook Ireland Limite
Zynga Inc. and Zynga Game Ireland Limited, dated
November 28, 201
10.26 Warrant to Purchase Class B Common Stock, datet S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.1¢ 7/18/201:
31, 2009, issued to Allen & Company LL
10.27 Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, 8-K 001-3537¢ 10.1 6/24/201.
dated as of July 21, 2011 and amended and restated
of June 20, 2013, among Zynga Inc., as Borrower, th
Lenders party thereto and Morgan Stanley Senior
Funding, Inc., as Administrative Age
10.28 Office Lease by and between Chip Factory Commercial S-1/A 333-17529¢ 10.2: 8/11/201.:
LLC and Zynga Inc., dated January 2008; Amendment
to Lease, dated November 1, 2008; and Amendment to
Lease, dated February 1, 2C
10.29 2013 Compensation Information for Executive Offi 8-K 001-3537¢ 4/4/201:
211 List of subsidiarie! X
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting X
Firm
24.1 Power of Attorney (included in signature pa X
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Zga X
Inc. pursuant to rule 13a-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of Zga X

Inc. pursuant to rule 13a-14 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 193
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit File Filing Filed
No. Description of Exhibit Form No. Exhibit Date Herewith
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer X

and Chief Financial Officer of Zynga Inc.
pursuant to18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbaDatey

Act of 2002

101.INS*(1) XBRL Instance Documet

101.SCH*(1 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document

101.CAL*(1) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
Linkbase Documer

101.DEF*(1) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Documer

101.LAB*(1) XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase
Document

101.PRE*(1 XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

Linkbase Documer

+  Indicates management contract or compensatory

Confidential treatment has been granted for cem&rmation contained in this exhibit. Such infration has been omitted and was filed

separately with the Securities and Exchange Conimnis

# Confidential treatment has been requested faaiceinformation contained in this exhibit. Sucfoinmation has been omitted and will be
provided separately to the Securities and Exch&@agemission

. The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 accamyghis Annual Report on Form 10-K pursuant to 18.Q. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062, and shall not be deemed “fildnly the Registrant for purposes of Section 1
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amer

(1) Pursuant to applicable securities laws andlegigus, the Registrant is deemed to have compligii the reporting obligation relating to
the submission of interactive data files in suchileixs and is not subject to liability under anytidraud provisions of the federal
securities laws as long as the Registrant has maded faith attempt to comply with the submissiequirements and promptly amends
the interactive data files after becoming awar¢ titva interactive data files fails to comply witletsubmission requirements. These
interactive data files are deemed not filed or p&# registration statement or prospectus for sep of Sections 11 or 12 of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemefiledfor purposes of Section 18 of the Securifi@shange Act of 1934, as amended,
and otherwise are not subject to liability underseh section:

—+
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalfi®/undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on Fep2rg, 2015.

Z YNGA | NC.

By: /s/ David Lee
David Lee

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting
Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgpavid Lee an
Devang Shah, and each of them, as his true andllattbrneys-in-fact and agents, with full powersabstitution and resubstitution, for him
and in his name, place, and stead, in any an@pédities, to sign any and all amendments to thisual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the
same, with all exhibits thereto, and other docusi@ntonnection therewith, with the Securities &xdhange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of therhpéwer and authority to do and perform each aretyesct and thing requisite and necessary
to be done in connection therewith, as fully toitiénts and purposes as he might or could dorisope hereby ratifying and confirming that
said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of thethair or his substitute or substitutes, may ldlyfdo or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10ds been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title. Date
/s/ Mark Pincus Chairman of the Board February 24, 2015
Mark Pincus
/s/ Don A. Mattrick Chief Executive Officer and Direct@Principal February 24, 2015
Don A. Mattrick Executive Officer
/s/ David Lee Chief Financial OfficefPrincipal Financial and February 24, 2015
David Lee Accounting Officer
/s/ John Doerr Director February 24, 2015
John Doer
/s/ Regina E. Dugan Director February 24, 2015
Regina E. Duga
/s/ William “Bing” Gordon Director February 24, 2015
William “Bing” Gordon
/sl Stanley J. Meresman Director February 24, 2015
Stanley J. Meresme
/s/ Sunil Paul Director February 24, 2015
Sunil Paul
/sl Ellen F. Siminoff Director February 24, 2015

Ellen F. Siminofi
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SUBSIDIARIES OF ZYNGA INC.

Spooky Cool Labs LLC (Delaware)

650 Townsend Systems LLC (California)

Big Dog Holdings LLC (California)

Zynga Gaming LLC (Delaware)

XPD Media Inc. (Cayman)

Zynga China (Beijing) Co. Ltd. (China)

Zynga Game Canada Ltd. (Canada)

Zynga Game Holdings Limited (Ireland)

Zynga Game International Limited (Jersey)
Zynga Game Ireland Limited (Ireland)

Zynga Game Network India Private Limited (India)
Zynga Germany GmbH (Germany)

Zynga Luxembourg S.ar.l. (Luxembourg)
Zynga U.K. Limited (United Kingdom)
NaturalMotion Limited (United Kingdomr
NaturalMotion Games Limited (United Kingdot
NaturalMotion Software Limited (United Kingdor

NaturalMotion Inc. (Delaware

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdllewing Registration Statements:

1)
(@)

3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Registration Statement (Forn-3ASR No. 33-193889) of Zynga Inc

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-199988taining to the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan @0d1 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
of Zynga Inc.,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-193%&4taining to the Zynga Inc. 2011 Equity InceatRlan (as successor to the
NaturalMotion Limited Option Plan and the Naturalfido Limited Enterprise Management Incentive Schkg!

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1882@2taining to the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan @0d1 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
of Zynga Inc.,

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1834@6taining to the 2011 Equity Incentive Plan @3d1 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
of Zynga Inc., ant

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-178%28taining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, P&quity Incentive Plan and 2011
Employee Stock Purchase Plan of Zynga |

of our reports dated February 24, 2015, with ressfmethe consolidated financial statements anddulleeof Zynga Inc. and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of Zyntye. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K)&fnga Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

San Francisco, CA
February 24, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

[, Don A. Mattrick, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Zynga Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15a})18h0d internal control over financial reportiag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isg prepared

Designed such internal control over financiplorting, or cause such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting princig

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):
a.

b.

All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 24, 2015

/s/ Don. A Mattrick

Don A. Mattrick

Chief Executive Officer and Directt
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, David Lee, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Zynga Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a—15(e) and 15a})18h0d internal control over financial reportiag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isg prepared

Designed such internal control over financiplorting, or cause such internal control over finaheporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting princig

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on
such evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldlave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):
a.

b.

All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrigistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 24, 2015

/s/ David Lee

David Lee

Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial anc
Accounting Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated, (the “Exchange Act”) and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Udi&tates Code (18 U.S.C. §1350), Don A. Mattridkie€Executive Officer of Zynga Inc.
(the “Company”), and David Lee, Chief Financial iogr of the Company, each hereby certifies thathéobest of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K forykar ended December 31, 2014 (the “Periodic R8pdutly complies with th
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dheffExchange Act; ar

2.  The information contained in the Periodic Refaifly presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of
operations of the Compar

In Witness Whereof, the undersigned have set tagids hereto as of the 24th day of February, 2015.

/s/ Don A. Mattrick /s/ David Lee
Don A. Mattrick David Lee
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Officer an

Chief Accounting Office

“This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q/Antiich it relates, is not deemed filed with the S@ms and Exchange Commission and is
not to be incorporated by reference into any filrigZynga Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933aagended, or the Securities Exchange Au
1934, as amended (whether made before or aftefatecof the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any gen@@rporation language contained in
such filing”



